
City of Swartz Creek 
AGENDA 

Regular Council Meeting, Monday, December 7, 2015, 7:00 P.M. 
City Hall Building, 8083 Civic Drive Swartz Creek, Michigan 48473 

1. CALL TO ORDER:

2. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:

3. ROLL CALL:

4. MOTION TO APPROVE MINUTES:
4A. Council Meeting of November 23, 2015 MOTION Pg. 24 

5. APPROVE AGENDA:
5A. Proposed / Amended Agenda MOTION Pg. 1 

6. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS:
6A. City Manager’s Report MOTION 
6B. 2015 Audit (Business Item) 
6C. DDA Development and TIF Plan (Business Item)  

Pg.     2 
Sent Separately 
Pg.     29 

6D. Comcast Notice  
6E. Consumers Energy Notice 
6E. Tax Reverted Property Disposition Statement (Business Item)  
6F. Monthly Reports (Building, Rev/Exp, DPW Report & Check Register) 
6G. FANG Dues (Business Item)  
6H. Genesee County Park Plan Opt-In Request (Business Item) 

Pg. 115 
Pg. 117 
Pg. 119 
Pg. 121 
Pg. 144 
Pg.    145

7. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:
7A. General Public Comments

8. COUNCIL BUSINESS:
8A. Audit Presentation RESO Pg. 15 
8B. DDA Boundary Amendment Ord # 425 RESO Pg. 16 
8C. DDA Development and TIF Plan Amendment Ord # 426-Public Hearing RESO Pg. 17 
8D. Tax Foreclosed Property Disposition RESO Pg. 22 
8E. FANG Dues  RESO Pg. 22 
8F. Genesee County Park Plan Opt-In RESO Pg. 23 

10. MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC:

11. REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS:

12. ADJOURNMENT: MOTION 

City Council Packet 1 December 7, 2015



 
City of Swartz Creek 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
Regular Council Meeting of Monday, December 7, 2015 - 7:00 P.M. 

 

TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members 
FROM: Adam Zettel, City Manager 
DATE:   December 2, 2015 
 
ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS 

 
 OUTSTANDING APPEALS (No Change of Status) 

The two notable appeals are the raceway and the golf course. Both of these facilities 
had appeals filed in 2014, and both of them were ultimately withdrawn. Due to the 
uniqueness of these facilities and the value of the appealed amount, the city chose to 
allocate funds to challenge these appeals and perform necessary appraisals. This will 
likely be the case again. However, there is still time to work with so consider this an 
informational update only. 
 
Once the assessor reviews all cases and we have more time to communicate with 
owners, we will be in a better position to know which appeals should be opposed, 
negotiated, or accepted.  There does not appear to be any imminent movement to 
reuse the racetrack. 
 

 STREETS (See Individual Category) 
 
 MORRISH AND BRISTOL SIGNAL (Update) 

Tom and I met with the Genesee County Road Commission regarding this matter. 
As it happens, the intersection merits a signal and the county appears willing to 
participate in supporting 75% of the cost of a basic signal (three of the four 
approaches are controlled and maintained by the GCRC). A single-span signal with 
two heads would run about $60,000 and could be installed extremely fast. We don’t 
expect any pedestrian signals or dedicated left turns to complicate the matter. This 
would leave the city’s share at $15,000. 
 
The development agreement with Meijer requires Meijer to allocate up to $80,000 
towards a signal when warrants are met. This means that we can quickly place the 
span signal and send Meijer an invoice for our share to take care of this problem. 
However, there are other options. The city could look to upgrade the signal to a 
mast arm, such as that at Fairchild, but the cost for the upgrade would have to be 
borne entirely by the city/Meijer. The increase would be about $100,000, requiring 
about $45,000 from the city to do so.  
 
Our plan is to grab the low hanging fruit and have the span installed, with Meijer 
paying the city’s share. This is the safest and cheapest approach considering time 
factors. Our intention would then be to cooperate with the county to upgrade the 
signal with a safety grant in 2018, using the additional $65,000 from Meijer to match 
the mast arm upgrade. I will make inquires with Meijer’s front office on the matter. 

City Council Packet 2 December 7, 2015



We will also await a formal cost sharing proposal from the road commission to look 
at firm costs and timelines.  
 

 2017-2020 TRAFFIC IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM (TIP) APPLICATIONS (Update) 
There is one update to the TIP submission. The county requested that the city 
downgrade Worchester, Fairchild, and Cappy to rehabilitation projects instead of 
reconstruction. This MAY keep them TIP eligible, whereas they would otherwise not 
be very competitive. We have adjusted accordingly.  The tradeoff is a much better 
chance for funding at a much lower funding amount. The city could still choose to 
reconstruct these segments, but the TIP would only support 80% of the 
rehabilitation cost instead of the reconstruction cost. 
 
The previous update is as follows, with anticipated costs: 
 
Mr. Doyle submitted the applications for the TIP.  He said we were the first ones to 
do so. The applications, with updated costs, include: 

 
Note that Seymour Road is a tricky one to apply for. The road consists of two lanes, 
technically. This is a result of the eligibility of use for federal street funds. The TIP 
program does not pay for on street parking, making about 25% of the surface area 
non-participating. This means that the city had to make a tough decision in 2007. 
The city either needed to pay more (much more) to keep on street parking, or the 
city needed to eliminate on street parking. The city chose to do the latter. However, 
the community desired to retain a space for emergency or special purpose parking 
on Seymour, eliminating the option to stripe the road for bike lanes and create 
narrower lanes.  The result is that we have one 12 foot lane and one 20 foot lane 
that can sometimes be allocated towards parking. However, the parking has 
technically been eliminated, resulting in some wasted space.  
 
The engineer asked whether the city is open to considering a “complete street” 
concept in which the road would be two lanes, with bike lanes. The latter results in a 
higher score for the prioritizing of repair and use of federal funds. Obviously, staff 
cannot make a firm commitment, and we do not have time to bounce this off 
residents on Seymour Road.  
 

Road 
Point of 

Beginning 
Point of 

End 
Length 

(Miles)* Lanes 
Lane 
Feet 

Width 
(Feet) ADT Total Cost 

Federal 
Match 

Local 
Match 

Miller Road Morrish 
NB 
Seymour 1 4 21120 48 13444 $1,507,272 $1,205,818 $301,454 

Cappy Lane Fairchild Worchester 0.36 2 3801.6 28 1085 $443,161 $354,529 $88,632 
Worchester Cappy Winston 0.1 2 1056 28 691 $172,474 $137,979 $34,495 
Fairchild Cappy Miller 0.28 2 2956.8 44 2456 $305,104 $244,084 $61,021 

Seymour 
S City 
Limit Chesterfield 0.8 2 8448 36 2675 $534,364 $427,491 $106,873 

       

Cost 
Totals: $2,962,375 $2,369,900 $592,475 

           *Miller is a four lane to three lane w/two bike lane conversion 
     

City Council Packet 3 December 7, 2015



So the city council is aware, I directed the engineer to apply for the TIP with the 
assumption that the city WILL add bike lanes to streets that can accommodate such 
lanes in lieu of parking. This does not mean that we must do so. What it offers is a 
greater chance to qualify for funds between 2017 and 2020. If the road does qualify, 
the city should immediately determine if a change of status from complete street to 
two lanes only will still qualify. Based upon the outcome, a hearing with the affected 
residents can be held to choose a course of action: fix the street with bike lanes, 
refuse bike lanes and don’t fix the street, or (if the planning organization permits it) 
fix the street without bike lanes.  
 
Again, the final decision is still down the road and should entail public input. The 
decision to go with bike lanes on design initially will not impact costs appreciably, 
but it will objectively increase our chances to fix the road. 
 

 MORRISH ROAD CLASSIFICATION-BRIDGE CAPACITY (No Change of Status) 
Morrish Road has been submitted for classification as a “minor arterial” from a 
“major collector”.  The MDOT approved the change. Now we await review by the 
Federal Highway Administration sometime this calendar year. 
 

 MILLER ROAD RESURFACING PROJECT (No Change of Status) 
The city now has a report/change order on the estimated costs for this project, and 
the news is good.  It appears that the savings sought by the city were realized, with 
a reduction of $121,355.39. Note that this is not savings under the resolution. This 
reflects savings under the bid amount of $1,918,020.56. Since this was beyond our 
original estimate, the savings were desired to match budgeted amounts. In short, 
we are right on target.  
 
Also, the noted weeds on Miller have been sprayed, cut, and hydro seeded.  
 

 SIGNAL PHASING STUDY FOR MILLER AND MORRISH (No Change of Status) 
OHM has completed their traffic counts at the intersection. This was completed after 
the Elms Road and Hill Road intersection reopened, during a school/business day.  
We await their findings. 
 

 DARK SIGNAL POLICY (Update) 
This policy is in effect and has been covered in the Swartz Creek View. 
 

 20 YEAR STREET PLAN – ROAD FUNDING (Update) 
We will schedule time during the meeting on December 14th to discuss this matter. 
The most recent report is as follows: 
 
Governor Snyder has signed legislation that will support ~$1.2 billion in road 
funding. I have included a statement from the Michigan Department of 
Transportation that estimates additional funds for Swartz Creek.  
 
In short, this legislation will provide more funding to our town (up to ~$250,000 more 
each year when fully implemented). However, the bump over the current state 
general fund allocation of $400 million will not appreciably impact us until after 2017, 
with full implementation not due for another six years (2021). 

City Council Packet 4 December 7, 2015



 
One potential problem is that $600 million of the revenue will come from the state 
general fund, with the expectation that this will result in reduced school and city 
revenue sharing compared to what would otherwise be available. This could 
figuratively result in the left hand giving what the right hand is taking for a large 
portion of these funds.  
 
Be that as it may, now that the projected revenues are estimated, the city should 
move forward with a plan to fund all or a portion of the revenue gap that still exists. 
Unfortunately, this gap will be bigger than expected.  The $250,000 in additional 
road funds certainly takes a bite out of the $825,000 annual need that is noted in the 
20 year street plan. However, despite the $684,000* contribution to the state from 
the Swartz Creek community based upon a per-capita estimate of $120/person, we 
still need to come up with an additional $575,000 each year to fund the existing 
plan.  
 
We do have options though. Based upon the improving condition of the major 
streets, we can look to allocate some portion of Act 51 dollars currently received to 
the local street fund from the major street fund. This used to be done in past years 
but was abandoned in an effort to leverage more federal funds. A $50,000 allocation 
each year would not be unreasonable. Furthermore, the general fund may be able 
to continue contributions to the local street fund if circumstances permit such.  
Under the right circumstances, we may be able to get the unfunded portion down to 
about $425,000 a year, roughly half of what the levy requested prior to the state 
plan.  As discussed previously, revenues can come from any combination of 
assessments, a levy, and a re-apportionment of existing/new state revenues.   
 
Opinions on how we move forward should be brought forth so we can begin forming 
an action plan for 2016.  According to the state, the county would need to receive 
ballot language for any May 3, 2016 initiate by February 9, 2016. 
 
*This amount would reflect what our city collectively contributes towards the $1.2 
billion road fund as estimated with a basic extrapolation, assuming uniform 
contributions across the state in terms of income tax, sales tax, registration, and gas 
tax.  
 

 2015 STREET BIDS-SCRAP TIRE GRANT (No Change of Status) 
Engineering is nearly complete for the intersections of Winston and Miller (including 
water main), as well as Fairchild and Miller.  A bid add-on for additional water main 
is expected for Winston due to noted pipe weaknesses as a result of breaks. The 
city council will be able to assess this change once bids are received. We expect 
this work to be done after school releases in 2016. 
 

 WATER – SEWER ISSUES PENDING (See Individual Category) 
 SEWER REHABILITATION PROGRAM (Update) 

Liqui-Force has just completed the 2015 projects in the Village. We did not 
encounter any major issues or change orders. Tom will await a final debriefing 
before final billing. If all goes well, we will look to begin the next phase of televising 
very soon.  

City Council Packet 5 December 7, 2015



 
 KWA (No Change of Status) 

For the most part, the KWA is still ahead of schedule and under budget. The most 
recent estimates place the authority in operation by the end of 2016 on a limited 
basis, serving Flint. It is expected to be serving all authority customers by fall of 
2017.   The treatment facility is under construction as we speak and the pipeline 
work is nearly complete. 
 

 STORM SEWER (No Change of Status) 
The county agreement has been approved and awaits a master signature page for 
all participating communities.  According to the most recent report, there is one 
more community that still needs to approve it.  
 

 WATER LOSS (No Change of Status) 
Johnson Controls has taken a look at our water loss. By both their reckoning and 
ours, the numbers are improving. The last few quarters are in our favor, but water 
loss needs to be accounted for over at least a year to capture a larger sample of 
breaks, hydrant flushing, and four season use. As noted in Johnson Controls report, 
water loss is standing at about 16%. Given our industry standard target of 10%, they 
feel there is not enough justification to engage in system-wide meter replacement or 
to otherwise engage them for related services.  
 
We have also been working with Genesee County to test and upgrade master 
meters coming into and leaving the city. The County has also agreed to audit their 
billing records to ensure that water metered as leaving our system is accurately 
recorded and billed. Combined with some recent meter upgrades at one of our 
larger school facilities and apartment complexes, we are hoping to see further 
reductions.  
 
Again, we were initially searching for the silver bullet solution to our water loss 
problem, such as a defective master meter. However, as time moves on, we are 
discovering that the water loss is more representative of “death by a thousand paper 
cuts.” Our solution? One thousand Band-Aids. We will keep working on the system 
one meter, one register, and one leaky valve at a time. 
 

 PERSONNEL:  POLICIES & PROCEDURES (Update) 
The policy has been approved by the city council. We will distribute and engage 
recipients of the policy over the next month.  

 
 SHARED SERVICES, POLICE DEPARTMENTS (Update) 

The interlocal agreement has been executed and filed, with a tentative orientation 
meeting set for the authority for 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, December 9, 2015.  The 
meeting will be held at the Mundy Township Police Department, 4029 W Grand Blanc 
Rd, Swartz Creek, MI 48473. 
 
In the meantime, the staff of both police departments have not been idle. Joint staff 
meetings have been held and plans are in the works to begin creating working drafts of 
necessary documents, including: 
 

City Council Packet 6 December 7, 2015



Operating procedures 
Purchasing policy 
LEIN policy 
911 Consortium agreements 
Personnel policy 

 
Furthermore, the officers of both departments have been working with MERC (Michigan 
Employment Relations Commission) to select a union to represent them in future 
negotiations with the authority. This is a crucial step that, once complete, will enable the 
creation of a draft collective bargaining agreement. It is this agreement that will provide 
the most crucial labor cost inputs necessary for the budget.  
 
I will be working with the department to develop a public engagement plan to consider 
these changes, as well as a timeline.  
 

 SPRINGBROOK EAST & HERITAGE VACANT LOTS (Update) 
Concerning the bond, it appears the agents will only extend coverage for one year. I 
have looked into this and it is probably the best we can do. The original report follows: 
 
Paving of the streets has been completed. However, the contractor completed some of 
the work without notifying the engineer that they were onsite. Though we have collected 
written statements and asphalt acquisition tickets from the contractor, the city was 
never able to determine all work was completed properly. We are working with the 
developer and contractor to secure bonds and/or warranties sufficient to cover the 
work. If we cannot secure these, the city shall be under no obligation to accept these 
sections of street as public. 
 
We are also working on ensuring proper improvements throughout the rest of the 
current phase of Springbrook East in accordance with our escrow agreement with 
Woodside.  To that end, we have an action plan derived from walk-through of 
Springbrook East phases 1A and 1B. Included in the inspection was myself, Mr. 
Svrcek, Mr. Fluery, Mr. David Nemer, and Mr. Ballreich (Springbrook East Home 
Owners Association).  
 
Our intention was to ensure that improvements required of the developer are made so 
that the existing escrow can fulfill its purpose and be closed out. Such improvements 
would include elements planned for public dedication and common area elements not 
related to any future unit installation (unit specific walkways, trees, etc.). 
 
Based upon our site inspection today, the following was noted: 
 
1. Backfill/seeding is needed behind the curbs on Russel Drive and Linsey Drive in 

areas not planned for the assisted living and/or future unit construction, to be 
provided by Woodside 

2. Sidewalks are needed in front of the four-plex 
3. Sidewalks are needed to connect the eastern most unit on the south side of 

Lindsey to the road, in the vicinity of the pond 
4. Sidewalks east of the pond (south side), connecting to Kroger, are NOT required 

(agreed upon by Mr. Svrcek, Mr. Zettel, Mr. David Nemer, and Mr. Ballreich) 

City Council Packet 7 December 7, 2015



5. Woodside is going to make arrangements to have decorative street lighting 
installed through the existing phases 

6. Sidewalks in front of new/under construction units shall be completed by mid-2016; 
the escrow can be used to enable this 

7. A bond is still required for the top coat in Phase 1B (five year, $15,000), Delta is 
expected to provide this, Mr. Fluery affirmed that their CE requested notification 
from Delta prior to the top coat installation, and this never occurred) 

8. The hydrant at the current dead end of Lindsey is to be raised by Woodside 
 
Eight of the twelve lots in Springbrook East have sold. The association has already 
been reimbursed for these sales. I expect the other four to sell by early summer of 
2016, putting this totally in our rearview mirror. 
 
The city still owns four lots in Heritage Village. We have no plan for these at this time. 
Perhaps an auction of these lots is in order. In this case, I am not sure if there was an 
intention to share additional revenues with the association or not. The city sold one lot 
in 2014 “at cost.” Purchase agreements with other buyers fell through.  
 

 MEIJER COMMUNITY DONATION (No Change of Status) 
I have contacted Meijer, and they definitely wish to have a public event to 
commemorate their contribution to the community.  This is overdue. If any council 
members have ideas with commemorating their contribution towards the Fortino 
Sidewalk, now would be the time to bring them up.   

 
 WINCHESTER WOODS LOTS (Update) 

The planning commission considered this issue as a component of the current master 
plan amendment.  Their initial recommendation is to make the area conducive on the 
construction of single family homes in accordance with the original plat. To do so will 
require engineered drainage, a section of new sanitary sewer, and some fill/grading to 
the roads. Future deliberation of the planning commission and city council will 
determine whether or not this course is followed.  
 
Obviously, the biggest concern is funding of the improvements. Public workshops are 
recommended to gauge owner interest in participating and to what degree 
improvements should be done and assessed. Note that the city’s lots in this area could 
be used for storm water storage and/or sales to recoup costs.  
 

 NEWSLETTER (No Change of Status) 
Councilmembers should have a copy. Let me know what you think. 
 

 MEDICAL MARIJUANA MORATORIUM (No Change of Status) 
The moratorium is in place for another 180 days. We will continue to observe 
developments in the state legislature.  
 

 PARKING ORDINANCE (Update) 
This is pending final review by the city attorney. 
 

 K9 UNIT (Update) 

City Council Packet 8 December 7, 2015



Rosco’s official training is complete, though he now enters the workforce on 
“probation.” We will look to recognize and retire Ike at our regular meeting on 
December 14th.  
 

 CAPPY LANE LIFT STATION (Update) 
Rowe Professional Services Company has been working the design and bidding for the 
lift station. They expect to have a bid opening in mid-January.  At this point, the scope 
of the bid has changed, with some additional features being proposed.  These features, 
the procurement and installation of which will be subject to approval by the city council, 
include a generator, potential chopper pumps (for large debris), and an upgraded 
protective casing for the control panel.  
 
In addition, the engineer recommends salvaging two of the existing pumps for current 
and future usage as high-flow/emergency pumps.  These changes, with contingency, 
are expected to bring the total construction cost to about $300,000. The result will be a 
much more reliable system with two separate pumping facilities and two separate 
power sources.  
 
In addition to the generator, which I recommend the city acquire in any case, Tom is 
working with Consumers to feed the site from a different power district, providing 
additional redundancy in the system.  
 

 SUNOCO (Update) 
As expected, owning an abandoned gas station is not fun. I am working with the author 
of our Baseline Environmental Assessment to contact Exxon. However, they are not 
playing ball so we may need to engage our attorney to move things along. We desire to 
have them do as much as they can to clean up the site from a practical standpoint. We 
have the ability to make this easy on them if they play ball. For example, the city could 
pass an underground water use ordinance for the affected area that would make it 
easier to “close” the site in the eyes of the state. If the city were to begin crafting such 
an ordinance, I suspect the council would want to see the tanks and affected soil 
removed first. I am working with Mike Smith to establish contacts. 
 
In other news, the city registered the three underground tanks and one fuel oil tank 
onsite. This will need to occur yearly at a cost of $100 per tank.  Pending some 
additional findings, we may also need to pump down some rainwater that got into the 
tanks. The state allows only an inch or less of “liquid” in temporarily out-of-service 
tanks. We may have 2-3 inches in one tank.  
 
Lastly, I think everyone anticipated demolition of the building. I will take it a step further 
and suggest that everyone DESIRES the demolition of the building at this point. Tom 
informs me that the roof may not last the winter. This certainly puts some pressure on 
us to move the demolition timeline up. I will work with the DDA to see if they can 
allocate some funds to bring the structure and canopy down this spring. Perhaps the 
city and DDA split this cost. I will keep the city council informed. 
 

 ELMS PARK GRANT & CONVERSION (No Change of Status) 
The final score is in. Our grant scored 185 points out of 230 points available. This is 
compared to our score of 130 prior to the grant conversion and some other last minute 

City Council Packet 9 December 7, 2015



changes. I cannot say that we are well positioned to be awarded funds with this score, 
but I am hopeful.  
 
Concerning the conversion, comments indicate that the DNR has accepted the 
conversion and has passed it along to the National Park Service.  
 

 WIRELESS LEASE EXTENSION PROPOSAL (Update) 
This agreement has been executed by all parties. We await the signing stipend.  

 
 CLERK-FINANCE DIRECTOR DUTIES (No Change of Status) 

Circumstances have changed somewhat since the last report. Though Ms. Aguilar still 
plans to retire, the date of her retirement has been pushed back until the second half 
of 2016. Though this will alter our plans somewhat, there is an opportunity to benefit 
from her extended service.   
 
As the city council is aware, we have been looking to promote someone from within to 
fill the clerk position. This process is underway, and we expect to continue with this 
component of the succession planning. The practical result will be that we promote 
someone to be a “clerk-in-training”, with the intention of having this person mentored 
throughout the first half of 2016 by Juanita. This will be extremely valuable in getting 
us through the March elections and ensuring proper Presidential elections. In many 
respects, this will enable a much smoother transition.  
 
This also takes the immediate pressure of finding a finance director off of our 
shoulders. This facet of the succession plan can be placed on hold and enable more 
mentoring and/or training opportunities for existing staff.  
 
In short, this leaves us with one promotion and no additional staff for the time being. 
The delay will allow us to better assess the impact, if any, from the potential merger. It 
will also allow staff to have another shot to go through elections, budgeting, and 
auditing with our current Clerk-Finance Director. From a practical standpoint, I expect 
that the additional duties incurred by Ms. Aguilar in the form of increased training and 
mentoring will be offset by further delegating relevant duties. 
 
I think that this change will benefit all parties and will further report on the Clerk 
position promotional process. If all goes well, we may have a recommendation for the 
city council in December.  

 
 OTHER COMMUNICATIONS & HAPPENINGS (Update)  

 
 MONTHLY REPORTS & UPDATES (Update) 

The standard reports are included. There are no notable irregularities or issues to 
report. 
 

 COMCAST (Update) 
Comcast is reporting changes across the board for their services. 
 

 CONSUMERS ENERGY (Update) 

City Council Packet 10 December 7, 2015



Consumers is having another hearing on December 4th to marginally adjust their 
electrical rates. 
 

 BOARDS & COMMISSIONS (See Individual Category)  
 PLANNING COMMISSION (Update) 

The commission met on November 3rd. The master plan was the sole item on the 
agenda.  At this point, the document is substantially complete, with all sections 
being reviewed and amended. The commission is expected to deliberate on the 
entire amended plan at its regular meeting on January 5, 2016. 
 

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (No Change of Status) 
The DDA met on November 12th. The architect attended their meeting, as did a 
couple members of the public. The board listened to options and gave some 
feedback. There was strong support for lots of green space and/or park land within 
the proposal. Participants tended to steer clear of commercial uses and support 
high quality single family homes, perhaps in a condominium setting. Attached units 
were supported.  The provision of single level senior house was desired as a 
component, either as flats or single family.  
 
I am not sure if there will be material for a December meeting at this point. 
 

 ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (No Change of Status) 
The zoning board of appeals met on November 18th to approve minutes of 
September 16th in which they considered an interpretation of the zoning ordinance 
as it relates to veterinary clinics. This was in response to the enforcement action 
carried out at the Family Farm & Home for their onsite veterinary clinic that was 
conducting business without a special land use permit as required by ordinance. 
 
After presentation by the veterinary service provider and deliberation by the board, it 
was decided that their use met the current definition of a veterinary clinic. The 
service provider has since inquired about applying for a special land use permit for 
this location. 
 
They are thrilled to make more than $5.00 per meeting! 
 

 PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION  (Update) 
The park board met on December 2nd. As noted above, we still don’t know the 
status of the grant for Elms. However, the board is still moving forward with plans to 
include a new “tot-lot” for Elms Park.  
 
The tot-lot would be a small play area for the park that would resemble the one at 
Winshall Park. The basic plan is to place this area, suited for toddlers, north of the 
main entrance by the older equipment. The cost would be about $25,000, with the 
revenues coming exclusively from fundraising. The park board made a 
recommendation to seek approval from the city council to accept the tot-lot 
installation, with location and final procurement to be subject to future action by the 
city council. The holdup is the fundraising campaign. For this, the group is looking to 
have a professional lead the fundraising effort. A portion of funds raised would be 
paid as a commission (a common practice for non-profits that engage in large-scale 

City Council Packet 11 December 7, 2015



fundraising campaigns).  The park board is going to follow up on a current proposal 
and make a recommendation in January.  
 
I expect to have supporting documentation and a resolution ready for December 
14th to get the ball rolling on this.  
 
There has been new developments concerning the dog park from the donors. 
However, the park board deliberated more on alternate locations and generally 
agreed that any such facility should separate small dogs from big dogs and be 
located away from current park activities as much as practical.  
 
At the meeting the park board looked at some new grant opportunities but took no 
action, and they also set up a committee of judges for the holiday decorating 
contest.  
 
Lastly, the park board considered the Genesee County Parks Plan Opt In Request. 
This is discussed under New Business below. 
 

 BOARD OF REVIEW  (No Change of Status) 
The next Board of Review will be on December 15, 2015.  The purpose of this 
meeting is to review clerical errors, mutual mistakes of fact, Principal Residence 
Exemptions, Poverty Exemptions and Disabled Veterans Exemptions.  The time of 
the meeting is set for 10:00 a.m. and should last around half of an hour to an hour. 
 

NEW BUSINESS / PROJECTED ISSUES & PROJECTS 
 

 AUDIT (Resolution) 
Our audit is in and it looks pretty good. In fact, we were able to put some money back 
into the bank this year for the first time in a long time. This is the result of temporary 
savings in the police department related to the contractual chief arrangement, as well 
as savings related to paving projects that were under budget or otherwise did not 
occur. As we have quickly come to expect with Ms. Aguilar and Mrs. Korth on the 
case, there were no findings or surprises.  Our auditors will be present to go over their 
report in more detail. A resolution to accept the audit is attached. If anyone wants to go 
over specifics before the meeting please let me know.  
 

 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY PUBLIC HEARINGS (Resolutions) 
The amendments to the Downtown Development Authority (DDA) boundary and 
subsequent revisions in the DDA Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan (TIF) 
were finalized for review and distribution last summer. The process for public comment 
and review is a long one. The hearing for the boundary amendment was held on 
September 14, 2015, starting a time period of no less than 60 days before final 
approval.  While a hearing was also held for the Development and TIF plan on 
September 14, 2015, a subsequent hearing is scheduled for December 7, 2015 to 
enable two additional news print notices and another direct mailing, as required by 
statute. At this point, all taxing jurisdictions, tax payers of record, and the general public 
have been notified in accordance with applicable statutes.  
 

City Council Packet 12 December 7, 2015



Pending public comment on December 7th, I recommend the boundary be amended by 
ordinance. If successful, I recommend the Development and TIF plan be approved by 
ordinance. I have included the entire plan, including the map, with the packet. In short, 
the amendment added Wood’s Collision, Jan’s Bar, and the homes on the east side of 
Third Street to the district. Adjusting the boundaries also required revisions to the 
Development and TIF plan for the purposes of calculating future revenues. 

 
 TAX REVERTED PROPERTY DISPOSITION (Resolution) 

Last summer, the city had the opportunity to purchase certain properties from the 
Genesee County Treasurer because such properties were in tax foreclosure. Among 
them, the city opted to acquire the Sunoco gas station and the vacant lots in 
Winchester Woods plat. Vacant lots in Heritage, land on Wade Street, and a home 
located on Don Shenk were not acquired. All remaining properties were sold at a 
subsequent auction with the exception of one, 5410 Don Shenk. 
 
We have received notice from the Genesee County Treasurer that this property SHALL 
be transferred to the city UNLESS the city council objects to this transfer by December 
15, 2015.  
 
I don’t think the city should acquire this property. It is in bad shape and the best we 
could do is demolish it on the public dime. After doing so, we would be lucky to sell it as 
vacant land. If the city refuses this property, it is expected that the Land Bank will 
acquire this home and renovate it. They have done so before in the city. The downside 
is that they will do so using five years’ worth of new tax increment generated by any 
subsequent sale. The upside is that this increment is limited and a small price to pay to 
ameliorate the blight while keeping the home usable.  
 
In theory, the city could acquire the home and attempt to renovate it. However, this is 
outside of our charge and expertise as a local government. The Land Bank is equipped 
for exactly this scenario. I recommend the city council object to this transfer to the city. 
 

 FANG DUES (Resolution) 
Included in the packet is an invoice and request to authorize the payment of our 2015-
2016 membership dues to FANG. 
 
The city has been a member of the FLINT AREA NARCOTICS GROUP (FANG) for the 
past 16 years, with an officer assigned to this unit for 8 years. This unit is a drug 
enforcement, undercover unit that provides narcotic investigations for all of its member 
agencies. The unit receives federal grant monies and is supported by its members’ 
dues.  
 
The dues are calculated using the following calculations: The State Equalized Value 
(SEV) of our municipality is divided by the total SEV of all the municipalities, resulting in 
the SEV factor and percentage. Base dues are determined by multiplying our SEV 
factor by the total population, which calculates our dues at $7850.60. 
 
Our membership to the FANG unit is paramount as they provide this investigation and 
enforcement service in this city as well as the rest of this county, which knows no 
borders or jurisdictions. 

City Council Packet 13 December 7, 2015



 
 GENESEE COUNTY PARK PLAN OPT-IN (Resolution) 

Genesee County operates a county-wide park system that is predominately funded by 
a dedicated property tax levy, applicable to real and personal property here in Swartz 
Creek.  As part of their operations, they have more recently become engaged in 
planning for region-wide recreational improvements related to non-motorized 
transportation and other greenways that transcend political boundaries.  To that end, 
they have created the Genesee County Park, Recreation, Open Space and Greenway 
Plan in May of 2014. 
 
They are asking that the city participate in providing input for the next plan, which is 
set for review in January of 2016. Doing so could help us realize better recreational 
amenities that better connect Swartz Creek with other trails and networks. I really don’t 
see a downside. In fact, many of us have argued that the central-west portion of 
Genesee County, including Swartz Creek, is drastically underserved by recreational 
resources relative to other areas of the county. This has been noted as a strain on our 
park system.  Participating can help bring some much-needed investment to the area. 
 
On December 2nd the park board took a look at this matter and recommended that the 
city council opt in and participate. Initially, they had some concerns about loss of 
control or influence. The opt-in request was not found to inhibit local control. To be 
more certain, the board directed staff to reach out to another participating city to gauge 
their experience.  Staff did reach out to Davison City, finding the opt-in to be a benefit.  
 
I have included a resolution for our community’s participation. 

 
Council Questions, Inquiries, Requests, Comments, and Notes    
   

 Christmas Parade: The parade is scheduled for Saturday, December 5, 2015 
at 6:00 p.m. Chief Cole is hoping that another member of the council is willing 
to volunteer to judge the fire engine decorations. 
 

 

City Council Packet 14 December 7, 2015



 
City of Swartz Creek 

RESOLUTIONS  
Regular Council Meeting, Monday, December 7, 2015, 7:00 P.M. 

 
Resolution No. 151207-4A  MINUTES – November 23, 2015 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Minutes of the Regular Council 
Meeting held Monday, November 23, 2015, to be circulated and placed on file. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For:_______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________  

 
Resolution No. 151207-5A AGENDA APPROVAL 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 

 
I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as presented / printed / 
amended for the Regular Council Meeting of December 7, 2015, to be circulated and 
placed on file. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 151207-6A CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of December 
7, 2015, including reports and communications, to be circulated and placed on file. 

  
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 151207-8A 2014-2015 FISCAL YEAR AUDIT, PLANTE-MORAN 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek accept the 2014-2015 Fiscal Audit Report prepared 
by Plante-Moran, a copy of which is attached hereto, and further, direct such to be 
published, distributed, circulated and placed on file in a manner prescribed by law. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

City Council Packet 15 December 7, 2015



 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
Resolution No. 151207-8B ORDINANCE #424 AMMENDMENT SECTION 6-22, 

D.D.A. BOUNDARIES 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, on September 14, 2015, the Swartz Creek City Council held a public 
hearing as required by the Downtown Development Authority Act [MCL 125.1651, et 
seq] on a proposal to amend the boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority 
District; and 
 
WHEREAS, due notice of said public hearing was given to the public and the 
governing body of each taxing jurisdiction levying taxes within the proposed district 
which taxes would be subject to capture if a tax increment financing plan is approved, 
all as required by Section 3 of the DDA Act [MCL 125.1653]; and 
 
WHEREAS, none of the taxing jurisdictions levying taxes within the proposed district 
which would be subject to capture if a tax increment financing plan is approved, have 
adopted a resolution to exempt its taxes from capture; and 
 
WHEREAS, more than sixty (60) days have passed since the public hearing on the 
proposed amended boundaries, and 
 
WHEREAS, the tax exemption of certain real property, identified as 4110 Morrish 
Road, parcel 58-35-200-019 from the DDA has recently been found to negatively 
impact the DDA, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS; 

 
 ORDINANCE NO #424 
 
An ordinance to amend Chapter 6, Section 6-22 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Swartz Creek to amend the boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority District to 
include additional properties not previously included and to remove a property previously 
included.  
 
Section 1. Amendment of Section 6-22. 
 

Section 6-22 of Chapter 6 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek is 
hereby amended to alter the boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority District as 
follows: 
 

Sec. 6-22. Boundaries of Downtown Development Authority District are hereby 
amended to remove the following parcel of property, as described in the 2015 assessment 
roll: 

 
Tax Identification Number Address   Zoning 

 58-35-200-019   4110 Morrish Road  GBD 

City Council Packet 16 December 7, 2015



 
Boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority District are hereby amended to 

include all of the following parcels of property, as described in the 2015 assessment roll, with 
all such changes reflected in the map attached to this resolution: 
 
  Tax Identification Number Address   Zoning 
  58-01-502-073   7497 Miller Road  CBD 
  58-01-502-074   7499 Miller Road  CBD 

58-01-502-076   7509 Miller Road  CBD 
58-01-502-075   5015 Third Street  CBD 
58-01-502-077   5017 Third Street  CBD 
58-01-502-079   5029 Third Street  CBD 
58-01-502-080   5033 Third Street  CBD 
58-01-502-008   5043 Third Street  CBD 

 
 Section 2. Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall become effective 20 days after publication, expected to be 
December 30, 2015. 
 
At a regular meeting of the Swartz Creek City Council held on the 7th day of December, 2015, 
________________ moved for adoption of the ordinance and ________________ supported 
the motion. 
 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
 

The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 
_________________________________ 
David Krueger 
Mayor 
 
___________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk 

 
Resolution No. 151207-8C  ADOPT ORDINANCE #425, DDA-TIF PLAN 
 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority and the DDA Board 
was established to revitalize the downtown and provide for financing under the 
authority of Act 197 of 1975, as amended; and 

 

City Council Packet 17 December 7, 2015



WHEREAS, under that authority the Board prepared a development plan and tax 
increment finance plan in accordance with Section 17(1) and Section 14(1); and  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed method of financing the development is feasible and the 
authority has the ability to arrange the financing; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed development projects are reasonable and necessary to 
carry out the Act; and  

 
WHEREAS, the development plan is in reasonable accord with the master plan of the 
City; and  

 
WHEREAS, public services, such as fire and police protection and utilities, are 
adequate to service the development area; and  

 
WHEREAS, changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities, to the 
extent required by the plan constitutes a public purpose; and  

 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Development Authority endorsed the plan on July 9, 2015, 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the plan was distributed and vetted in a set of public hearings, the first 
being September 14, 2015 and the second on December 7, 2015, in which notice to 
the public, taxpayers of record, and taxing jurisdictions was provided in accordance 
with the Act, 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Swartz Creek City Council 
approves the Development Plan and Tax Increment Finance Plan dated December 2, 
2015. 
  

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
ORDINANCE NO.  425 

 
Downtown Development Authority 

Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan No. 1 
 

An ordinance to amend Chapter 6, Article II of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz 
Creek to amend the Downtown Development Authority Development and Tax Increment 
Financing Plan No. 1 as prepared and approved by the Downtown Development Authority of the 
City of Swartz Creek. 
 
THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Amendment of Chapter 6, Article II; amending Downtown Development 

Authority Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan No. 1 
 

City Council Packet 18 December 7, 2015



Chapter 6, Article II of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 
 

Section  6-31 Definition of Terms 
 
 The terms used in this division and in the Plan shall have the meanings assigned 
to them in the Plan and in section 1 of Public Act 197 of the public Acts of 1975, as 
amended, being MCL 125.1651, et seq (“Act”).   
 
Section  6-32 Public Purposes; Best Interest of the Public 
 
 The city council hereby finds and determines: 
 

(1)  the Plan constitutes a public purpose. 
 

(2) it is in the best interests of the public, in order to halt property value 
deterioration, increase property tax valuation, eliminate the cause of 
property value deterioration and to promote economic growth in the 
development area, to proceed with the Plan. 

 
Section  6-33 Review Findings. 
 
 Having determined that the Plan constitutes a public purpose, as required by the 
Act, the city council has considered the various elements of the Plan as required by 
section 19 of the Act and, as a result thereof, the city council finds: 
 

(1) The Plan meets the requirements set forth in section 17(2) of the Act; 
 
(2) The proposed method of financing the development is feasible, and the 

authority has the ability to arrange the financing. 
 
(3) The development is reasonable and necessary to carry out the purposes of 

the act. 
 
(4) The amount of captured assessed value estimated to result from adoption 

of the plan is reasonable. 
 
(5) The land included within the development area to be acquired (to the 

extent required by the plan) is reasonably necessary to carry out the 
purposes of the plan and the purposes of the act in an efficient and 
economically satisfactory manner. 

 
(6) The development plan is in reasonable accord with the master plan of the 

city. 
 
(7) Public services such as fire and police protection and utilities, are or will be 

adequate to service the development area. 
 
(8) Changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections and utilities (to the 

extent required by the plan) are reasonably necessary for the project and 
for the village. 

 

City Council Packet 19 December 7, 2015



Section  6-34 Approval and Adoption of Development and Tax Increment 
Financing Plan 

 
 The Plan is hereby approved and adopted as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.  The 
duration of the Plan shall be thirty (30) years from the effective date of the ordinance 
establishing this division.  A copy of the Plan and any amendments thereto shall be 
maintained on file in the city clerk’s office. 
 
Section  6-35 Boundaries of the Development Area 

 
 The boundaries of the development area, as set forth in the Plan, are adopted and 
confirmed. 
 
Section  6-36 Establishment of Initial Assessed Value 
 
 The initial assessed value for purposes of the Plan shall be the assessed value of 
all real and personal property in the development Area as of December 31, 2004, and 
equalized by the State of Michigan in May, 2005, less any parcels subsequently removed 
from the district by Ordinance.  The initial assessed value shall also include all real and 
personal property in the development Area as of December 31, 2014, and equalized by 
the State of Michigan in May 2015, for the following parcels added to the district by 
Ordinance 425: 
 
Section  6-37 Annual Calculation of Captured Assessed Value and Tax 

Increment Revenues; Payment to the DDA 
 
 Each year, within fifteen (15) days following the final equalization of property in the 
development area, the city assessor shall calculate the captured assessed value for the 
development area and report said value to the city council and to the DDA.  As real and 
personal property taxes are collected by the city and county treasurers for properties 
within the development area, the tax increment revenue portion of said taxes shall be 
paid to the DDA.  The payments to the DDA shall be made on the date or dates on which 
the city and the county treasurers are required to remit taxes to each of the taxing 
jurisdictions. 
 
Section 6-38  Use of Tax Increment Revenues. 
 
 The DDA shall utilize the tax increment revenues only in accordance with the Plan 
and in the following manner and following order of priority: 
 

(1)  First, if bonds are issued pursuant to the Plan, to pay into the debt 
retirement fund or funds, for all outstanding series of bonds issued 
pursuant to the Plan, an amount equal to the interest and principal coming 
due (in the case of principal, whether by maturity or mandatory redemption) 
prior to the next collection of taxes, less any credit for sums on hand in a 
debt retirement fund. 

 
(2) Second, to establish a reserve account for payment of principal of an 

interest on bonds issued pursuant to the Plan to the extent required by any 
resolution authorizing bonds. 

 

City Council Packet 20 December 7, 2015



(3) Third, to pay the administrative, auditing, legal and operating costs of the 
authority and the City pertaining to the development area, including 
planning and promotion, to the extent provided in the annual budget of the 
DDA. 

 
(4) Fourth, to repay amounts advanced by the City for project costs as may be 

set forth in the Plan, including costs for preliminary plans, and fees for 
other professional services. 

 
(5) Fifth, to pay, to the extent determined desirable by the DDA and approved 

by the City, the cost of completing the public improvements as may be set 
forth in the Plan to the extent those costs are not financed from other 
sources. 

 
(6) Sixth, to pay the cost of any additional amendments to the Plan that are 

determined necessary by the DDA and approved by the village council in 
accordance with the Act. 

 
Section  6-39 Annual report 
 
 Within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year, the DDA shall submit to 
the city council, with copies to each taxing jurisdiction, a report on the status of the Plan.  
The report shall include the information required by MCL 125.1665(3).  The DDA shall 
cause a copy of the report to be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
City. 
 
Section  6-40 Termination of Tax Increment Financing Plan 
 
 As provided in MCL 125.1665(2), the city council may abolish the tax increment 
financing plan when it finds that the purposes for which it was established are 
accomplished.  The tax increment financing plan shall not be abolished, however, until 
the principal of, and interest on, any bonds issued pursuant to the Plan have been paid 
or funds sufficient to make the payment have been segregated. 
 

Section 2. Effective Date. 
 

This Ordinance shall become effective 20 days after publication, expected to be 
December 30, 2015. 
 
At a regular meeting of the Swartz Creek City Council held on the 7th day of December, 2015, 
________________ moved for adoption of the ordinance and ________________ supported 
the motion. 
 

Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
 

The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 

City Council Packet 21 December 7, 2015



_________________________________ 
David Krueger 
Mayor 
 
___________________________________ 
Juanita Aguilar 
City Clerk 

 
Resolution No. 151207-8D TAX REVERTED PROPERTY DISPOSITION 

 
 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 

WHEREAS, MCL 211.78 m(6) provides that foreclosed properties unsold at the 
mandatory yearly auction shall be listed and provided by the county treasurer to the 
clerk of the appropriate local jurisdiction, with said property to be transferred to said 
local unit of government; and 
 
WHEREAS, the statute allows the local unit to object to the transfer and the Genesee 
County Treasurer will accept such objections, as written or directed by the city council, 
through December 15, 2015 ; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds the property in question, 5410 Don Shenk, to be in 
need of renovations or demolition beyond reasonable costs; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Genesse County Land Bank, and/or similar entities, are better suited 
in terms of revenue mechanisms and staff expertise to renovate this residential 
strucuture, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Swartz Creek City Council objects 
to the automatic reversion of 5410 Don Shenk to the City and directs the city manager 
to act on the city council’s behalf to send written notice affirming this objection to the 
Genesee County Treasurer’s Office by December 15, 2015. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

Resolution No. 151207-8E FANG DUES 
 

 Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
I Move the City of Swartz Creek City Council approve the payment of $7,850.60 to the 
Flint Area Narcotics Group (FANG) for annual dues and expenses, said payment to be 
apportioned to the Drug Enforcement Fund 265-931.000-699.1. 
 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 
 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

City Council Packet 22 December 7, 2015



 
Resolution No. 151207-8F GENESEE COUNTY PARK PLAN OPT-IN 

 
Motion by Councilmember: ________________ 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek continues to seek collaboration in providing 
recreational amenities and services to meet the future needs of area residents; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city has a state approved five year parks and recreation master plan 
on file that provides for the implementation and investment strategies to enable the 
community’s park and recreation goals, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Genesee County Parks and Recreation Commission has offered to 
include recreation action plan items of the City of Swartz Creek in its five year plan, 
enabling future opportunities for cooperation, and  
 
WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek Park Board recommended participation of the city at 
their regular meeting on December 2, 2015, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, the Swartz Creek City Council authorizes 
inclusion of the City of Swartz Creek in the Genesee County Parks and Recreation 
Commission Parks, Recreation Open Space and Greenway Plan, for submittal to the 
State of Michigan, said plan to be developed in calendar year 2016. 

 
Second by Councilmember: _______________ 

 
Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 
 

City Council Packet 23 December 7, 2015



 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
DATE 11/23/2015 

 
The meeting was called to order at 7:00 p.m. by Mayor Krueger in the Swartz Creek City 
Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Councilmembers Present:  Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath. 
 
Councilmembers Absent:   Shumaker. 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Adam Zettel, City Clerk Juanita Aguilar, 

City Attorney Mike Gildner. 
     
Others Present: Bob Plumb, Tommy Butler, Ron Schultz, James Barclay, 

Steve Shumaker, Dave Alexander.  
 
MOTION TO EXCUSE 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-01 
 
  Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council hereby excuse Councilmembers Shumaker 
who has a prior engagement.  
  

  YES:  Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams.  
 NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-02       (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Porath 
  Second by Councilmember Gilbert 
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council hereby approve the Minutes as amended of 
the Regular Council Meeting held Monday, November 9, 2015 to be circulated and 
placed on file. 

 
YES:  Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Gilbert.  

 NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

 
 

City Council Packet 24 December 7, 2015



APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Resolution No. 151123-03       (Carried) 

 
Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 

  Second by Councilmember Gilbert  
 

I Move the Swartz Creek City Council approve the Agenda as printed and 
presented for the Regular Council Meeting of November 23, 2015, to be circulated 
and placed on file. 

 
YES:   Krueger, Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks. 

  NO:   None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
  

City Manager’s Report 
 
  Resolution No. 151123-04       (Carried) 
 

 Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
 

 I Move the Swartz Creek City Council accept the City Manager’s Report of 
November 23, 2015, including reports and communications, to be circulated and 
placed on file. 
 
Discussion Ensued.  

  
YES: Pinkston, Porath, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 
 

MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC 
 
Tommy Butler, resides at 40 Somerset, commented he heard on television that Michigan 
was in last place for ethics and transparency. He commented that a Menard’s would be 
nice in our area.  
 
COUNCIL BUSINESS 
 
PARKING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-05     (Postponed) 

 
  Motion by Councilmember Gilbert  
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
   

I Move the City of Swartz Creek enact Ordinance #424, an ordinance to amend 
Section 18-71 of Article III of Chapter 18 of the Code of Ordinances to prohibit 
motor vehicle parking and storage on front lawns and to establish the penalties for 
violations thereof, as follows: 

City Council Packet 25 December 7, 2015



 
 

CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
ORDINANCE NO. 424 

 
An ordinance to amend Section 18-71 of Article III of Chapter 18 of the Code of 
Ordinances to prohibit certain parking and assign the penalties for violations thereof. 
 
THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Amendment of Section 18-71 of Article III of Chapter 18 of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek. 
 
 Section 18-71 of Article III of Chapter 18 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Swartz Creek is hereby amended by adding “Parking or storage in front yards within R-1, 
R-2, R-3, & R-4 Zoning Districts and/or in the front yards of properties used for single 
family use; Front yard shall mean that area measured by the full width of the front lot line to 
a depth measured from said front lot line to the first supporting member of a structure. In 
the case of corner lots, the front yard shall be the area measured by the lot lines on each 
street to a depth measured from said lot lines to the first supporting member of the 
structure, excluding those areas enclosed by a fence” as one of the prohibited offenses, 
and that the penalty for violations of that offense is $15.00. 
 
Section 2. Effective Date. 
 
 This Ordinance shall take effect twenty (20) days following publication. 
At a regular meeting of the City Council of Swartz Creek held on the 23rd day of 
November, 2015, ________________ moved for adoption of the foregoing ordinance and 
________________ supported the motion. 
 
Voting for: 
Voting against: 
 
The Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 
 
      _________________________________ 
      David Krueger 
      Mayor 
 
      ___________________________________ 
      Juanita Aguilar 
      City Clerk 
  

CERTIFICATION 
 
The foregoing is a true copy of Ordinance No. _____ which was enacted by the Swartz 
Creek City Council at a regular meeting held on the ________ day of 
__________________, 2015. 
 

City Council Packet 26 December 7, 2015



      _____________________________________ 
      Juanita Aguilar 
      City Clerk  
 

Voting For: ______________________________________________________ 
Voting Against: ___________________________________________________ 

 
 
 Discussion Ensued. 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-05      (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams 
  Second by Councilmember Hicks 
 

I move the City of Swartz Creek postpone Parking Ordinance Amendment   until the 
next city council meeting held on December 7th 2015. 
 

   YES: Porath, Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston. 
NO: None.  Motion Declared Carried. 

 
 
PERSONNEL POLICY ADOPTION 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-06                (Carried) 

 
  Motion by Councilmember Pinkston 
  Second by Councilmember Hicks 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Swartz Creek desires to develop and maintain a qualified 
and motivated workforce of professional staff, as well as to uphold the highest 
standards of ethics and excellence for all such staff, elected officials, and other 
officials; and 
 
WHEREAS, Section 7.2(c) of the City Charter enables the administrative service to 
further promulgate rules related to the administration and establishment of policy for 
city staff; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds that a complete set of personnel policies, 
including a code of ethics, as established by resolution, is a necessary component 
of achieving the noted goals; and, 
 
WHEREAS, city staff, the city attorney, and a temporary committee of the city 
council have drafted, revised, and recommended approval of the Personnel Policy, 
also known as the Employee Handbook, as included in the city council packet of 
November 23, 2015, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Swartz Creek City Council 
approves the Personnel Policy of the City of Swartz Creek as amended and directs 

City Council Packet 27 December 7, 2015



city staff to circulate the handbook and verify receipt to all city staff, elected officials, 
and other applicable officials of the city. 
Discussion Ensued.  

 
 YES Abrams, Gilbert, Hicks, Krueger, Pinkston, Porath. 

  NO: Motion Declared Carried. 
 
MEETING OPEN TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
None. 
 
REMARKS BY COUNCILMEMBERS: 
 
Councilmember Pinkston stated “Go Green”.  
Councilmember Hicks commented “Happy Thanksgiving”. 
Councilmember Porath commented about the transparency comment made earlier that he 
reads every week Tim Skubick and  Andrew Heller and that gives him all the knowledge he 
needs.  Mr. Porath thought the Meijer complex would be developing by now and “Happy 
Thanksgiving” everyone.  
 Mayor Pro Tem Abrams remarked that some of his neighbors made comments about 
Winshall Park and the lack of equipment there, Elms Park seems to be the priority. He also 
commented that his wife Boots is getting operated on December 21st. 
Mayor Krueger wanted to wish everyone a very joyous and Happy Thanksgiving and many 
blessings.  
 
Adjournment 
 
 Resolution No. 151123-10       (Carried) 
 
  Motion by Councilmember Hicks 
  Second by Mayor Pro Tem Abrams  
 
 I Move the Swartz Creek City Council adjourn the regular meeting at 8:27 pm. 
 
  Unanimous Voice Vote. 
 
   
___________________________   _____________________________ 
David A. Krueger, Mayor     Juanita, City Clerk     
  

City Council Packet 28 December 7, 2015



City of Swartz Creek  

Downtown Development Authority 

Development Plan and  
Tax Increment Financing Plan 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 29 December 7, 2015



DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
and 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Genesee County, Michigan 

Adopted: 

Downtown Development Authority: October 6, 2005 
City Council: December 19, 2005 

Page ii 

Amended: 

Downtown Development Authority: 

 City Council: 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 30 December 7, 2015



Page iii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PAGE 

Purpose of the Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan ...............................1 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN ..................................................................................................2 

Downtown Development Goals...............................................................................3 
Boundary Designations............................................................................................5 
Project Improvements and Phasing..........................................................................5 
Open Space ............................................................................................................10 
Land and Developer Transactions .........................................................................11 
Zoning, Street, and Utility Changes.......................................................................11 
Development Costs and Financing Capabilities ....................................................12 
Relocation ..............................................................................................................13 
Other Pertinent Information...................................................................................13 

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN .....................................................................14 

Tax Increment Financing Requirement .................................................................15 
Explanation of the Tax Increment Procedure ........................................................15 
Maximum Amount of Bonded Indebtedness .........................................................18 
Duration of Development Program........................................................................18 
Impact on Taxing Jurisdictions..............................................................................19 
Plan for Expenditure of Tax Increment Funds.......................................................20 

APPENDICES  

Appendix A: Plan Maps  
Map 1:  DDA Boundaries 

Appendix B: Plan Tables  

Table 1: City of Swartz Creek DDA Projects List and Cost Estimates 
Table 2: City of Swartz Creek DDA Total Projected TIF Revenues by Taxing Jurisdiction
Table 3:  City of Swartz Creek DDA Expansion Projected TIF Revenues by Taxing Jurisdiction 

Appendix C: Establishment Resolution – 1980 

Establishment Resolution – 2005
Amendment Resolution - 2015
Downtown Developmen Authorityt Act 

Appendix D: List of DDA Parcel Numbers and Base Values  
Appendix E: Plan Adoption Documentation  

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 31 December 7, 2015



PURPOSE OF THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN AND  
TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN 

The Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan are both required by Public Act 197 of 
1975, as amended.  They are presented here as a single document.  Information shared between 
each plan, such as the legal description for the district, are contained in the appendices and are 
appropriately referenced in the plans.  Both plans were prepared with extensive involvement by 
the Board of the Downtown Development Authority, the Development Area Citizens Council, 
the Swartz Creek City Council, and City of Swartz Creek staff.  Furthermore, throughout the 
process of preparing these instruments, the general public, City officials, the Development Area 
Citizens Council, and others were provided the opportunity to offer comment and input. 

It is the purpose of the Development Plan and the Tax Increment Financing Plan to establish the 
legal basis for the capture and expenditure of tax increment revenues in accordance with Public 
Act 197 of 1975, as amended.  The tax increment revenues are used for the financing of public 
improvements identified as necessary to accomplish the objectives of the Swartz Creek 
Downtown Development Authority (DDA). 

In compliance with Public Act 197 of 1975, as amended, the Swartz Creek Downtown 
Development Authority is the managing entity for development and financing activities within 
the established district.  The boundary of the district is illustrated on a map found in Appendix A.  
The City Manager is responsible for coordinating daily DDA activities. 

History 

• In 1980, the City Council of the City of Swartz Creek created a DDA, appointed the initial
members to a Board of Directors, and designated the boundaries of the district.  The DDA
was initially created to reverse the pattern of deterioration in the downtown area and to plan
for and implement certain public improvements that are considered necessary for future
economic growth.  While a concept plan was prepared, a Development and TIF plan was
never adopted.

• After being inactive for almost twenty years, the City Council took steps to deactivate the
DDA, but was then halted in favor of reestablishing an active DDA Board. In October 2004,
a new DDA Board was appointed.

• January 2005, the City Council officially adopted new boundaries for the DDA District to
include the area north of I-69.

• July 2005, in order to be more proactive in revitalizing the Downtown, the DDA agreed to
prepare and adopt the first Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan.

• The Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan was adopted by the DDA on
October 6, 2005 and transmitted to the Swartz Creek City Council thereafter.  The Plan was
adopted by City Council on December 19, 2005 and effective December 25, 2005.

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 1 
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 32 December 7, 2015



The Development Plan 

SWARTZ CREEK 
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

GENESEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
2015 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 2 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 33 December 7, 2015



Downtown Development Goals 

This Development Plan is created to implement projects designed to meet certain goals 
established for the DDA.  This Development Plan sets forth a program to accomplish these goals 
through implementation of various public and private improvements.  These specific projects are 
described in later sections of the Plan and the abilities to finance these ideas are set forth in the 
Tax Increment Financing Plan.  The goals are as follows: 

Economic Goals 

• Improve the overall business climate of the Downtown through planning, promotion,
coordination of activities, and implementation of specific improvement projects

• Retain existing businesses and attract new businesses and uses which complement a mixed-
use development pattern

• Assist in creating new employment opportunities by fostering commercial and industrial
development, redevelopment, and business expansion within the DDA

• Further the economic vitality of the Downtown area by creating a balanced mix of retail,
service, residential, office, industrial and other uses consistent with market demands

• Support the development of vacant or underutilized land parcels in a manner consistent with
the goals of this plan

Land Use 

• Promote greater concentrations of land use activity in the Downtown
• Diversify business types including retail, service, dining, entertainment, and office
• Accommodate high density residential within the Downtown to create a continuum of

activity
• Promote public gathering areas and comfortable public spaces
• Gradually remove land uses or structures that are inconsistent with the goals of this plan
• Maximize use of the land to meet demands for uses
• Consolidate smaller land parcels to achieve adequately-sized building sites
• Ensure development is compatible with adjacent residential neighborhoods

Aesthetic Goals 

• Establish a distinct and attractive design theme that reflects the City’s character and heritage
• Promote compatibility of design between new and existing developments
• Eliminate visually unattractive and blighting influences within the area
• Support the infusion of open space and landscaping throughout the Downtown

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 3 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 34 December 7, 2015



Circulation 

• Provide for efficient, safe, and convenient motorized and non-motorized circulation
• Offer convenient, consolidated parking areas consistent with the Downtown character
• Modernize the existing street network to meet the current and future needs consistent with

the Downtown character
• Support and improve alternative modes of transportation and circulation in and to the

Downtown such as public transportation and non-motorized pathways
• Improve way-finding into and within the Downtown

Facilities and Services 

• Develop the Downtown in a manner that is supported by the City’s infrastructure
• Support regulations and enforcement that ensure the Downtown is maintained and attractive
• Provide public improvements needed to attract and support future private investment
• Diversify the types of services offered to businesses to support their continued vitality
• Modify services as needed to accommodate needs of the mixed-uses such as residential

Building and Site Improvements 

• Promote high-quality site improvements and building design to upgrade the quality of the
Downtown and to ensure the long term viability of the business district

• Ensure new development is compatible with traditional downtown character
• Eliminate sources of blight, poor property maintenance practices, and inappropriate land uses
• Encourage a high standard of property maintenance on private and public lands

Operational Goals 

• Provide an organization which unifies the property owners and business operators
• Foster a spirit of cooperation between the DDA, City staff and officials, residents and the

school district
• Pro-actively attract desired uses to the Downtown
• Promote the Downtown in a manner which presents a favorable image

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 4 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 35 December 7, 2015



Boundary Designations  

Section 17(a) The designation of boundaries of the development area in relation to highways, streets, streams, 
or otherwise. 

Section 17(b) The location and extent of existing streets and other public facilities within the development 
area, shall designate the location, character, and extent of the categories of public and private land uses then 
existing and proposed for the development areas, including residential, recreational, commercial, industrial, 
educational, and other uses, and shall include a legal description of the development area. 

The boundaries of the Downtown Development Authority are indicated on DDA 
Boundary Map found in Appendix A.  The Downtown Development Authority District 
and the Development Area boundaries are identical.   

The main roads through the DDA are Miller Road, running east-west and Morrish Road, running 
north-south.  Both conveniently have interchange access to I-69, the expressway that traverses 
through the northern segment of the City. The majority of the district is commercial, office, 
and some residential uses. There are community facilities within the boundary including 
City Hall, churches, the police station, the fire station, senior center, library, parks, and a 
community amphitheater.  Private recreation and major land holdings in the DDA include 
the now closed Sports Creek Race Track. 

Project Improvements and Phasing 

Section 17(c) A description of existing improvements in the development area to be demolished, repaired, or 
altered, a description of any repairs and alterations, and an estimate of the time required for completion. 

Section 17(d) The location, extent, character, and estimated cost of the improvements including rehabilitation 
contemplated for the development area and an estimate of the time required for completion. 

Section 17(e) A statement of the construction, or stages of construction planned, and the estimated time of 
completion of each stage. 

Based on the goals listed on the previous pages, the following is a complete listing of the 
proposed improvement projects to be completed during the 30 year term of this Plan. Each 
project listed includes a general description of the extent, character, and location of the project. 
Refer to Table 1 in Appendix B for a summary and cost estimates.  

The projects are organized by the following categories: 

• Enhancement Improvements
• Transportation Improvements
• Public Facility Improvements
• Administration and Planning

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 5 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 36 December 7, 2015



Enhancement Improvements 

Corridor Enhancement: Enhancement of specific corridors within the DDA includes creating a 
uniform, enhanced street system appearance that creates a sense of place within the Downtown 
and subsequently generates economic development and reinvestment by attracting certain 
businesses to the Downtown. These enhancements will include upgrades and installations related 
to the following:  

• Concrete curbs and gutters
• Street trees and curb lawns (strip of lawn between the street curb and the sidewalk)
• Sidewalks/pathways/specialty paving
• Street lighting
• Crosswalk enhancements
• Planters and benches
• Knee walls

These proposed improvements are planned for the following roadway segments located within 
the DDA Boundary.  Some discussion is included of the possible improvements, however, 
further study will be necessary in order to confirm the details in addition some of these roadway 
segments have existing streetscape improvements that will need to be protected and coordinated 
with new improvements. 

• Miller Road – cross section should include improvements such as maintaining existing two
travel lanes, center turning lane, and bike lane with the inclusion of wider sidewalks, brick
pavers, updated street lighting, on-street parking, and decorative amenities as appropriate.

• Morrish Road – cross section should include improvements such as a reduction of four travel
lanes to accommodate on-street parking, wide sidewalks, street lighting and decorative
amenities as appropriate.

• Morrish Road/I-69 Overpass – special treatment will be necessary along Morrish Road where
it passes over I-69 that will improve the visual and physical connection of the DDA north
and south of the expressway.

• Fortino Drive - cross section should include simplistic improvements such as maintaining the
existing two travel lanes, sidewalks, on-street parking, street lighting, curb lawn, and
decorative amenities.  These improvements must also incorporate the planned Veteran’s
Memorial Park.

• Holland Drive - cross section should include simplistic improvements such as maintaining
the existing two travel lanes, on-street parking, sidewalks, street lighting, curb lawn, and
decorative amenities.  Improvements should incorporate and upgrade the existing pavilion
and open space area.

• Future road extensions - cross section should include simplistic improvements such as two
travel lanes, sidewalks, on-street parking, street lighting, curb lawn, and decorative
amenities.

Burial or Relocation of Overhead Utilities: Throughout the DDA, overhead utilities such as 
electricity, cable, and telephone lines are highly visible and detract from the appearance of the 
streetscape. These utilities are indispensable for overall City functions. However for safety and 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 6 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 37 December 7, 2015



aesthetic reasons overhead utilities should be either relocated to underground utility installations 
or relocated to rear yards. The DDA has allocated funding to assist the City in these efforts. 

Gateway Treatment: Gateways are an important element in announcing arrival into the 
Downtown and the City.  These elements also reflect the character of the Downtown and alert 
visitors that they have found a destination. In order to promote the image of the DDA, welcome 
signs, landscape, streetscape, and decorative features should be provided. Gateway treatment is 
planned for the following entry points into the Downtown and will be incorporated in the 
streetscape enhancements:  

• I-69 Interchange at Morrish Road
• Miller Road (east and west end)
• Morrish Road (north and south)

Property/Structure Acquisition: In order to improve the image of the DDA and the City it is 
imperative to remove blighted and obsolete structures. For this purpose the DDA plans to 
coordinate efforts with the City of Swartz Creek and assist in the acquisition and removal or 
redevelopment of blighted and obsolete structures within the DDA boundary.  The DDA will 
also pursue removal of structures that may impede the character of the Downtown, such as 
billboards. 

Building Rehabilitation:  There are some historically significant structures in the DDA where 
preservation and/or rehabilitation may be of value to the City such as the grain elevator.  The 
DDA has allocated some resources to assist in acquisition and rehabilitation of these structures 
to protect Swartz Creek’s history. 

Public art or sculptures in gathering areas:  Public art such as fountains, sculptures, or 
monuments provide a sense of place and a visual reference that identifies gathering areas. The 
DDA intends to allocate resources to provide public art of some form in key gathering spaces. 

Update traffic signals: Although functional, overhead span wire traffic signals do not provide 
adequate human scale provided by the mast arm signals. The DDA recognizes that some of the 
key intersections with span wire traffic signals should be replaced with mast arm signals and 
enhanced pedestrian cross walk signals.  To assist in accomplishes this objective the DDA will 
provide assistance in achieving this goal. Possible intersections include the intersection of Miller 
Road and Morrish Road, Fortino Road and Morrish Road, and Fortino Road and Miller Road.  

Façade and Signage Improvements:  Existing structures and signs in the DDA are in need of 
extensive upgrade in terms of design, materials, and colors.  Currently, many of the buildings 
and signs do not promote a welcoming traditional downtown environment.  The DDA has 
allocated resources to pursue the following efforts toward upgrading the appearance of buildings 
in the Downtown: 

• Develop design guidelines or requirements for all buildings and signs in the Downtown with
corresponding sketches and pictures

• Develop a program to assist business owners in funding these improvements as a method to
encourage implementation of the design guidelines or requirements

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 7 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 38 December 7, 2015



Transportation Improvements 

Traffic Study:  In order to respond to any current traffic problems and provide an efficient road 
network that can accommodate additional traffic related to future development, a traffic study for 
the Downtown and the surrounding area will be needed. Based on a traffic data analysis, the 
study should provide updated traffic counts, assess the current road system level of service, 
estimate future traffic generation, develop mitigation strategies, and determine necessary road 
improvements. The DDA could contribute to the preparation of this study by providing resources 
for a portion of the total required investment.  

Road Improvement Projects: In order to maintain the walkable, pedestrian scale of the 
Downtown, it is unlikely that the traffic study will reveal that extensive road widening or 
improvement projects will be warranted.  Projects to which the DDA will likely contribute 
involve the following: 

• Streets maintenance and repairs
• Intersection improvements such as at Fortino Road and Morrish Road where increased traffic

volumes are expected as a result of new development.
• Road extensions to service new development areas
• Alley construction may be necessary to divert traffic off main roads, to provide convenient

access between business and rear parking areas, and to provide rear access to buildings for
deliveries.

Way-finding:  The DDA will allocate resources to design, purchase and install way-finding 
signage for the Downtown. Way-finding signage will direct people to and through the 
Downtown, highlight entryways, and provide directional signs to points of interest in the 
Downtown.  This could also include signage on I-69 near the Morrish Road and Miller Road 
interchanges. 

Public Parking:  The location and amount of parking in the Downtown will be crucial to its 
success and desirability.  Resources will need to be allocated to support development of 
accessible and well-designed public parking lots.  Special attention will be paid to enhancements 
to the parking lots to ensure pedestrian safety and comfort.  Rear yard parking is the priority for 
convenient access to businesses and to ensure street fronts are devoted to building facades. 
Implementation may include land acquisition for new parking lots. 

Sidewalk Improvement Projects: Pedestrian friendly environments are an essential element to 
any successful Downtown. In order to generate a pedestrian friendly environment within the 
DDA, the Plan has identified the following improvements necessary to generate pedestrian 
activity.    The DDA plans to assist the City in any efforts related to these improvements. 

• Sidewalks – 5 foot concrete sidewalks should be provided in areas where there is no
sidewalk available and repaired in areas where current sidewalks are damaged.

• Pathways – 10 foot concrete multi-modal paths are planned along major routes such as
Miller Road and Morrish Road in front of the core commercial areas.  This will also

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 8 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 39 December 7, 2015



allow for outdoor seating areas for local restaurants.  These should complement, not 
replace, existing bike routes within the downtown. 

Transit: Regional transit is provided by Mass Transportation Authority (MTA).  MTA does not 
have a fixed-line extending to Swartz Creek, but curb-to-curb service is available.  If a fixed-
route is extended to the downtown, bus stops should be installed in strategic locations to provide 
shelter for bus riders. Bus stops should not only be a functional element but also aesthetically 
pleasing and designed accordingly with the overall City of Swartz Creek character. Additional 
efforts may include installation of a park and ride lot and bike racks at or near a main bus stop in 
the Downtown.   Any new improvements should compliment any existing or planned facilities 
proposed by MTA in the immediate area. 

Public Facility Improvements 

Water Main, Sanitary Sewer, and Storm Water Drainage Improvements: In order to improve 
these services and ensure adequate access to distribution lines for new development, the DDA 
will assist the City of Swartz Creek in upgrading water mains, sanitary sewer lines, and storm 
water drainage facilities throughout the DDA as needed.  It is anticipated that improvements will 
generally be focused on line extensions to new development areas, particularly on the south side 
of the DDA and along new streets. 

Park Development: In order to develop the Downtown as an active and exciting place to visit and 
to live, parks and recreation must be emphasized. One of the City’s existing parks is located 
within the Downtown and there is also an amphitheater for outdoor concerts.  These are amazing 
assets but the locations do not maximize their potential to create a centralized gathering place for 
residents and visitors.  Parks and recreation is an important element in ensuring the economic 
vitality for uses in the Downtown.  In an effort to achieve this goal, the DDA plans to allocate 
resources to aid the City of Swartz Creek in developing these existing facilities and possibly 
incorporating a new park in the center of downtown for additional opportunities.  This may also 
include land acquisition.   

Wireless Internet Access:  Offering wireless internet access is an invaluable resource that will 
help keep pace with technology and offer attractive services for businesses, residents, and 
businesses.  The DDA has allocated resources to install the necessary equipment to offer this 
service anywhere in the Downtown. 

Community Center:  A new Community Center may be planned in order to expand the facilities 
and programs offered to residents.  To offer a centralized location for all residents, the new 
center should be located within the DDA near other civic uses.  If the facility does locate within 
the DDA, funding has been allocated to aid the new project. 

Library:  Offering the highest quality community facilities is important for the vitality of the 
Downtown because it becomes a draw for residents all over the community to visit or live in 
Downtown.  In the future, upgrades to the Library will be needed to keep pace with technology 
and to ensure a comfortable, relaxing environment and destination for residents.  Since the 
Library is located within the boundaries of the DDA and it is important to the desirability of 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 9 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 40 December 7, 2015



Downtown, resources have been allocated as part of this Plan to contribute to future 
improvements and/or expansion. 

City Hall:  Although the current City Hall is a new facility in the future upgrades may be needed 
to maintain its presence and accessibility to serve the daily needs of businesses and residents also 
in the Downtown.   This Development Plan allocates funds to assist the City in updating City 
Hall in the future to include technological updates as well as any necessary strucutural 
modifications. 

Administration and Planning 

Marketing Plan: In order to promote the Downtown’s image and truly create a regional draw to 
this little known asset, the DDA will allocate resources to generate and implement a marketing 
plan for the Downtown.  

Webpage: The City’s website should be updated to provide a link to a special site devoted to the 
Swartz Creek DDA.  This would include the latest information on restaurants, events, housing, 
shopping, parks, recreation, and services in the Downtown. It should also provide information 
such as investment incentives, available vacancies, development opportunities, and sources of 
employment that will stimulate further economic development within the DDA.   

DDA Promotion: In order to promote the DDA and attract more visitors, newspaper articles, 
travel magazines articles, etc., should be published. This will help promote Downtown Swartz 
Creek as a destination and inform the public about planned development, local events, and 
recently completed projects. 

Events and Festivals: Additional events and festivals should be proposed to take place in 
different areas of the DDA throughout the year such as a farmers’ market that is a regularly 
scheduled event. Adequate promotion of these events should take place by publicizing them in 
local newspapers, the City of Swartz Creek, radio stations, etc. These events will help generate 
community involvement and bring additional visitors to the area. 

Open Space 

Section 17(f) A description of any parts of the development area to be left as open space and the use 
contemplated for the space. 

Areas left as open space includes one City Park at Morrish Road and Holland Street.  Select 
areas around/near future business and residential development will be retained as parkland or 
open space. 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 10 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 41 December 7, 2015



Land and Developer Transactions 

Section 17(g) A description of any portions of the development area which the authority desires to sell, 
donate, exchange, or lease to or from the municipality and the proposed terms. 

Section 17(i) Designation of the person or persons, natural or corporate, to whom all or a portion of the 
development is to be leased, sold, or conveyed in any manner and for whose benefit the project is being 
undertaken, if that information is available to the authority. 

Section 17(k) The procedures for bidding for the leasing, purchasing, or conveying of all or a portion of the 
development upon its completion, if there is no express or implied agreement between the authority and 
persons, natural or corporate, that all or a portion of the development will be leased, sold, or conveyed to 
those persons. 

The DDA does not own any land to donate, exchange or sell within the Development Area. 
They currently have no plans to buy or lease land within the Development Areas.  Should 
acquisition of property be required in the future to accomplish the objectives of the DDA, or 
should the Authority receive property by donation, through purchase, or by any other means of 
acquisition, the Authority will follow Federal, State, and local regulations. 

The City owns the following properties (Refer to Map 3: City Owned Land for locations and 
uses) within the Development Area.  In the future, there may be partnership opportunities 
between the City and the DDA related to these sites. 

58-01-100-020 
58-01-100-026 
58-01-100-027 
58-01-100-028 
58-01-100-031 
58-01-100-033 
58-01-100-042 
58-01-502-059 
58-01-502-089 
58-35-576-032

58-35-576-001 
58-35-576-002 
58-35-576-030 
58-35-576-033 
58-35-576-050 
58-35-576-052 
58-35-576-055 
58-35-576-058 
58-35-576-059 
58-36-300-027

Zoning, Street, and Utility Changes 

Section 17(h) A description of desired zoning changes and changes in streets, street levels, intersections, and 
utilities. 

Zoning: The zoning and future land use designations of the DDA are illustrated on Map 4: 
Zoning and Map 5: Future Land Use included in Appendix A.  There is a mixture of commercial, 
residential, and industrial designations within the Development Area.  Specifically, there is a 
Central Business District limited to properties generally situated at the corner of Morrish Road 
and Miller Road.  Future changes to the zoning designations are not anticipated, however may be 
necessary to implement future projects.  For example, some changes may be needed to allow 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 11 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 42 December 7, 2015



mixed use building or higher density residential development.  The Zoning Ordinance is 
currently being updated by the City and will take into consideration this plan. 

Streets/Utilities:  Future projects will increase traffic volumes on the streets within the DDA. 
Street widening is not anticipated, however intersection improvements may be needed.  Cost 
estimates have been allocated in the project list to accommodate these improvements. 
Specifically, the intersection of Morrish Road and Fortino Drive may require upgrades.  Major 
utility changes are not anticipated.  However, some upgrades to existing lines and minimal 
extension of services may be needed to service new development.  Some money is allocated to 
these minor improvements. 

Development Costs and Financing Capabilities 

Section 17(i) An estimate of the cost of the development, a statement of the proposed method of financing the 
development and the ability of the authority to arrange the financing. 

Estimate for DDA contributions to development areas improvements are provided Table 1 – City 
of Swartz Cree DDA Projects List and Cost Estimates in Appendix B. No private sector 
investment commitments have been made nor have estimates of private sector costs been 
included.  The private sector improvements will be financed through conventional lending 
sources arranged by the developers. 

It is presently planned that the public sector improvements will be financed largely through the 
use of captured tax increments in accordance with a Tax Increment Financing Plan established 
pursuant to Act 197 of 1975, as amended.  It is contemplated that the Authority will issue tax 
increment bonds in accordance with Section 16 of Act 197, and pledge future captured tax 
increments to pay the principal and interest due on such bonds.  A comprehensive discussion of 
tax increment financing for the proposed public improvements is set forth in the Tax Increment 
Financing Plan.  In addition, the Authority intends to explore with the City of Swartz Creek 
alternative or supplementary sources of funding, including the following: 

• County, State or Federal Funding.  The Authority intends to pursue alternate financing from
other governmental entities, such as the Michigan Economic Growth Alliance, Michigan
Economic Development Corporation, and the Department of Natural Resources for the non-
motorized pathways.

• City of Swartz Creek Financing.  It is anticipated that the City of Swartz Creek will finance a
portion of some or all of the projects, using General Fund monies and other revenue as
appropriate.

• Private Developer Financing.  To the extent permitted by law, the City will require
developers to finance public improvements that are made necessary and that would directly
benefit proposed private developments.

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 12 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 43 December 7, 2015



Relocation 

Section 17(l) Estimates of the number of persons residing in the development area and the number of families 
and individual to be displaced.  If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the 
authority, a development plan shall include a survey of the families and individuals. to be displaced, 
including their income and racial composition, a statistical description of the housing supply in the 
community, including the number of private and public units in existence or under construction, the 
condition of those in existence, the number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of 
turnover of the various types of housing and the range of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total 
demand for housing in the community, and the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to 
displaced families and individuals. 

Section 17(m) A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by the development in 
any new housing in the development area. 

Section 17(n) Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by the development and financial 
assistance and reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer 
of title, in accordance with the standards and provisions of the federal uniform relocation assistance and real 
property acquisition policies act of 1970, being Public Law 91-646, 42 U.S.C. sections 4601, et seq. 

Section 17(o)  A plan for compliance with Act No. 227 of the Public Acts of 1972, being sections 213.321 to 
213.332 of the Michigan Compiled Laws. 

Based on the number of housing units, occupancy rates, and average household size, it is 
estimated there are 1,001 individuals living in the Development Area.  Additional residential 
development is planned within the Downtown that will increase these figures in the future. 

Minimum displacement of individuals or families is anticipated as a direct result of DDA 
activities.  Should relocation of individuals, families, or businesses be required in the future, the 
DDA, with the cooperation of the City, will prepare and adopt a formal relocation plan prior to 
the relocation.  The relocation plan will include surveys required by Section 17(l) of Act 197, 
and it will require the provision of relocation payments and other assistance to families, 
individuals, businesses, and non-profit organizations as required by the Uniform Relocation 
Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Act and Michigan Public Act 227 of 1972, as 
amended. 

Other Pertinent Information 

Section 17(p) Other material which the authority, local public agency, or government body deems pertinent 

Section 21 of Act 197 of 1975 requires that a Development Area Citizen's Council be established 
if a proposed Development Area has residing within it 100 or more residents.  Based on a 
population estimate, 1,001 residents were counted, and therefore a Development Area Citizens 
Council is required and has been established.  They have reviewed the plan and offered input 
before adoption. 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 13 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 44 December 7, 2015



The Tax Increment Financing Plan 

SWARTZ CREEK 
DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

GENESEE COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
2015 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 14 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 45 December 7, 2015



Tax Increment Financing Requirement 

Section 14(1) When the authority determines that it is necessary for the achievement of the purposes of this 
act, the authority shall prepare and submit a tax increment financing plan to the governing body of the 
municipality.  The plan shall include a development plan as provided in section 17, a detailed explanation of 
the tax increment procedure, the maximum amount of bonded indebtedness to be incurred, and the duration 
of the program, and shall be in compliance with section 15.  The plan shall contain a statement of the 
estimated impact of tax increment financing on the assessed values of all taxing jurisdictions in which the 
development area is located.  The plan may provide for the use of part of or all of the captured assessed value, 
but the portion intended to be used by the authority shall be clearly stated in the tax increment financing plan.  
The authority or municipality may exclude from captured assessed value growth in property value resulting 
solely from inflation.  The plan shall set forth the method for excluding growth in property value resulting 
solely from inflation. 

Explanation of the Tax Increment Procedure 

Adoption Procedures and Timeline 

Pursuant to the requirements set forth in the Public Act 197 of 1975, as amended, the Downtown 
Development Authority Act (hereinafter referred to as the 'Act'), the following actions have been 
taken:   

• 1980 - City Council adopted ordinance establishing the (DDA).
• Fall 2004 - the new DDA Board was appointed.
• Fall 2005 -  the DACC was appointed.
• The Tax Increment Financing Plan was adopted December 19, 2005.

The Development Plan outlines the boundaries of the Development Area; indicates the location, 
character, and extent of existing and proposed public and private improvements; specifies the 
timing for implementation of proposed improvements; provides estimates of the costs of proposed 
public and private improvements; and addresses relocation needs. 

According to Section 14 of the Act, the Tax Increment Financing Plan (hereinafter referred to as 
the 'Plan') is prepared under the auspices of the DDA.  After reviewing the Plan and making 
modifications, if necessary, it is anticipated that the DDA will forward the Tax Increment 
Financing Plan, together with the Development Plan, to the City Council with a recommendation 
for adoption. 

In accordance with the Act, the City will notify all applicable taxing jurisdictions of the City’s 
intent to adopt the plan.  As necessary, the City will meet with said jurisdictions concerning the 
Plan.  Since they were all notified and given the opportunity to “opt out” as part of the boundary 
amendment process in 2004, the notification process as part of plan development is only a matter 
of procedure.  The City Council will then hold a public hearing.  Following the public hearing, it 
is anticipated that the City Council will take action on the Tax Increment Financing Plan and 
Development Plan.  Action to approve the joint Plan will be by ordinance. 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 15 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 46 December 7, 2015



Detailed Tax Increment Finance Procedures 

Simply stated, tax increment financing will be used to finance public improvements in the 
Development Area by capturing, for a specified period of time, increased tax revenues generated 
largely as a result of the development program which is designed to stimulate private, taxable 
investment in the Development Area.  As private investments add to the tax base within the 
Development Area, the increased tax revenues will be captured by the DDA to be used for the 
purposes outlined in this Plan and in the Development Plan.  

Terms Defined.  The following important terms are defined as part of this Plan. 

• Initial assessed value.  The most recently assessed value, as finally equalized by the State
Board of Equalization, of all the taxable property within the boundaries of the Development
Area at the time the ordinance establishing the Tax Increment Financing Plan is approved.
This is also referred to as the base value.

• Captured assessed value. The amount by which the current assessed value exceeds the base
value.

• Captured taxable value.  When the DDA act was passed and terms were defined, the assessed
value of property for the purposes of calculating property tax was the State Equalized
Valuation (SEV).  This value was applied to the local millage in order to establish property
taxes.  As a result of ‘Proposal A’ (Public Act 415 of 1994), a new formula was developed in
establishing the property value to use when calculating property taxes and is referred to as the
‘taxable value’.  For the purposes of this step in the Tax Increment Financing Plan process,
establishment of the ‘captured assessed value,’ is actually establishment of the ‘captured
taxable value’ and shall be referred to as such throughout the remainder of this Plan.

• Tax increment revenue.  The property tax revenue which is generated as a result of the
difference in value between the base year and the current year.  This tax increment can be
used by the DDA to carry out the Development Plan.

Step One – Establishing the Base Value.  Establishing the 'base year,' which will serve as the 
point of reference for determining future tax increments, is the first step in the tax increment 
financing procedure.  The City Council takes this step at the time it adopts an ordinance 
approving the Tax Increment Financing Plan.   

For the City of Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority, the initial assessed value will 
be the assessed value of all real and personal property in the Development Area as set December 
31, 2004, and equalized by the State of Michigan in May, 2005.  The Plan was adopted on 
December 19, 2005. The amendment includes new base values for properties as of 12/31/2014.

The total base taxable value for the Swartz Creek DDA is $23,295,775. 

From this point forward, all property tax revenue generated from the increases in the value will be 
captured by the Swartz Creek DDA.  That revenue is referred to as the tax increment revenue.  

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 16 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 47 December 7, 2015



Step Two - Estimated Future Captured Taxable Value. As we look to the future, tax increment 
revenue needs to be projected because that establishes the budget for the DDA.  The first step in 
estimating tax increment revenue is to determine the growth in taxable values in the district.  The 
estimates are based on an increase in assessed value of property in the Development Area due to 
factors not directly related to new construction, such as inflationary increases, various market 
factors, changes in the use of property resulting in reassessment, or other factors. In preparing this 
plan, it was conservatively estimated that the annual growth in taxable value due to these factors 
would be 2.0 percent annually.  This projection is provided in column two of Table 2 in 
Appendix B. By 2036, it is estimated that property in the DDA will be valued at $33 million. 

The amount captured by the DDA is the difference between the new values each year subtracted 
from the base value established in Step 1.  These estimates are provided in column three of Table 
2 in Appendix B which indicates the estimated captured taxable value over the next thirty year 
period, ending in 2036.  By 2036, the DDA can expect to capture a taxable value of $3.25 
million.  Possible increases in the value of taxable personal or real property resulting 
from new construction in the Development Area have not been included in the estimates in 
Appendix B. 
Step Three – Estimated Future Tax Increment Revenue – After estimating future captured 
taxable value, the tax increment is determined for each year by applying the total current millage 
rate for all taxing jurisdictions in the Development Area against the captured taxable value.   

The total millage rate used for the DDA capture is 20.5102 mills, plust a 4.9 mil 
assessment that is applied to real property.  As regulated by law, this includes the 
following taxing jurisdictions and noted millage rates.  Taxing jurisdictions collect the tax 
increment revenues in accordance with their normal property tax collection processes and 
schedules, and in turn distribute the revenues to the DDA. 

City of Swartz Creek  
DDA Millage Capture 

Millage Category 2015 Rate 
County - General Operating 5.5072 
County – Paramedics 0.4847 
County – Parks 0.7500 
County – Airport Authority 0.4847 
County – Library Authority 0.9981 
City – General Operating 4.8289 
County – Senior, MSU, Vet. Animal,Health 2.0400 
City – Voted Operating 2.6270 
MTA 0.8000
Community College – General 
Operating 1.3486
Community College - Extra Operating 0.6410 

Total 20.5102 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 17 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 48 December 7, 2015



The tax increment to be collected by the DDA is based on the operating millage of the taxing 
jurisdictions, rather than total millage.  Thus, the debt millage of the taxing jurisdictions will be 
unaffected by this Plan and will continue to generate tax revenue for the taxing jurisdictions.  

Under current law, the DDA is only permitted to capture tax increment revenues from the State 
Education Tax and Swartz Creek School District to the extent necessary to pay debt service on 
eligible obligations or other protected obligations under Act 197.  Since this is the initial 
establishment of the Tax Increment Finance Plan, there is no debt obligation and therefore Swartz 
Creek shall not capture school taxes of any kind. 

Table 2 of Appendix B provides the projection of tax increment revenue based on the 
projected increases in captured taxable values through 2036.  Table 2 also provides this 
same information broken down by taxing jurisdiction.   

In total, the Swartz Creek DDA is projected to generate $3.254 million in tax increment 
revenue over the 30 year term of this plan. This is substantially less that the $7 million 
proposed in the 2005 plan.

Maximum Amount of Bonded Indebtedness 

The DDA may issue tax increment bonds to finance proposed public improvements in 
the Development Area.  The maximum amount of bonded indebtedness to be incurred, subject 
to available increments, will be equal to $12.3 million based on: 

the total costs of the projects described in the Development Plan, as adjusted for inflation,
and contingencies
expenses related to issuance of the bonds, legal and financial counsel, bond printing,
printing of the prospectus, notice of sale, and miscellaneous expenses.

The DDA will seek competent financial counsel to determine the most cost effective and efficient 
manner of securing the required financing. 

A portion of the tax increment revenue available after payment of debt service requirements will 
be used to pay administrative, operating, maintenance, planning, legal, and promotion 
expenditures that have been or are expected to be incurred by the DDA and City for the purposes 
of preparation and implementation of the Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan. 
These costs include advances extended by the City for payment of legal, municipal finance, and 
planning advisors and consultants, plus the past allocation of City staff on work related to the 
DDA.  No other advances have been extended by others that will be repaid from tax increment 
revenues. 

Duration of the Development Program 

This Plan shall continue upon its approval by the City Council for a term of 30 years, unless this 
Plan is amended to extend or shorten its duration.   

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 18 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 49 December 7, 2015



Impact on Taxing Jurisdictions 

Current Revenues for Taxing Jurisdictions 

Currently, the applicable taxing jurisdictions generate a small portion of their total revenue 
from property taxes generated within the Development Area.  Table 2 reveals the tax 
increment revenue generated by taxing jurisdiction. Table 3 indicates the impact of the 2015 
amended boundary.
Property Tax Revenue History and Projections 

Economic growth within the Development Area has been minimal.  This is due to a variety of 
local, regional, and national market factors combined with a lack of infrastructure and other 
amenities necessary to encourage economic growth.  Over the past three years, many parcels 
within the Development Area have experienced only modest or no growth in State Equalized 
Value.  The marketing of properties for commercial purposes if often extended in duration as 
potential buyers weigh the current attributes of the Development Area against those of other 
communities. 

Data examined by the City indicates that property values in the Development Area have generated 
extremely small increases in tax revenues for the applicable taxing jurisdictions.  Since the Tax 
Increment Financing Plan affects only the increase in property values, it follows logically that the 
Tax Increment Financing Plan will have a small impact on any property tax revenues that would 
have been anticipated by and available to the taxing jurisdictions had a Tax Increment Financing 
Plan not been adopted. 

The projected captured revenue from each taxing jurisdiction is set forth in Appendix B. As noted 
earlier, the projections in Appendix B are based on an increase in taxable value at a rate of 2.0 
percent annually.  Upon eventual termination of the DDA, the taxing jurisdictions will reap the 
benefits of the anticipated development.  In the interim, financial benefits will accrue to the other 
taxing jurisdictions as the result of new employment opportunities, housing construction and 
other ancillary development outside the limits of the Development Area, greater stability to the 
area’s future, and related factors.   

Impact on Debt Millage 

As stated earlier, debt millage will be unaffected by this Plan.  Debt millage will continue to 
generate tax revenue for the taxing jurisdictions based on the full current taxable value, rather 
than the base value. 

Revenue Gains upon Completion of Plan 

Completion of the Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan will produce substantial 
increases in property tax revenues for all taxing jurisdictions in the Development Area.  By 
the year 2036, it is estimated that the total taxable value of the Development Area will be over 
$33 million. 

Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 19 December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 50 December 7, 2015



Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Financing Plan 

Page 20 

As indicated, the growth of the Downtown is expected to expand tax revenue for all taxing 
jurisdictions.  Although the taxable value for the Downtown is expected to increase markedly due 
to new project activity attracted through completion of the projects proposed by this Plan, there 
are no firm commitments to date regarding new development projects.  However, it should be 
noted that the City proposes to aggressively pursue new development opportunities coincident 
with the completion of the projects detailed in the Plan.  

Plan for Expenditure of Tax Increment Funds 

The tax increment funds received by the DDA will be used for the purposes outlined in this Plan 
and the Development Plan.  Any additional tax increment revenues generated beyond those 
projected in this Plan will be used as follows: 

1. To further the implementation of the public improvement program, or
2. Redistribution to the applicable taxing jurisdictions, in proportion to the amount of
revenue generated within the district and the millage rate of each taxing jurisdiction in that year. 

In the event that tax increment revenues generated are less than projected, the DDA may: 

1. Collect the captured tax increment revenues until sufficient funds are available to
implement specific public improvements on a pay-as-you-go basis. 
2. Seek supplemental funding sources to help finance the Development Plan.
3. Amend the Development Plan to match the available revenues.

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 51 December 7, 2015



Appendix A: 

Plan Map 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 52 December 7, 2015



Mo
rris

h

Ashl ey

Ingalls

Win ds
or

Cross
Creek

Sc
ho

ol

Applecreek

Sc
ha

fer It a

Miller

Gateway

I 69

Colony

Roundhouse

Maple

Fa
irc

hil
d

Cappy

Bu
rke

sh
ire

Co
un

try
M e

ad
ow

De
po

t

Fr
ed

eri
ck

Wade

Nemer

Ingalls

Schafer

Ho
lla

nd

Mason

HayesFo
rd

B rad y
Latifee

Civic

3rd

Raubi nger

Chapel

Church

Mary
1s

t

2n
d

Springbrook

Mc
La

in

Fortino

Roundhouse

Winsh
al l

Grove

I 69 TO
MORR IS H

I 69 TO
MORRISH

Dragon

Crapo

Bristol

I 69

Sports Creek
Raceway

City of  Swartz Creek
0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05

Miles ®
(Highlighted In Orange)

DDA Amended Parcels December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 53 December 7, 2015



Mo
rris

h

Ashl ey

Ingalls

Win ds
or

Cross
Creek

Sc
ho

ol

Applecreek

Sc
ha

fer It a

Miller

Gateway

I 69

Colony

Roundhouse

Maple

Fa
irc

hil
d

Cappy

Bu
rke

sh
ire

Co
un

try
M e

ad
ow

De
po

t

Fr
ed

eri
ck

Wade

Nemer

Ingalls

Schafer

Ho
lla

nd

Mason

HayesFo
rd

B rad y
Latifee

Civic

3rd

Raubi nger

Chapel

Church

Mary
1s

t

2n
d

Springbrook

Mc
La

in

Fortino

Roundhouse

Winsh
al l

Grove

I 69 TO
MORR IS H

I 69 TO
MORRISH

Dragon

Crapo

Bristol

I 69

Sports Creek
Raceway

City of  Swartz Creek
0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.40.05

Miles ®
(Highlighted In Orange)

DDA Amended Boundaries December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 54 December 7, 2015



Appendix B: 

Plan Tables 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 55 December 7, 2015



Table 1: City of Swartz Creek DDA Projects 
DDA Allocated 

Costs 
Enhancement Improvements 
Miller Road Corridor Enhancement (2,200 feet) $800,000 
Morrish Road Corridor Enhancement $900,000 
Morrish Rd/I-69 Overpass Corridor Enhancement $425,000 
Fortino Road Corridor Enhancement $575,000 
Holland Road Corridor Enhancement $125,000 
Future Road Extensions Corridor Enhancement $325,000 
Burial or Relocation of Overhead Utility Lines $800,000 
I-69/Morrish Rd Gateway Treatment $225,000 
Miller Road (east and west) Gateway Treatment $125,000 
Morrish Road (north and south) Gateway Treatment $125,000 
Property/Structure Acquisition $125,000 
Building Rehabilitation $300,000 
Public Art/Sculptures $175,000 
Update Traffic Signals $250,000 
Façade and Signage Improvements $320,000 
Transportation Improvements 
Traffic Study $25,000 
Street maintenance and repairs $550,000 
Intersection Improvements $725,000 
Road Extensions $725,000 
Alley construction $325,000 
Way-finding $250,000
Public Parking $525,000 
Sidewalks/Pathways $225,000
Transit Enhancement $125,000 
Public Facility Improvements 
Water Main, Sanitary Sewer, and Storm Drainage Improvements $850,000 
Park Development $300,000 
Wireless Internet Access $100,000 
Community Center $300,000 
Library $300,000
City Hall $300,000 
Administration and Planning 
Marketing Plan $20,000 
Webpage Development $10,000 
DDA Promotion $250,000 
Events and Festivals $350,000 
General Administration $450,000 

Total Project Costs $12.3 million 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 56 December 7, 2015



Table 2: City of Swartz Creek DDA Total Projected Revenues By Taxing Jurisdiction
Other

FY TV Capture Gen Op Paramed Parks Senior Health Vets MSU Animal Airport Library MTA Gen Op Voted Op Gen Op SAD* Voted Op Revenue
Base $21,444,882 ‐
2016 $23,295,775 $1,850,893 $10,193 $897 $1,388 $1,296 $1,851 $185 $74 $370 $897 $1,847 $1,481 $2,497 $1,186 $8,938 $329 $4,862 $38,292
2017 $23,761,691 $2,316,809 $12,759 $1,123 $1,738 $1,622 $2,317 $232 $93 $463 $1,123 $2,312 $1,853 $3,125 $1,485 $11,188 $2,352 $6,086 $49,871
2018 $24,236,924 $2,792,042 $15,376 $1,353 $2,094 $1,954 $2,792 $279 $112 $558 $1,353 $2,787 $2,234 $3,766 $1,790 $13,482 $4,415 $7,335 $61,682
2019 $24,721,663 $3,276,781 $18,046 $1,588 $2,458 $2,294 $3,277 $328 $131 $655 $1,588 $3,271 $2,621 $4,420 $2,100 $15,823 $6,520 $8,608 $73,729
2020 $25,216,096 $3,771,214 $20,769 $1,828 $2,828 $2,640 $3,771 $377 $151 $754 $1,828 $3,764 $3,017 $5,087 $2,417 $18,211 $8,667 $9,907 $86,016
2021 $25,720,418 $4,275,536 $23,546 $2,072 $3,207 $2,993 $4,276 $428 $171 $855 $2,072 $4,267 $3,420 $5,768 $2,741 $20,646 $10,856 $11,232 $98,550
2022 $26,234,826 $4,789,944 $26,379 $2,322 $3,592 $3,353 $4,790 $479 $192 $958 $2,322 $4,781 $3,832 $6,462 $3,070 $23,130 $13,089 $12,583 $111,334
2023 $26,759,523 $5,314,641 $29,269 $2,576 $3,986 $3,720 $5,315 $531 $213 $1,063 $2,576 $5,305 $4,252 $7,169 $3,407 $25,664 $15,367 $13,962 $124,374
2024 $27,294,713 $5,849,831 $32,216 $2,835 $4,387 $4,095 $5,850 $585 $234 $1,170 $2,835 $5,839 $4,680 $7,891 $3,750 $28,248 $17,691 $15,368 $137,675
2025 $27,840,608 $6,395,726 $35,223 $3,100 $4,797 $4,477 $6,396 $640 $256 $1,279 $3,100 $6,384 $5,117 $8,628 $4,100 $30,884 $20,061 $16,802 $151,241
2026 $28,397,420 $6,952,538 $38,289 $3,370 $5,214 $4,867 $6,953 $695 $278 $1,391 $3,370 $6,939 $5,562 $9,379 $4,457 $33,573 $22,479 $18,264 $165,079
2027 $28,965,368 $7,520,486 $41,417 $3,645 $5,640 $5,264 $7,520 $752 $301 $1,504 $3,645 $7,506 $6,016 $10,145 $4,821 $36,316 $24,944 $19,756 $179,194
2028 $29,544,675 $8,099,793 $44,607 $3,926 $6,075 $5,670 $8,100 $810 $324 $1,620 $3,926 $8,084 $6,480 $10,927 $5,192 $39,113 $27,459 $21,278 $193,591
2029 $30,135,569 $8,690,687 $47,861 $4,212 $6,518 $6,083 $8,691 $869 $348 $1,738 $4,212 $8,674 $6,953 $11,724 $5,571 $41,966 $30,025 $22,830 $208,276
2030 $30,738,280 $9,293,398 $51,181 $4,505 $6,970 $6,505 $9,293 $929 $372 $1,859 $4,505 $9,276 $7,435 $12,537 $5,957 $44,877 $32,642 $24,414 $223,255
2031 $31,353,046 $9,908,164 $54,566 $4,802 $7,431 $6,936 $9,908 $991 $396 $1,982 $4,802 $9,889 $7,927 $13,366 $6,351 $47,846 $35,311 $26,029 $238,533
2032 $31,980,107 $10,535,225 $58,020 $5,106 $7,901 $7,375 $10,535 $1,054 $421 $2,107 $5,106 $10,515 $8,428 $14,212 $6,753 $50,874 $38,033 $27,676 $254,117
2033 $32,619,709 $11,174,827 $61,542 $5,416 $8,381 $7,822 $11,175 $1,117 $447 $2,235 $5,416 $11,154 $8,940 $15,075 $7,163 $53,962 $40,810 $29,356 $270,012
2034 $33,272,103 $11,827,221 $65,135 $5,733 $8,870 $8,279 $11,827 $1,183 $473 $2,365 $5,733 $11,805 $9,462 $15,955 $7,581 $57,112 $43,642 $31,070 $286,226
2035 $33,937,545 $12,492,663 $68,800 $6,055 $9,369 $8,745 $12,493 $1,249 $500 $2,499 $6,055 $12,469 $9,994 $16,853 $8,008 $60,326 $46,531 $32,818 $302,763

Total $137,128,420 $755,194 $66,466 $102,846 $95,990 $137,128 $13,713 $5,485 $27,426 $66,466 $136,868 $109,703 $184,986 $87,899 $662,179 $441,224 $360,236 $3,253,811
*The special assessment does not levy against personal property, thereby making current capture based upon the real property increment only.

Genesee County Mott City

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 57 December 7, 2015



Table 3: City of Swartz Creek DDA Expansion Projected Impact By Taxing Jurisdiction
Other

FY TV Capture Gen Op Paramed Parks Senior Health Vets MSU Animal Airport Library MTA Gen Op Voted Op Gen Op SAD* Voted Op Revenue
Base $320,275 ‐

2016 $320,275 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
2017 $326,681 $6,406 $35 $3 $5 $4 $6 $1 $0 $1 $3 $6 $5 $9 $4 $31 $31 $17 $163
2018 $333,214 $12,939 $71 $6 $10 $9 $13 $1 $1 $3 $6 $13 $10 $17 $8 $62 $63 $34 $329
2019 $339,878 $19,603 $108 $10 $15 $14 $20 $2 $1 $4 $10 $20 $16 $26 $13 $95 $96 $51 $498
2020 $346,676 $26,401 $145 $13 $20 $18 $26 $3 $1 $5 $13 $26 $21 $36 $17 $127 $129 $69 $671
2021 $353,609 $33,334 $184 $16 $25 $23 $33 $3 $1 $7 $16 $33 $27 $45 $21 $161 $163 $88 $847
2022 $360,682 $40,407 $223 $20 $30 $28 $40 $4 $2 $8 $20 $40 $32 $55 $26 $195 $198 $106 $1,027
2023 $367,895 $47,620 $262 $23 $36 $33 $48 $5 $2 $10 $23 $48 $38 $64 $31 $230 $233 $125 $1,210
2024 $375,253 $54,978 $303 $27 $41 $38 $55 $5 $2 $11 $27 $55 $44 $74 $35 $265 $269 $144 $1,397
2025 $382,758 $62,483 $344 $30 $47 $44 $62 $6 $2 $12 $30 $62 $50 $84 $40 $302 $306 $164 $1,588
2026 $390,413 $70,138 $386 $34 $53 $49 $70 $7 $3 $14 $34 $70 $56 $95 $45 $339 $344 $184 $1,782
2027 $398,222 $77,947 $429 $38 $58 $55 $78 $8 $3 $16 $38 $78 $62 $105 $50 $376 $382 $205 $1,981
2028 $406,186 $85,911 $473 $42 $64 $60 $86 $9 $3 $17 $42 $86 $69 $116 $55 $415 $421 $226 $2,183
2029 $414,310 $94,035 $518 $46 $71 $66 $94 $9 $4 $19 $46 $94 $75 $127 $60 $454 $461 $247 $2,389
2030 $422,596 $102,321 $564 $50 $77 $72 $102 $10 $4 $20 $50 $102 $82 $138 $66 $494 $501 $269 $2,600
2031 $431,048 $110,773 $610 $54 $83 $78 $111 $11 $4 $22 $54 $111 $89 $149 $71 $535 $543 $291 $2,815
2032 $439,669 $119,394 $658 $58 $90 $84 $119 $12 $5 $24 $58 $119 $96 $161 $77 $577 $585 $314 $3,034
2033 $448,462 $128,187 $706 $62 $96 $90 $128 $13 $5 $26 $62 $128 $103 $173 $82 $619 $628 $337 $3,257
2034 $457,432 $137,157 $755 $66 $103 $96 $137 $14 $5 $27 $66 $137 $110 $185 $88 $662 $672 $360 $3,485
2035 $466,580 $146,305 $806 $71 $110 $102 $146 $15 $6 $29 $71 $146 $117 $197 $94 $706 $717 $384 $3,718

Total $1,376,340 $7,580 $667 $1,032 $963 $1,376 $138 $55 $275 $667 $1,374 $1,101 $1,857 $882 $6,646 $6,744 $3,616 $34,974
*The special assessment does not levy against personal property, thereby making current capture $0. Future impacts are not estimated.

Genesee County Mott City

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 58 December 7, 2015



 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix C: 
 

DDA Establishment 
Documentation 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 59 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 60 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 61 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 62 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 63 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 64 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 65 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 66 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 67 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 68 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 69 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 70 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 71 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 72 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 73 December 7, 2015



December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 74 December 7, 2015



DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
Act 197 of 1975

AN ACT to provide for the establishment of a downtown development authority; to prescribe its powers and
duties; to correct and prevent deterioration in business districts; to encourage historic preservation; to authorize the
acquisition and disposal of interests in real and personal property; to authorize the creation and implementation of
development plans in the districts; to promote the economic growth of the districts; to create a board; to prescribe
its powers and duties; to authorize the levy and collection of taxes; to authorize the issuance of bonds and other
evidences of indebtedness; to authorize the use of tax increment financing; to reimburse downtown development
authorities for certain losses of tax increment revenues; and to prescribe the powers and duties of certain state
officials.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1988, Act 425, Imd. Eff. Dec. 27, 1988;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

The People of the State of Michigan enact:

125.1651   Definitions.
Sec. 1.  As used in this act:
(a)  “Advance” means a transfer of funds made by a municipality to an authority or to another person on behalf of

the authority in anticipation of repayment by the authority. Evidence of the intent to repay an advance may include,
but is not limited to, an executed agreement to repay, provisions contained in a tax increment financing plan
approved prior to the advance, or a resolution of the authority or the municipality.

(b)  “Assessed value” means 1 of the following:
(i)  For valuations made before January 1, 1995, the state equalized valuation as determined under the general

property tax act, 1893 PA 206, MCL 211.1 to 211.157.
(ii)  For valuations made after December 31, 1994, the taxable value as determined under section 27a of the

general property tax act, 1893 PA 206, MCL 211.27a.
(c)  “Authority” means a downtown development authority created pursuant to this act.
(d)  “Board” means the governing body of an authority.
(e)  “Business district” means an area in the downtown of a municipality zoned and used principally for business.
(f)  “Captured assessed value” means the amount in any 1 year by which the current assessed value of the project

area, including the assessed value of property for which specific local taxes are paid in lieu of property taxes as
determined in subdivision (y), exceeds the initial assessed value. The state tax commission shall prescribe the
method for calculating captured assessed value.

(g)  “Chief executive officer” means the mayor or city manager of a city, the president or village manager of a
village, or the supervisor of a township or, if designated by the township board for purposes of this act, the
township superintendent or township manager of a township.

(h)  “Development area” means that area to which a development plan is applicable.
(i)  “Development plan” means that information and those requirements for a development set forth in section 17.
(j)  “Development program” means the implementation of the development plan.
(k)  “Downtown district” means an area in a business district that is specifically designated by ordinance of the

governing body of the municipality pursuant to this act.
(l)  “Eligible advance” means an advance made before August 19, 1993.
(m)  “Eligible obligation” means an obligation issued or incurred by an authority or by a municipality on behalf of

an authority before August 19, 1993 and its subsequent refunding by a qualified refunding obligation. Eligible
obligation includes an authority's written agreement entered into before August 19, 1993 to pay an obligation issued
after August 18, 1993 and before December 31, 1996 by another entity on behalf of the authority.

(n)  “Fire alarm system” means a system designed to detect and annunciate the presence of fire, or by-products of
fire. Fire alarm system includes smoke detectors.

(o)  “Fiscal year” means the fiscal year of the authority.
(p)  “Governing body of a municipality” means the elected body of a municipality having legislative powers.
(q)  “Initial assessed value” means the assessed value, as equalized, of all the taxable property within the

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:24 PM Page 1 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 75 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

boundaries of the development area at the time the ordinance establishing the tax increment financing plan is
approved, as shown by the most recent assessment roll of the municipality for which equalization has been
completed at the time the resolution is adopted. Property exempt from taxation at the time of the determination of
the initial assessed value shall be included as zero. For the purpose of determining initial assessed value, property
for which a specific local tax is paid in lieu of a property tax shall not be considered to be property that is exempt
from taxation. The initial assessed value of property for which a specific local tax was paid in lieu of a property tax
shall be determined as provided in subdivision (y). In the case of a municipality having a population of less than
35,000 that established an authority prior to 1985, created a district or districts, and approved a development plan or
tax increment financing plan or amendments to a plan, and which plan or tax increment financing plan or
amendments to a plan, and which plan expired by its terms December 31, 1991, the initial assessed value for the
purpose of any plan or plan amendment adopted as an extension of the expired plan shall be determined as if the
plan had not expired December 31, 1991. For a development area designated before 1997 in which a renaissance
zone has subsequently been designated pursuant to the Michigan renaissance zone act, 1996 PA 376, MCL
125.2681 to 125.2696, the initial assessed value of the development area otherwise determined under this
subdivision shall be reduced by the amount by which the current assessed value of the development area was
reduced in 1997 due to the exemption of property under section 7ff of the general property tax act, 1893 PA 206,
MCL 211.7ff, but in no case shall the initial assessed value be less than zero.

(r)  “Municipality” means a city, village, or township.
(s)  “Obligation” means a written promise to pay, whether evidenced by a contract, agreement, lease, sublease,

bond, or note, or a requirement to pay imposed by law. An obligation does not include a payment required solely
because of default upon an obligation, employee salaries, or consideration paid for the use of municipal offices. An
obligation does not include those bonds that have been economically defeased by refunding bonds issued under this
act. Obligation includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(i)  A requirement to pay proceeds derived from ad valorem property taxes or taxes levied in lieu of ad valorem
property taxes.

(ii)  A management contract or a contract for professional services.
(iii)  A payment required on a contract, agreement, bond, or note if the requirement to make or assume the

payment arose before August 19, 1993.
(iv)  A requirement to pay or reimburse a person for the cost of insurance for, or to maintain, property subject to a

lease, land contract, purchase agreement, or other agreement.
(v)  A letter of credit, paying agent, transfer agent, bond registrar, or trustee fee associated with a contract,

agreement, bond, or note.
(t)  “On behalf of an authority”, in relation to an eligible advance made by a municipality, or an eligible obligation

or other protected obligation issued or incurred by a municipality, means in anticipation that an authority would
transfer tax increment revenues or reimburse the municipality from tax increment revenues in an amount sufficient
to fully make payment required by the eligible advance made by the municipality, or eligible obligation or other
protected obligation issued or incurred by the municipality, if the anticipation of the transfer or receipt of tax
increment revenues from the authority is pursuant to or evidenced by 1 or more of the following:

(i)  A reimbursement agreement between the municipality and an authority it established.
(ii)  A requirement imposed by law that the authority transfer tax increment revenues to the municipality.
(iii)  A resolution of the authority agreeing to make payments to the incorporating unit.
(iv)  Provisions in a tax increment financing plan describing the project for which the obligation was incurred.
(u)  “Operations” means office maintenance, including salaries and expenses of employees, office supplies,

consultation fees, design costs, and other expenses incurred in the daily management of the authority and planning
of its activities.

(v)  “Other protected obligation” means:
(i)  A qualified refunding obligation issued to refund an obligation described in subparagraph (ii), (iii), or (iv), an

obligation that is not a qualified refunding obligation that is issued to refund an eligible obligation, or a qualified
refunding obligation issued to refund an obligation described in this subparagraph.

(ii)  An obligation issued or incurred by an authority or by a municipality on behalf of an authority after August
19, 1993, but before December 31, 1994, to finance a project described in a tax increment finance plan approved by
the municipality in accordance with this act before December 31, 1993, for which a contract for final design is
entered into by or on behalf of the municipality or authority before March 1, 1994 or for which a written agreement
with a developer, titled preferred development agreement, was entered into by or on behalf of the municipality or
authority in July 1993.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:24 PM Page 2 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 76 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(iii)  An obligation incurred by an authority or municipality after August 19, 1993, to reimburse a party to a
development agreement entered into by a municipality or authority before August 19, 1993, for a project described
in a tax increment financing plan approved in accordance with this act before August 19, 1993, and undertaken and
installed by that party in accordance with the development agreement.

(iv)  An obligation incurred by the authority evidenced by or to finance a contract to purchase real property within
a development area or a contract to develop that property within the development area, or both, if all of the
following requirements are met:

(A)  The authority purchased the real property in 1993.
(B)  Before June 30, 1995, the authority enters a contract for the development of the real property located within

the development area.
(C)  In 1993, the authority or municipality on behalf of the authority received approval for a grant from both of

the following:
(I)  The department of natural resources for site reclamation of the real property.
(II)  The department of consumer and industry services for development of the real property.
(v)  An ongoing management or professional services contract with the governing body of a county which was

entered into before March 1, 1994 and which was preceded by a series of limited term management or professional
services contracts with the governing body of the county, the last of which was entered into before August 19, 1993.

(vi)  A loan from a municipality to an authority if the loan was approved by the legislative body of the
municipality on April 18, 1994.

(vii)  Funds expended to match a grant received by a municipality on behalf of an authority for sidewalk
improvements from the Michigan department of transportation if the legislative body of the municipality approved
the grant application on April 5, 1993 and the grant was received by the municipality in June 1993.

(viii)  For taxes captured in 1994, an obligation described in this subparagraph issued or incurred to finance a
project. An obligation is considered issued or incurred to finance a project described in this subparagraph only if all
of the following are met:

(A)  The obligation requires raising capital for the project or paying for the project, whether or not a borrowing is
involved.

(B)  The obligation was part of a development plan and the tax increment financing plan was approved by a
municipality on May 6, 1991.

(C)  The obligation is in the form of a written memorandum of understanding between a municipality and a public
utility dated October 27, 1994.

(D)  The authority or municipality captured school taxes during 1994.
(w)  “Public facility” means a street, plaza, pedestrian mall, and any improvements to a street, plaza, or pedestrian

mall including street furniture and beautification, park, parking facility, recreational facility, right-of-way, structure,
waterway, bridge, lake, pond, canal, utility line or pipe, building, and access routes to any of the foregoing,
designed and dedicated to use by the public generally, or used by a public agency. Public facility includes an
improvement to a facility used by the public or a public facility as those terms are defined in section 1 of 1966 PA
1, MCL 125.1351, which improvement is made to comply with the barrier free design requirements of the state
construction code promulgated under the Stille-DeRossett-Hale single state construction code act, 1972 PA 230,
MCL 125.1501 to 125.1531.

(x)  “Qualified refunding obligation” means an obligation issued or incurred by an authority or by a municipality
on behalf of an authority to refund an obligation if the refunding obligation meets both of the following:

(i)  The net present value of the principal and interest to be paid on the refunding obligation, including the cost of
issuance, will be less than the net present value of the principal and interest to be paid on the obligation being
refunded, as calculated using a method approved by the department of treasury.

(ii)  The net present value of the sum of the tax increment revenues described in subdivision (aa)(ii) and the
distributions under section 13b to repay the refunding obligation will not be greater than the net present value of the
sum of the tax increment revenues described in subdivision (aa)(ii) and the distributions under section 13b to repay
the obligation being refunded, as calculated using a method approved by the department of treasury.

(y)  “Specific local tax” means a tax levied under 1974 PA 198, MCL 207.551 to 207.572, the commercial
redevelopment act, 1978 PA 255, MCL 207.651 to 207.668, the technology park development act, 1984 PA 385,
MCL 207.701 to 207.718, and 1953 PA 189, MCL 211.181 to 211.182. The initial assessed value or current
assessed value of property subject to a specific local tax shall be the quotient of the specific local tax paid divided
by the ad valorem millage rate. However, after 1993, the state tax commission shall prescribe the method for
calculating the initial assessed value and current assessed value of property for which a specific local tax was paid

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:25 PM Page 3 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 77 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

in lieu of a property tax.
(z)  “State fiscal year” means the annual period commencing October 1 of each year.
(aa)  “Tax increment revenues” means the amount of ad valorem property taxes and specific local taxes

attributable to the application of the levy of all taxing jurisdictions upon the captured assessed value of real and
personal property in the development area, subject to the following requirements:

(i)  Tax increment revenues include ad valorem property taxes and specific local taxes attributable to the
application of the levy of all taxing jurisdictions other than the state pursuant to the state education tax act, 1993 PA
331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906, and local or intermediate school districts upon the captured assessed value of real
and personal property in the development area for any purpose authorized by this act.

(ii)  Tax increment revenues include ad valorem property taxes and specific local taxes attributable to the
application of the levy of the state pursuant to the state education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906,
and local or intermediate school districts upon the captured assessed value of real and personal property in the
development area in an amount equal to the amount necessary, without regard to subparagraph (i), to repay eligible
advances, eligible obligations, and other protected obligations.

(iii)  Tax increment revenues do not include any of the following:
(A)  Ad valorem property taxes attributable either to a portion of the captured assessed value shared with taxing

jurisdictions within the jurisdictional area of the authority or to a portion of value of property that may be excluded
from captured assessed value or specific local taxes attributable to such ad valorem property taxes.

(B)  Ad valorem property taxes excluded by the tax increment financing plan of the authority from the
determination of the amount of tax increment revenues to be transmitted to the authority or specific local taxes
attributable to such ad valorem property taxes.

(C)  Ad valorem property taxes exempted from capture under section 3(3) or specific local taxes attributable to
such ad valorem property taxes.

(iv)  The amount of tax increment revenues authorized to be included under subparagraph (ii), and required to be
transmitted to the authority under section 14(1), from ad valorem property taxes and specific local taxes attributable
to the application of the levy of the state education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906, a local school
district or an intermediate school district upon the captured assessed value of real and personal property in a
development area shall be determined separately for the levy by the state, each school district, and each
intermediate school district as the product of sub-subparagraphs (A) and (B):

(A)  The percentage that the total ad valorem taxes and specific local taxes available for distribution by law to the
state, local school district, or intermediate school district, respectively, bears to the aggregate amount of ad valorem
millage taxes and specific taxes available for distribution by law to the state, each local school district, and each
intermediate school district.

(B)  The maximum amount of ad valorem property taxes and specific local taxes considered tax increment
revenues under subparagraph (ii).

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1985, Act 221, Imd. Eff. Jan. 10, 1986;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15,
1994;—Am. 1994, Act 280, Imd. Eff. July 11, 1994;—Am. 1994, Act 330, Imd. Eff. Oct. 14, 1994;—Am. 1994, Act 381, Imd. Eff. Dec. 28,
1994;—Am. 1996, Act 269, Imd. Eff. June 12, 1996;—Am. 1996, Act 454, Imd. Eff. Dec. 19, 1996;—Am. 1997, Act 202, Imd. Eff. Jan. 13,
1998;—Am. 2003, Act 136, Imd. Eff. Aug. 1, 2003;—Am. 2004, Act 66, Imd. Eff. Apr. 20, 2004.

Compiler's note: Enacting section 1 of Act 202 of 1997 provides:
“The provisions of section 1 and section 13b, as amended by this amendatory act, are retroactive and effective for taxes levied after 1993.”
Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1651a   Legislative findings.
Sec. 1a.  The legislature finds all of the following:
(a)  That there exists in this state conditions of property value deterioration detrimental to the state economy and

the economic growth of the state and its local units of government. 
(b)  That government programs are desirable and necessary to eliminate the causes of property value deterioration

thereby benefiting the economic growth of the state.
(c)  That it is appropriate to finance these government programs by means available to the state and local units of

government in the state, including tax increment financing.
(d)  That tax increment financing is a government financing program that contributes to economic growth and

development by dedicating a portion of the increase in the tax base resulting from economic growth and
development to facilities, structures, or improvements within a development area thereby facilitating economic
growth and development.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:25 PM Page 4 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 78 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(e)  That it is necessary for the legislature to exercise its power to legislate tax increment financing as authorized
in this act and in the exercise of this power to mandate the transfer of tax increment revenues by city, village,
township, school district, and county treasurers to authorities created under this act in order to effectuate the
legislative government programs to eliminate property value deterioration and to promote economic growth.

(f)  That halting property value deterioration and promoting economic growth in the state are essential
governmental functions and constitute essential public purposes. 

(g)  That economic development strengthens the tax base upon which local units of government rely and that
government programs to eliminate property value deterioration benefit local units of government and are for the use
of the local units of government.

(h)  That the provisions of this act are enacted to provide a means for local units of government to eliminate
property value deterioration and to promote economic growth in the communities served by those local units of
government.

History: Add. 1988, Act 425, Imd. Eff. Dec. 27, 1988.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 425 of 1988 provides: “This amendatory act is effective beginning with taxes levied in 1989. However, for
taxes levied before 1989, tax increment revenues based on the definition of initial assessed value provided for in this amendatory act that were
received by an authority are validated.”

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1652   Authority; establishment; restriction; public body corporate; powers generally.
Sec. 2.  (1)  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, a municipality may establish 1 authority. If, before

November 1, 1985, a municipality establishes more than 1 authority, those authorities may continue to exist as
separate authorities. Under the conditions described in section 3a, a municipality may have more than 1 authority
within that municipality's boundaries. A parcel of property shall not be included in more than 1 authority created by
this act.

(2)  An authority shall be a public body corporate which may sue and be sued in any court of this state. An
authority possesses all the powers necessary to carry out the purpose of its incorporation. The enumeration of a
power in this act shall not be construed as a limitation upon the general powers of an authority. 

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1985, Act 159, Imd. Eff. Nov. 15, 1985.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1653   Resolution of intent to create and provide for operation of authority; public hearing on
proposed ordinance creating authority and designating boundaries of downtown district;
notice; exemption of taxes from capture; adoption, filing, and publication of ordinance; altering
or amending boundaries.
Sec. 3.  (1)  When the governing body of a municipality determines that it is necessary for the best interests of the

public to halt property value deterioration and increase property tax valuation where possible in its business district,
to eliminate the causes of that deterioration, and to promote economic growth, the governing body may, by
resolution, declare its intention to create and provide for the operation of an authority.

(2)  In the resolution of intent, the governing body shall set a date for the holding of a public hearing on the
adoption of a proposed ordinance creating the authority and designating the boundaries of the downtown district.
Notice of the public hearing shall be published twice in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality, not
less than 20 or more than 40 days before the date of the hearing. Not less than 20 days before the hearing, the
governing body proposing to create the authority shall also mail notice of the hearing to the property taxpayers of
record in the proposed district and for a public hearing to be held after February 15, 1994 to the governing body of
each taxing jurisdiction levying taxes that would be subject to capture if the authority is established and a tax
increment financing plan is approved. Failure of a property taxpayer to receive the notice shall not invalidate these
proceedings. Notice of the hearing shall be posted in at least 20 conspicuous and public places in the proposed
downtown district not less than 20 days before the hearing. The notice shall state the date, time, and place of the
hearing, and shall describe the boundaries of the proposed downtown district. A citizen, taxpayer, or property owner
of the municipality or an official from a taxing jurisdiction with millage that would be subject to capture has the
right to be heard in regard to the establishment of the authority and the boundaries of the proposed downtown
district. The governing body of the municipality shall not incorporate land into the downtown district not included
in the description contained in the notice of public hearing, but it may eliminate described lands from the downtown
district in the final determination of the boundaries.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:26 PM Page 5 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 79 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(3)  Not more than 60 days after a public hearing held after February 15, 1994, the governing body of a taxing
jurisdiction levying ad valorem property taxes that would otherwise be subject to capture may exempt its taxes from
capture by adopting a resolution to that effect and filing a copy with the clerk of the municipality proposing to
create the authority. The resolution takes effect when filed with that clerk and remains effective until a copy of a
resolution rescinding that resolution is filed with that clerk.

(4)  Not less than 60 days after the public hearing, if the governing body of the municipality intends to proceed
with the establishment of the authority, it shall adopt, by majority vote of its members, an ordinance establishing the
authority and designating the boundaries of the downtown district within which the authority shall exercise its
powers. The adoption of the ordinance is subject to any applicable statutory or charter provisions in respect to the
approval or disapproval by the chief executive or other officer of the municipality and the adoption of an ordinance
over his veto. This ordinance shall be filed with the secretary of state promptly after its adoption and shall be
published at least once in a newspaper of general circulation in the municipality.

(5)  The governing body of the municipality may alter or amend the boundaries of the downtown district to
include or exclude lands from the downtown district pursuant to the same requirements for adopting the ordinance
creating the authority.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1653a   Authority of annexing or consolidated municipality; obligations, agreements, and
bonds.
Sec. 3a.  If a downtown district is part of an area annexed to or consolidated with another municipality, the

authority managing that district shall become an authority of the annexing or consolidated municipality. Obligations
of that authority incurred under a development or tax increment plan, agreements related to a development or tax
increment plan, and bonds issued under this act shall remain in effect following the annexation or consolidation.

History: Add. 1985, Act 159, Imd. Eff. Nov. 15, 1985.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1653b   Ratification and validation of ordinance and actions; applicability of section.
Sec. 3b.  (1)   An ordinance enacted by a municipality that has a population of less than 50,000 establishing an

authority, creating a district, or approving a development plan or tax increment financing plan, or an amendment to
an authority, district, or plan, and all actions taken under that ordinance, including the issuance of bonds, are ratified
and validated notwithstanding that notice for the public hearing on the establishment of the authority, creation of the
district, or approval of the development plan or tax increment financing plan, or on the amendment, was not
published, posted, or mailed at least 20 days before the hearing, if the notice was published or posted at least 15
days before the hearing or the authority was established in 1984 by a village that filed the ordinance with the
secretary of state not later than March, 1986. This section applies only to an ordinance adopted by a municipality
before February 1, 1991, and shall include any bonds or amounts to be used by the authority to pay the principal of
and interest on bonds that have been issued or that are to be issued by the authority, the incorporating municipality,
or a county on behalf of the incorporating municipality. An authority for which an ordinance or amendment to the
ordinance establishing the authority has been published before February 1, 1991 is considered for purposes of
section 3(4) to have promptly filed the ordinance or amendment to the ordinance with the secretary of state if the
ordinance or amendment to the ordinance is filed with the secretary of state before October 1, 1991. As used in this
section, “notice was published” means publication of the notice occurred at least once.

(2)  A development plan and tax increment financing plan approved by a resolution adopted by the village council
of a village having a population of less than 3,000 before June 15, 1988 rather than by adoption of an ordinance is
ratified and validated, if an amendment to the plans was adopted by the village council in compliance with sections
18 and 19.

History: Add. 1989, Act 242, Imd. Eff. Dec. 21, 1989;—Am. 1991, Act 66, Imd. Eff. July 3, 1991;—Am. 1993, Act 42, Imd. Eff. May 27,
1993;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1653c   Proceedings or findings; validity. 
Sec. 3c.  The validity of the proceedings or findings establishing an authority, or of the procedure, adequacy of

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:27 PM Page 6 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 80 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

notice, or findings with respect to the approval of a development plan or tax increment financing plan is conclusive
with respect to the capture of tax increment revenues for an other protected obligation that is a bond issued after
October 1, 1994.

History: Add. 1994, Act 381, Imd. Eff. Dec. 28, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1653d   Establishment or amendment of authority, district, or plan; notice; publication or
posting.
Sec. 3d.  An ordinance enacted by a municipality that has a population of greater than 1,000 and less than 2,000

establishing an authority, creating a district, or approving a development plan or tax increment financing plan, or an
amendment to an authority, district, or plan, and all actions taken or to be taken under that ordinance, including the
issuance of bonds, are ratified and validated notwithstanding that notice for the public hearing on the establishment
of the authority, creation of the district, or approval of the development plan or tax increment financing plan, or on
the amendment, was not published, posted, or mailed at least 20 days before the hearing, provided that the notice
was either published or posted at least 10 days before the hearing or that the authority was established in 1990 by a
municipality that filed the ordinance with the secretary of state not later than July 1991. This section applies only to
an ordinance or an amendment adopted by a municipality before January 1, 1999 and shall include any bonds or
amounts to be used by the authority to pay the principal of and interest on bonds that have been issued or that are to
be issued by the authority or the incorporating municipality. An authority for which an ordinance or amendment to
the ordinance establishing the authority has been published before February 1, 1991 is considered for purposes of
section 3(3) to have promptly filed the ordinance or amendment to the ordinance with the secretary of state if the
ordinance or amendment to the ordinance is filed with the secretary of state before December 31, 2002. The validity
of the proceedings or findings establishing an authority described in this section, or of the procedure, adequacy of
notice, or findings with respect to the approval of a development plan or tax increment financing plan for an
authority described in this section is conclusive with respect to the capture of tax increment revenues for a bond
issued after June 1, 2002 and before June 1, 2006. As used in this section, “notice was either published or posted”
means either publication or posting of the notice occurred at least once.

History: Add. 2002, Act 460, Imd. Eff. June 21, 2002.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1654   Board; appointment, terms, and qualifications of members; vacancy; compensation and
expenses; election of chairperson; oath; conducting business at public meeting; public notice;
special meetings; removal of members; review; expense items and financial records;
availability of writings to public; single board governing all authorities; member as resident or
having interest in property; planning commission serving as board in certain municipalities.
Sec. 4.  (1)  Except as provided in subsections (7) and (8), an authority shall be under the supervision and control

of a board consisting of the chief executive officer of the municipality and not less than 8 or more than 12 members
as determined by the governing body of the municipality. Members shall be appointed by the chief executive officer
of the municipality, subject to approval by the governing body of the municipality. Not less than a majority of the
members shall be persons having an interest in property located in the downtown district. Not less than 1 of the
members shall be a resident of the downtown district, if the downtown district has 100 or more persons residing
within it. Of the members first appointed, an equal number of the members, as near as is practicable, shall be
appointed for 1 year, 2 years, 3 years, and 4 years. A member shall hold office until the member's successor is
appointed. Thereafter, each member shall serve for a term of 4 years. An appointment to fill a vacancy shall be
made by the chief executive officer of the municipality for the unexpired term only. Members of the board shall
serve without compensation, but shall be reimbursed for actual and necessary expenses. The chairperson of the
board shall be elected by the board.

(2)  Before assuming the duties of office, a member shall qualify by taking and subscribing to the constitutional
oath of office.

(3)  The business which the board may perform shall be conducted at a public meeting of the board held in
compliance with the open meetings act, Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 1976, being sections 15.261 to 15.275 of
the Michigan Compiled Laws. Public notice of the time, date, and place of the meeting shall be given in the manner
required by Act No. 267 of the Public Acts of 1976. The board shall adopt rules consistent with Act No. 267 of the

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:27 PM Page 7 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 81 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Public Acts of 1976 governing its procedure and the holding of regular meetings, subject to the approval of the
governing body. Special meetings may be held if called in the manner provided in the rules of the board.

(4)  Pursuant to notice and after having been given an opportunity to be heard, a member of the board may be
removed for cause by the governing body. Removal of a member is subject to review by the circuit court.

(5)  All expense items of the authority shall be publicized monthly and the financial records shall always be open
to the public.

(6)  In addition to the items and records prescribed in subsection (5), a writing prepared, owned, used, in the
possession of, or retained by the board in the performance of an official function shall be made available to the
public in compliance with the freedom of information act, Act No. 442 of the Public Acts of 1976, being sections
15.231 to 15.246 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

(7)  By resolution of its governing body, a municipality having more than 1 authority may establish a single board
to govern all authorities in the municipality. The governing body may designate the board of an existing authority
as the board for all authorities or may establish by resolution a new board in the same manner as provided in
subsection (1). A member of a board governing more than 1 authority may be a resident of or have an interest in
property in any of the downtown districts controlled by the board in order to meet the requirements of this section.

(8)  By ordinance, the governing body of a municipality that has a population of less than 5,000 may have the
municipality's planning commission created pursuant to Act No. 285 of the Public Acts of 1931, being sections
125.31 to 125.45 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, serve as the board provided for in subsection (1).

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1978, Act 521, Imd. Eff. Dec. 20, 1978;—Am. 1985, Act 159, Imd. Eff. Nov. 15,
1985;—Am. 1987, Act 66, Imd. Eff. June 25, 1987.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1655   Director, acting director, treasurer, secretary, legal counsel, and other personnel.
Sec. 5.  (1)  The board may employ and fix the compensation of a director, subject to the approval of the

governing body of the municipality. The director shall serve at the pleasure of the board. A member of the board is
not eligible to hold the position of director. Before entering upon the duties of his office, the director shall take and
subscribe to the constitutional oath, and furnish bond, by posting a bond in the penal sum determined in the
ordinance establishing the authority payable to the authority for use and benefit of the authority, approved by the
board, and filed with the municipal clerk. The premium on the bond shall be deemed an operating expense of the
authority, payable from funds available to the authority for expenses of operation. The director shall be the chief
executive officer of the authority. Subject to the approval of the board, the director shall supervise, and be
responsible for, the preparation of plans and the performance of the functions of the authority in the manner
authorized by this act. The director shall attend the meetings of the board, and shall render to the board and to the
governing body of the municipality a regular report covering the activities and financial condition of the authority.
If the director is absent or disabled, the board may designate a qualified person as acting director to perform the
duties of the office. Before entering upon the duties of his office, the acting director shall take and subscribe to the
oath, and furnish bond, as required of the director. The director shall furnish the board with information or reports
governing the operation of the authority as the board requires.

(2)  The board may employ and fix the compensation of a treasurer, who shall keep the financial records of the
authority and who, together with the director, shall approve all vouchers for the expenditure of funds of the
authority. The treasurer shall perform such other duties as may be delegated to him by the board and shall furnish
bond in an amount as prescribed by the board.

(3)  The board may employ and fix the compensation of a secretary, who shall maintain custody of the official
seal and of records, books, documents, or other papers not required to be maintained by the treasurer. The secretary
shall attend meetings of the board and keep a record of its proceedings, and shall perform such other duties
delegated by the board.

(4)  The board may retain legal counsel to advise the board in the proper performance of its duties. The legal
counsel shall represent the authority in actions brought by or against the authority.

(5)  The board may employ other personnel deemed necessary by the board.
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1656   Participation of employees in municipal retirement and insurance programs.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:28 PM Page 8 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 82 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Sec. 6.  The employees of an authority shall be eligible to participate in municipal retirement and insurance
programs of the municipality as if they were civil service employees except that the employees of an authority are
not civil service employees.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1657   Powers of board.
Sec. 7.  The board may:
(a)  Prepare an analysis of economic changes taking place in the downtown district.
(b)  Study and analyze the impact of metropolitan growth upon the downtown district.
(c)  Plan and propose the construction, renovation, repair, remodeling, rehabilitation, restoration, preservation, or

reconstruction of a public facility, an existing building, or a multiple-family dwelling unit which may be necessary
or appropriate to the execution of a plan which, in the opinion of the board, aids in the economic growth of the
downtown district.

(d)  Plan, propose, and implement an improvement to a public facility within the development area to comply
with the barrier free design requirements of the state construction code promulgated under the state construction
code act of 1972, Act No. 230 of the Public Acts of 1972, being sections 125.1501 to 125.1531 of the Michigan
Compiled Laws. 

(e)  Develop long-range plans, in cooperation with the agency which is chiefly responsible for planning in the
municipality, designed to halt the deterioration of property values in the downtown district and to promote the
economic growth of the downtown district, and take such steps as may be necessary to persuade property owners to
implement the plans to the fullest extent possible.

(f)  Implement any plan of development in the downtown district necessary to achieve the purposes of this act, in
accordance with the powers of the authority as granted by this act.

(g)  Make and enter into contracts necessary or incidental to the exercise of its powers and the performance of its
duties.

(h)  Acquire by purchase or otherwise, on terms and conditions and in a manner the authority deems proper or
own, convey, or otherwise dispose of, or lease as lessor or lessee, land and other property, real or personal, or rights
or interests therein, which the authority determines is reasonably necessary to achieve the purposes of this act, and
to grant or acquire licenses, easements, and options with respect thereto.

(i)  Improve land and construct, reconstruct, rehabilitate, restore and preserve, equip, improve, maintain, repair,
and operate any building, including multiple-family dwellings, and any necessary or desirable appurtenances
thereto, within the downtown district for the use, in whole or in part, of any public or private person or corporation,
or a combination thereof.

(j)  Fix, charge, and collect fees, rents, and charges for the use of any building or property under its control or any
part thereof, or facility therein, and pledge the fees, rents, and charges for the payment of revenue bonds issued by
the authority. 

(k)  Lease any building or property under its control, or any part thereof.
(l)   Accept grants and donations of property, labor, or other things of value from a public or private source.
(m)  Acquire and construct public facilities.
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1985, Act 221, Imd. Eff. Jan. 10, 1986.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1658   Board serving as planning commission; agenda.
Sec. 8.  If a board created under this act serves as the planning commission under section 2 of Act No. 285 of the

Public Acts of 1931, being section 125.32 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, the board shall include planning
commission business in its agenda.

History: Add. 1987, Act 66, Imd. Eff. June 25, 1987.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1659   Authority as instrumentality of political subdivision.
Sec. 9.  The authority shall be deemed an instrumentality of a political subdivision for purposes of Act No. 227 of

the Public Acts of 1972, being sections 213.321 to 213.332 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:28 PM Page 9 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 83 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1660   Taking, transfer, and use of private property.
Sec. 10.  A municipality may take private property under Act No. 149 of the Public Acts of 1911, as amended,

being sections 213.21 to 213.41 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, for the purpose of transfer to the authority, and
may transfer the property to the authority for use in an approved development, on terms and conditions it deems
appropriate, and the taking, transfer, and use shall be considered necessary for public purposes and for the benefit of
the public.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1661   Financing activities of authority; disposition of money received by authority; municipal
obligations.
Sec. 11.  (1)   The activities of the authority shall be financed from 1 or more of the following sources:
(a)  Donations to the authority for the performance of its functions.
(b)  Proceeds of a tax imposed pursuant to section 12.
(c)  Money borrowed and to be repaid as authorized by sections 13 and 13a.
(d)  Revenues from any property, building, or facility owned, leased, licensed, or operated by the authority or

under its control, subject to the limitations imposed upon the authority by trusts or other agreements.
(e)  Proceeds of a tax increment financing plan, established under sections 14 to 16.
(f)  Proceeds from a special assessment district created as provided by law.
(g)  Money obtained from other sources approved by the governing body of the municipality or otherwise

authorized by law for use by the authority or the municipality to finance a development program.
(h)  Money obtained pursuant to section 13b.
(i)  Revenue from the federal facility development act, Act No. 275 of the Public Acts of 1992, being sections

3.931 to 3.940 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, or revenue transferred pursuant to section 11a of chapter 2 of the
city income tax act, Act No. 284 of the Public Acts of 1964, being section 141.611a of the Michigan Compiled
Laws.

(j)  Revenue from the federal data facility act, Act No. 126 of the Public Acts of 1993, being sections 3.951 to
3.961 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, or revenue transferred pursuant to section 11b of chapter 2 of the city
income tax act, Act No. 284 of the Public Acts of 1964, being section 141.611b of the Michigan Compiled Laws.

(2)  Money received by the authority and not covered under subsection (1) shall immediately be deposited to the
credit of the authority, subject to disbursement pursuant to this act. Except as provided in this act, the municipality
shall not obligate itself, nor shall it ever be obligated to pay any sums from public funds, other than money received
by the municipality pursuant to this section, for or on account of the activities of the authority.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1981, Act 34, Imd. Eff. May 11, 1981;—Am. 1992, Act 279, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18,
1992;—Am. 1993, Act 122, Imd. Eff. July 20, 1993;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1662   Ad valorem tax; borrowing in anticipation of collection.
Sec. 12.  (1)  An authority with the approval of the municipal governing body may levy an ad valorem tax on the

real and tangible personal property not exempt by law and as finally equalized in the downtown district. The tax
shall not be more than 1 mill if the downtown district is in a municipality having a population of 1,000,000 or more,
or not more than 2 mills if the downtown district is in a municipality having a population of less than 1,000,000.
The tax shall be collected by the municipality creating the authority levying the tax. The municipality shall collect
the tax at the same time and in the same manner as it collects its other ad valorem taxes. The tax shall be paid to the
treasurer of the authority and credited to the general fund of the authority for purposes of the authority.

(2)  The municipality may at the request of the authority borrow money and issue its notes under the revised
municipal finance act, 2001 PA 34, MCL 141.2101 to 141.2821, in anticipation of collection of the ad valorem tax
authorized in this section.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1983, Act 86, Imd. Eff. June 16, 1983;—Am. 2002, Act 234, Imd. Eff. Apr. 29, 2002.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:29 PM Page 10 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 84 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

Popular name: DDA

125.1663   Revenue bonds.
Sec. 13.  The authority may borrow money and issue its negotiable revenue bonds therefor pursuant to Act No. 94

of the Public Acts of 1933, as amended, being sections 141.101 to 141.139 of the Michigan Compiled Laws.
Revenue bonds issued by the authority shall not except as hereinafter provided be deemed a debt of the municipality
or the state. The municipality by majority vote of the members of its governing body may pledge its full faith and
credit to support the authority's revenue bonds.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1663a   Borrowing money; issuing revenue bonds or notes; purpose; costs; security; pledge
and lien of pledge valid and binding; filing or recordation not required; tax exemption; bonds or
notes neither liability nor debt of municipality; statement; investment and deposit of bonds and
notes.
Sec. 13a.  (1)   The authority may with approval of the local governing body borrow money and issue its revenue

bonds or notes to finance all or part of the costs of acquiring or constructing property in connection with the
implementation of a development plan in the downtown district or to refund or refund in advance bonds or notes
issued pursuant to this section. The costs which may be financed by the issuance of revenue bonds or notes may
include the cost of purchasing, acquiring, constructing, improving, enlarging, extending, or repairing property in
connection with the implementation of a development plan in the downtown district; any engineering, architectural,
legal, accounting, or financial expenses; the costs necessary or incidental to the borrowing of money; interest on the
bonds or notes during the period of construction; a reserve for payment of principal and interest on the bonds or
notes; and a reserve for operation and maintenance until sufficient revenues have developed. The authority may
secure the bonds and notes by mortgage, assignment, or pledge of the property and any money, revenues, or income
received in connection therewith.

(2)  A pledge made by the authority shall be valid and binding from the time the pledge is made. The money or
property pledged by the authority immediately shall be subject to the lien of the pledge without a physical delivery,
filing, or further act. The lien of such a pledge shall be valid and binding as against parties having claims of any
kind in tort, contract, or otherwise, against the authority, irrespective of whether the parties have notice of the lien.
Neither the resolution, the trust agreement, nor any other instrument by which a pledge is created need be filed or
recorded.

(3)  Bonds or notes issued pursuant to this section shall be exempt from all taxation in this state except inheritance
and transfer taxes, and the interest on the bonds or notes shall be exempt from all taxation in this state,
notwithstanding that the interest may be subject to federal income tax.

(4)  The municipality shall not be liable on bonds or notes of the authority issued pursuant to this section and the
bonds or notes shall not be a debt of the municipality. The bonds or notes shall contain on their face a statement to
that effect. 

(5)  The bonds and notes of the authority may be invested in by all public officers, state agencies and political
subdivisions, insurance companies, banks, savings and loan associations, investment companies, and fiduciaries and
trustees, and may be deposited with and received by all public officers and the agencies and political subdivisions
of this state for any purpose for which the deposit of bonds is authorized.

History: Add. 1981, Act 151, Imd. Eff. Nov. 19, 1981.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1663b   Insufficient tax increment revenues to repay advance or pay obligation; contents,
time, and payment of claim; appropriation and distribution of aggregate amount; limitations;
distribution subject to lien; obligation as debt or liability; certification of distribution amount;
basis for calculation of distributions and claim reports.
Sec. 13b.  (1)    If the amount of tax increment revenues lost as a result of the reduction of taxes levied by local

school districts for school operating purposes required by the millage limitations under section 1211 of the school
code of 1976, 1976 PA 451, MCL 380.1211, reduced by the amount of tax increment revenues received from the
capture of taxes levied under or attributable to the state education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906,

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:29 PM Page 11 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 85 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

will cause the tax increment revenues received in a fiscal year by an authority under section 15 to be insufficient to
repay an eligible advance or to pay an eligible obligation, the legislature shall appropriate and distribute to the
authority the amount described in subsection (5).

(2)  Not less than 30 days before the first day of a fiscal year, an authority eligible to retain tax increment
revenues from taxes levied by a local or intermediate school district or this state or to receive a distribution under
this section for that fiscal year shall file a claim with the department of treasury. The claim shall include the
following information:

(a)  The property tax millage rates levied in 1993 by local school districts within the jurisdictional area of the
authority for school operating purposes.

(b)  The property tax millage rates expected to be levied by local school districts within the jurisdictional area of
the authority for school operating purposes for that fiscal year.

(c)  The tax increment revenues estimated to be received by the authority for that fiscal year based upon actual
property tax levies of all taxing jurisdictions within the jurisdictional area of the authority.

(d)  The tax increment revenues the authority estimates it would have received for that fiscal year if property taxes
were levied by local school districts within the jurisdictional area of the authority for school operating purposes at
the millage rates described in subdivision (a) and if no property taxes were levied by this state under the state
education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906.

(e)  A list and documentation of eligible obligations and eligible advances and the payments due on each of those
eligible obligations or eligible advances in that fiscal year, and the total amount of all the payments due on those
eligible obligations and eligible advances in that fiscal year.

(f)  The amount of money, other than tax increment revenues, estimated to be received in that fiscal year by the
authority that is primarily pledged to, and to be used for, the payment of an eligible obligation or the repayment of
an eligible advance. That amount shall not include excess tax increment revenues of the authority that are permitted
by law to be retained by the authority for purposes that further the development program. However, that amount
shall include money to be obtained from sources authorized by law, which law is enacted on or after December 1,
1993, for use by the municipality or authority to finance a development project.

(g)  The amount of a distribution received pursuant to this act for a fiscal year in excess of or less than the
distribution that would have been required if calculated upon actual tax increment revenues received for that fiscal
year.

(h)  A list and documentation of other protected obligations and the payments due on each of those other protected
obligations in that fiscal year, and the total amount of all the payments due on those other protected obligations in
that fiscal year.

(3)  For the fiscal year that commences after September 30, 1993 and before October 1, 1994, an authority may
make a claim with all information required by subsection (2) at any time after March 15, 1994.

(4)  After review and verification of claims submitted pursuant to this section, amounts appropriated by the state
in compliance with this act shall be distributed as 2 equal payments on March 1 and September 1 after receipt of a
claim. An authority shall allocate a distribution it receives for an eligible obligation issued on behalf of a
municipality to the municipality.

(5)  Subject to subsections (6) and (7), the aggregate amount to be appropriated and distributed pursuant to this
section to an authority shall be the sum of the amounts determined pursuant to subdivisions (a) and (b) minus the
amount determined pursuant to subdivision (c), as follows:

(a)  The amount by which the tax increment revenues the authority would have received for the fiscal year,
excluding taxes exempt under section 7ff of the general property tax act, 1893 PA 206, MCL 211.7ff, if property
taxes were levied by local school districts for school operating purposes at the millage rates described in subsection
(2)(a) and if no property taxes were levied under the state education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to
211.906, exceed the tax increment revenues the authority actually received for the fiscal year.

(b)  A shortfall required to be reported pursuant to subsection (2)(g) that had not previously increased a
distribution.

(c)  An excess amount required to be reported pursuant to subsection (2)(g) that had not previously decreased a
distribution.

(6)  The amount distributed under subsection (5) shall not exceed the difference between the amount described in
subsection (2)(e) and the sum of the amounts described in subsection (2)(c) and (f).

(7)  If, based upon the tax increment financing plan in effect on August 19, 1993, the payment due on eligible
obligations or eligible advances anticipates the use of excess prior year tax increment revenues permitted by law to
be retained by the authority, and if the sum of the amounts described in subsection (2)(c) and (f) plus the amount to

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:30 PM Page 12 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 86 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

be distributed under subsections (5) and (6) is less than the amount described in subsection (2)(e), the amount to be
distributed under subsections (5) and (6) shall be increased by the amount of the shortfall. However, the amount
authorized to be distributed pursuant to this section shall not exceed that portion of the cumulative difference, for
each preceding fiscal year, between the amount that could have been distributed pursuant to subsection (5) and the
amount actually distributed pursuant to subsections (5) and (6) and this subsection.

(8)  A distribution under this section replacing tax increment revenues pledged by an authority or a municipality is
subject to the lien of the pledge, whether or not there has been physical delivery of the distribution.

(9)  Obligations for which distributions are made pursuant to this section are not a debt or liability of this state; do
not create or constitute an indebtedness, liability, or obligation of this state; and are not and do not constitute a
pledge of the faith and credit of this state.

(10)  Not later than July 1 of each year, the authority shall certify to the local tax collecting treasurer the amount
of the distribution required under subsection (5), calculated without regard to the receipt of tax increment revenues
attributable to local or intermediate school district taxes or attributable to taxes levied under the state education tax
act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to 211.906.

(11)  Calculations of distributions under this section and claims reports required to be made under subsection (2)
shall be made on the basis of each development area of the authority.

(12)  The state tax commission may provide that the reimbursement calculations under this section and the
calculation of allowable capture of school taxes shall be made for each calendar year's tax increment revenues using
a 12-month debt payment period used by the authority and approved by the state tax commission. 

History: Add. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994;—Am. 1994, Act 280, Imd. Eff. July 11, 1994;—Am. 1996, Act 269, Imd. Eff. June 12,
1996;—Am. 1996, Act 454, Imd. Eff. Dec. 19, 1996;—Am. 1997, Act 202, Imd. Eff. Jan. 13, 1998.

Compiler's note: Enacting section 1 of Act 202 of 1997 provides:
“The provisions of section 1 and section 13b, as amended by this amendatory act, are retroactive and effective for taxes levied after 1993.”
Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1664   Tax increment financing plan; preparation and contents; limitation; definition; public
hearing; fiscal and economic implications; recommendations; agreements; modification of
plan. 
Sec. 14.  (1)   When the authority determines that it is necessary for the achievement of the purposes of this act,

the authority shall prepare and submit a tax increment financing plan to the governing body of the municipality. The
plan shall include a development plan as provided in section 17, a detailed explanation of the tax increment
procedure, the maximum amount of bonded indebtedness to be incurred, and the duration of the program, and shall
be in compliance with section 15. The plan shall contain a statement of the estimated impact of tax increment
financing on the assessed values of all taxing jurisdictions in which the development area is located. The plan may
provide for the use of part or all of the captured assessed value, but the portion intended to be used by the authority
shall be clearly stated in the tax increment financing plan. The authority or municipality may exclude from captured
assessed value growth in property value resulting solely from inflation. The plan shall set forth the method for
excluding growth in property value resulting solely from inflation. 

(2)  The percentage of taxes levied for school operating purposes that is captured and used by the tax increment
financing plan shall not be greater than the plan's percentage capture and use of taxes levied by a municipality or
county for operating purposes. For purposes of the previous sentence, taxes levied by a county for operating
purposes include only millage allocated for county or charter county purposes under the property tax limitation act,
Act No. 62 of the Public Acts of 1933, being sections 211.201 to 211.217a of the Michigan Compiled Laws. For
purposes of this subsection, tax increment revenues used to pay bonds issued by a municipality under section 16(1)
shall be considered to be used by the tax increment financing plan rather than shared with the municipality. The
limitation of this subsection does not apply to the portion of the captured assessed value shared pursuant to an
agreement entered into before 1989 with a county or with a city in which an enterprise zone is approved under
section 13 of the enterprise zone act, Act No. 224 of the Public Acts of 1985, being section 125.2113 of the
Michigan Compiled Laws.

(3)  Approval of the tax increment financing plan shall be pursuant to the notice, hearing, and disclosure
provisions of section 18. If the development plan is part of the tax increment financing plan, only 1 hearing and
approval procedure is required for the 2 plans together.

(4)  Before the public hearing on the tax increment financing plan, the governing body shall provide a reasonable
opportunity to the taxing jurisdictions levying taxes subject to capture to meet with the governing body. The

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:30 PM Page 13 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 87 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

authority shall fully inform the taxing jurisdictions of the fiscal and economic implications of the proposed
development area. The taxing jurisdictions may present their recommendations at the public hearing on the tax
increment financing plan. The authority may enter into agreements with the taxing jurisdictions and the governing
body of the municipality in which the development area is located to share a portion of the captured assessed value
of the district.

(5)  A tax increment financing plan may be modified if the modification is approved by the governing body upon
notice and after public hearings and agreements as are required for approval of the original plan.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1979, Act 26, Imd. Eff. June 6, 1979;—Am. 1981, Act 34, Imd. Eff. May 11,
1981;—Am. 1986, Act 229, Imd. Eff. Oct. 1, 1986;—Am. 1988, Act 425, Imd. Eff. Dec. 27, 1988;—Am. 1989, Act 108, Imd. Eff. June 23,
1989;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 425 of 1988 provides: “This amendatory act is effective beginning with taxes levied in 1989. However, for
taxes levied before 1989, tax increment revenues based on the definition of initial assessed value provided for in this amendatory act that were
received by an authority are validated.”

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1665   Transmitting and expending tax increments revenues; reversion of surplus funds;
abolition of tax increment financing plan; conditions; annual report on status of tax increment
financing account; contents; publication.
Sec. 15.  (1)   The municipal and county treasurers shall transmit to the authority tax increment revenues.
(2)  The authority shall expend the tax increment revenues received for the development program only pursuant to

the tax increment financing plan. Surplus funds shall revert proportionately to the respective taxing bodies. These
revenues shall not be used to circumvent existing property tax limitations. The governing body of the municipality
may abolish the tax increment financing plan when it finds that the purposes for which it was established are
accomplished. However, the tax increment financing plan shall not be abolished until the principal of, and interest
on, bonds issued pursuant to section 16 have been paid or funds sufficient to make the payment have been
segregated. 

(3)  Annually the authority shall submit to the governing body of the municipality and the state tax commission a
report on the status of the tax increment financing account. The report shall be published in a newspaper of general
circulation in the municipality and shall include the following:

(a)  The amount and source of revenue in the account.
(b)  The amount in any bond reserve account.
(c)  The amount and purpose of expenditures from the account.
(d)  The amount of principal and interest on any outstanding bonded indebtedness.
(e)  The initial assessed value of the project area.
(f)  The captured assessed value retained by the authority.
(g)  The tax increment revenues received.
(h)  The number of jobs created as a result of the implementation of the tax increment financing plan.
(i)  Any additional information the governing body or the state tax commission considers necessary. 
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1979, Act 26, Imd. Eff. June 6, 1979;—Am. 1981, Act 34, Imd. Eff. May 11,

1981;—Am. 1986, Act 229, Imd. Eff. Oct. 1, 1986;—Am. 1988, Act 425, Imd. Eff. Dec. 27, 1988;—Am. 1992, Act 279, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18,
1992;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 425 of 1988 provides: “This amendatory act is effective beginning with taxes levied in 1989. However, for
taxes levied before 1989, tax increment revenues based on the definition of initial assessed value provided for in this amendatory act that were
received by an authority are validated.”

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1666   General obligation bonds and tax increment bonds; qualified refunding obligation.
Sec. 16.  (1)  The municipality may by resolution of its governing body authorize, issue, and sell general

obligation bonds subject to the limitations set forth in this subsection to finance the development program of the tax
increment financing plan and shall pledge its full faith and credit for the payment of the bonds. The municipality
may pledge as additional security for the bonds any money received by the authority or the municipality pursuant to
section 11. The bonds are subject to the revised municipal finance act, 2001 PA 34, MCL 141.2101 to 141.2821.
Before the municipality may authorize the borrowing, the authority shall submit an estimate of the anticipated tax
increment revenues and other revenue available under section 11 to be available for payment of principal and
interest on the bonds, to the governing body of the municipality. This estimate shall be approved by the governing

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:31 PM Page 14 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 88 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

body of the municipality by resolution adopted by majority vote of the members of the governing body in the
resolution authorizing the bonds. If the governing body of the municipality adopts the resolution authorizing the
bonds, the estimate of the anticipated tax increment revenues and other revenue available under section 11 to be
available for payment of principal and interest on the bonds shall be conclusive for purposes of this section. The
bonds issued under this subsection shall be considered a single series for the purposes of the revised municipal
finance act, 2001 PA 34, MCL 141.2101 to 141.2801.

(2)  By resolution of its governing body, the authority may authorize, issue, and sell tax increment bonds subject
to the limitations set forth in this subsection to finance the development program of the tax increment financing
plan. The tax increment bonds issued by the authority under this subsection shall pledge solely the tax increment
revenues of a development area in which the project is located or a development area from which tax increment
revenues may be used for this project, or both. In addition or in the alternative, the bonds issued by the authority
pursuant to this subsection may be secured by any other revenues identified in section 11 as sources of financing for
activities of the authority that the authority shall specifically pledge in the resolution. However, the full faith and
credit of the municipality shall not be pledged to secure bonds issued pursuant to this subsection. The bond issue
may include a sum sufficient to pay interest on the tax increment bonds until full development of tax increment
revenues from the project and also a sum to provide a reasonable reserve for payment of principal and interest on
the bonds. The resolution authorizing the bonds shall create a lien on the tax increment revenues and other revenues
pledged by the resolution that shall be a statutory lien and shall be a first lien subject only to liens previously
created. The resolution may provide the terms upon which additional bonds may be issued of equal standing and
parity of lien as to the tax increment revenues and other revenues pledged under the resolution. Bonds issued under
this subsection that pledge revenue received under section 11 for repayment of the bonds are subject to the revised
municipal finance act, 2001 PA 34, MCL 141.2101 to 141.2821.

(3)  Notwithstanding any other provision of this act, if the state treasurer determines that an authority or
municipality can issue a qualified refunding obligation and the authority or municipality does not make a good faith
effort to issue the qualified refunding obligation as determined by the state treasurer, the state treasurer may reduce
the amount claimed by the authority or municipality under section 13b by an amount equal to the net present value
saving that would have been realized had the authority or municipality refunded the obligation or the state treasurer
may require a reduction in the capture of tax increment revenues from taxes levied by a local or intermediate school
district or this state by an amount equal to the net present value savings that would have been realized had the
authority or municipality refunded the obligation. This subsection does not authorize the state treasurer to require
the authority or municipality to pledge security greater than the security pledged for the obligation being refunded.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1981, Act 34, Imd. Eff. May 11, 1981;—Am. 1983, Act 34, Imd. Eff. May 10,
1983;—Am. 1985, Act 159, Imd. Eff. Nov. 15, 1985;—Am. 1992, Act 279, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1992;—Am. 1993, Act 122, Imd. Eff. July 20,
1993;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994;—Am. 1996, Act 269, Imd. Eff. June 12, 1996;—Am. 2002, Act 234, Imd. Eff. Apr. 29, 2002.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1667   Development plan; preparation; contents; improvements related to qualified facility.
Sec. 17.  (1)   When a board decides to finance a project in the downtown district by the use of revenue bonds as

authorized in section 13 or tax increment financing as authorized in sections 14, 15, and 16, it shall prepare a
development plan. 

(2)  The development plan shall contain all of the following:
(a)  The designation of boundaries of the development area in relation to highways, streets, streams, or otherwise. 
(b)  The location and extent of existing streets and other public facilities within the development area, shall

designate the location, character, and extent of the categories of public and private land uses then existing and
proposed for the development area, including residential, recreational, commercial, industrial, educational, and
other uses, and shall include a legal description of the development area. 

(c)  A description of existing improvements in the development area to be demolished, repaired, or altered, a
description of any repairs and alterations, and an estimate of the time required for completion.

(d)  The location, extent, character, and estimated cost of the improvements including rehabilitation contemplated
for the development area and an estimate of the time required for completion.

(e)  A statement of the construction or stages of construction planned, and the estimated time of completion of
each stage.

(f)  A description of any parts of the development area to be left as open space and the use contemplated for the
space.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:32 PM Page 15 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 89 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(g)  A description of any portions of the development area that the authority desires to sell, donate, exchange, or
lease to or from the municipality and the proposed terms. 

(h)  A description of desired zoning changes and changes in streets, street levels, intersections, or utilities.
(i)  An estimate of the cost of the development, a statement of the proposed method of financing the development,

and the ability of the authority to arrange the financing. 
(j)  Designation of the person or persons, natural or corporate, to whom all or a portion of the development is to

be leased, sold, or conveyed in any manner and for whose benefit the project is being undertaken if that information
is available to the authority.

(k)  The procedures for bidding for the leasing, purchasing, or conveying in any manner of all or a portion of the
development upon its completion, if there is no express or implied agreement between the authority and persons,
natural or corporate, that all or a portion of the development will be leased, sold, or conveyed in any manner to
those persons.

(l)   Estimates of the number of persons residing in the development area and the number of families and
individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the authority, a
development plan shall include a survey of the families and individuals to be displaced, including their income and
racial composition, a statistical description of the housing supply in the community, including the number of private
and public units in existence or under construction, the condition of those units in existence, the number of
owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of turnover of the various types of housing and the range
of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total demand for housing in the community, and the estimated capacity of
private and public housing available to displaced families and individuals.

(m)  A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by the development in any new
housing in the development area.

(n)  Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by the development and financial assistance and
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer of title, in
accordance with the standards and provisions of the federal uniform relocation assistance and real property
acquisition policies act of 1970, being Public Law 91-646, 42 U.S.C. sections 4601, et seq.

(o)  A plan for compliance with Act No. 227 of the Public Acts of 1972, being sections 213.321 to 213.332 of the
Michigan Compiled Laws.

(p)  Other material that the authority, local public agency, or governing body considers pertinent. 
(3)  A development plan may provide for improvements related to a qualified facility, as defined in the federal

facility development act, Act No. 275 of the Public Acts of 1992, being sections 3.931 to 3.940 of the Michigan
Compiled Laws, that is located outside of the boundaries of the development area but within the district, including
the cost of construction, renovation, rehabilitation, or acquisition of that qualified facility or of public facilities and
improvements related to that qualified facility.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1992, Act 279, Imd. Eff. Dec. 18, 1992;—Am. 1993, Act 122, Imd. Eff. July 20,
1993.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1668   Ordinance approving development plan or tax increment financing plan; public hearing;
notice; record.
Sec. 18.  (1)   The governing body, before adoption of an ordinance approving a development plan or tax

increment financing plan, shall hold a public hearing on the development plan. Notice of the time and place of the
hearing shall be given by publication twice in a newspaper of general circulation designated by the municipality, the
first of which shall be not less than 20 days before the date set for the hearing. Notice of the hearing shall be posted
in at least 20 conspicuous and public places in the downtown district not less than 20 days before the hearing.
Notice shall also be mailed to all property taxpayers of record in the downtown district not less than 20 days before
the hearing.

(2)  Notice of the time and place of hearing on a development plan shall contain: a description of the proposed
development area in relation to highways, streets, streams, or otherwise; a statement that maps, plats, and a
description of the development plan, including the method of relocating families and individuals who may be
displaced from the area, are available for public inspection at a place designated in the notice, and that all aspects of
the development plan will be open for discussion at the public hearing; and other information that the governing
body deems appropriate. At the time set for hearing, the governing body shall provide an opportunity for interested
persons to be heard and shall receive and consider communications in writing with reference thereto. The hearing

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:32 PM Page 16 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 90 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

shall provide the fullest opportunity for expression of opinion, for argument on the merits, and for introduction of
documentary evidence pertinent to the development plan. The governing body shall make and preserve a record of
the public hearing, including all data presented thereat.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1669   Development plan or tax increment financing plan as constituting public purpose;
determination; ordinance; considerations. 
Sec. 19.  (1)   The governing body after a public hearing on the development plan or the tax increment financing

plan, or both, with notice thereof given in accordance with section 18, shall determine whether the development
plan or tax increment financing plan constitutes a public purpose. If it determines that the development plan or tax
increment financing plan constitutes a public purpose, it shall then approve or reject the plan, or approve it with
modification, by ordinance based on the following considerations:

(a)  The findings and recommendations of a development area citizens council, if a development area citizens
council was formed.

(b)  The plan meets the requirements set forth in section 17 (2).
(c)  The proposed method of financing the development is feasible and the authority has the ability to arrange the

financing.
(d)  The development is reasonable and necessary to carry out the purposes of this act.
(e)  The land included within the development area to be acquired is reasonably necessary to carry out the

purposes of the plan and of this act in an efficient and economically satisfactory manner.
(f)  The development plan is in reasonable accord with the master plan of the municipality.
(g)  Public services, such as fire and police protection and utilities, are or will be adequate to service the project

area.
(h)  Changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities are reasonably necessary for the project

and for the municipality.
(2)  Amendments to an approved development plan or tax increment plan must be submitted by the authority to

the governing body for approval or rejection. 
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1670   Notice to vacate.
Sec. 20.  A person to be relocated under this act shall be given not less than 90 days' written notice to vacate

unless modified by court order for good cause.
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1671   Development area citizens council; establishment; appointment and qualifications of
members; representative of development area.
Sec. 21.  (1)   If a proposed development area has residing within it 100 or more residents, a development area

citizens council shall be established at least 90 days before the public hearing on the development or tax increment
financing plan. The development area citizens council shall be established by the governing body and shall consist
of not less than 9 members. The members of the development area citizens council shall be residents of the
development area and shall be appointed by the governing body. A member of a development area citizens council
shall be at least 18 years of age.

(2)  A development area citizens council shall be representative of the development area.
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1672   Development area citizens council; advisory body.
Sec. 22.  A development area citizens council established pursuant to this act shall act an advisory body to the

authority and the governing body in the adoption of the development or tax increment financing plans.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:33 PM Page 17 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 91 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1673   Consultation.
Sec. 23.  Periodically a representative of the authority responsible for preparation of a development or tax

increment financing plan within the development area shall consult with and advise the development area citizens
council regarding the aspects of a development plan, including the development of new housing for relocation
purposes located either inside or outside of the development area. The consultation shall begin before any final
decisions by the authority and the governing body regarding a development or tax increment financing plan. The
consultation shall continue throughout the preparation and implementation of the development or tax increment
financing plan.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1674   Development area citizens council; meetings; notice; record; information and technical
assistance; failure to organize, consult, or advise.
Sec. 24.  (1)   Meetings of the development area citizens council shall be open to the public. Notice of the time

and place of the meetings shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation not less than 5 days
before the dates set for meetings of the development area citizens council. A person present at those meetings shall
have reasonable opportunity to be heard.

(2)  A record of the meetings of a development area citizens council, including information and data presented,
shall be maintained by the council.

(3)  A development area citizens council may request of and receive from the authority information and technical
assistance relevant to the preparation of the development plan for the development area.

(4)  Failure of a development area citizens council to organize or to consult with and be advised by the authority,
or failure to advise the governing body, as provided in this act, shall not preclude the adoption of a development
plan by a municipality if the municipality complies with the other provisions of this act.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1675   Citizens district council as development area citizens council.
Sec. 25.  In a development area where a citizens district council established according to Act No. 344 of the

Public Acts of 1945, as amended, being sections 125.71 to 125.84 of the Michigan Compiled Laws, already exists
the governing body may designate it as the development area citizens council authorized by this act.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1676   Notice of findings and recommendations. 
Sec. 26.  Within 20 days after the public hearing on a development or tax increment financing plan, the

development area citizens council shall notify the governing body, in writing, of its findings and recommendations
concerning a proposed development plan.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1677   Development area citizens council; dissolution.
Sec. 27.  A development area citizens council may not be required and, if formed, may be dissolved in any of the

following situations:
(a)  On petition of not less than 20% of the adult resident population of the development area by the last federal

decennial or municipal census, a governing body, after public hearing with notice thereof given in accordance with
section 18 and by a 2/3 vote, may adopt an ordinance for the development area to eliminate the necessity of a
development area citizens council.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:33 PM Page 18 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 92 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

(b)  When there are less than 18 residents, real property owners, or representatives of establishments located in the
development area eligible to serve on the development area citizens council.

(c)  Upon termination of the authority by ordinance of the governing body.
History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1678   Budget; cost of handling and auditing funds.
Sec. 28.  (1)   The director of the authority shall prepare and submit for the approval of the board a budget for the

operation of the authority for the ensuing fiscal year. The budget shall be prepared in the manner and contain the
information required of municipal departments. Before the budget may be adopted by the board, it shall be
approved by the governing body of the municipality. Funds of the municipality shall not be included in the budget
of the authority except those funds authorized in this act or by the governing body of the municipality.

(2)  The governing body of the municipality may assess a reasonable pro rata share of the funds for the cost of
handling and auditing the funds against the funds of the authority, other than those committed, which cost shall be
paid annually by the board pursuant to an appropriate item in its budget.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1679   Historic sites.
Sec. 29.  (1)  A public facility, building, or structure that is determined by the municipality to have significant

historical interests shall be preserved in a manner as considered necessary by the municipality in accordance with
laws relative to the preservation of historical sites. The preservation of facilities, buildings, or structures determined
to be historic sites by a municipality shall include, at a minimum, equipping the historic site with a fire alarm
system.

(2)  An authority shall refer all proposed changes to the exterior of sites listed on the state register of historic sites
and the national register of historic places to the applicable historic district commission created under the local
historic districts act, 1970 PA 169, MCL 399.201 to 399.215, or the department of history, arts, and libraries for
review.

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 2001, Act 68, Imd. Eff. July 24, 2001;—Am. 2004, Act 66, Imd. Eff. Apr. 20, 2004.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1680   Dissolution of authority; disposition of property and assets; reinstatement of authority;
contesting validity of proceedings, findings, and determinations.
Sec. 30.  (1)   An authority that has completed the purposes for which it was organized shall be dissolved by

ordinance of the governing body. The property and assets of the authority remaining after the satisfaction of the
obligations of the authority belong to the municipality.

(2)  An authority established under this act before December 31, 1988, that is dissolved by ordinance of the
governing body before September 30, 1990 and that is reinstated by ordinance of the governing body after notice
and public hearing as provided in section 3(2) shall not be invalidated pursuant to a claim that, based upon the
standards set forth in section 3(1), a governing body improperly determined that the necessary conditions existed
for the reinstatement of an authority under the act if at the time the governing body established the authority the
governing body determined or could have determined that the necessary conditions existed for the establishment of
an authority under this act or could have determined that establishment of an authority under this act would serve to
promote economic growth and notwithstanding that the boundaries of the downtown district are altered at the time
of reinstatement of the authority.

(3)  In the resolution of intent, the municipality shall set a date for the holding of a public hearing on the adoption
of a proposed ordinance reinstating the authority. The procedure for publishing the notice of hearing, holding the
hearing, and adopting the ordinance reinstating the authority shall be as provided in section 3(2), (4), and (5).

(4)  The validity of the proceedings, findings, and determinations reinstating an authority shall be conclusive
unless contested in a court of competent jurisdiction within 60 days after the last of the following occurs:

(a)  Publication of the ordinance reinstating the authority as adopted.
(b)  Filing of the ordinance reinstating the authority with the secretary of state.
(c)  May 27, 1993.

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:33 PM Page 19 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 93 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

History: 1975, Act 197, Imd. Eff. Aug. 13, 1975;—Am. 1993, Act 42, Imd. Eff. May 27, 1993;—Am. 1993, Act 323, Eff. Mar. 15, 1994.

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

125.1681   Proceedings to compel enforcement of act; rules.
Sec. 31.  (1)   The state tax commission may institute proceedings to compel enforcement of this act.
(2)  The state tax commission may promulgate rules necessary for the administration of this act pursuant to the

administrative procedures act of 1969, Act No. 306 of the Public Acts of 1969, being sections 24.201 to 24.328 of
the Michigan Compiled Laws.

History: Add. 1988, Act 425, Imd. Eff. Dec. 27, 1988.

Compiler's note: Section 2 of Act 425 of 1988 provides: “This amendatory act is effective beginning with taxes levied in 1989. However, for
taxes levied before 1989, tax increment revenues based on the definition of initial assessed value provided for in this amendatory act that were
received by an authority are validated.”

Popular name: Downtown Development Authority Act
Popular name: DDA

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:34 PM Page 20 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 94 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


Table Of Contents

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  — Act 197 of 1975 1

125.1651 Definitions. 4

125.1651a Legislative findings. 5

125.1652 Authority; establishment; restriction; public body corporate; powers generally. 5

125.1653 Resolution of intent to create and provide for operation of authority; public hearing
on proposed ordinance creating authority and designating boundaries of downtown
district; notice; exemption of taxes from capture; adoption, filing, and publication
of ordinance; altering or amending boundaries.

6

125.1653a Authority of annexing or consolidated municipality; obligations, agreements, and
bonds.

6

125.1653b Ratification and validation of ordinance and actions; applicability of section. 6

125.1653c Proceedings or findings; validity. 7

125.1653d Establishment or amendment of authority, district, or plan; notice; publication or
posting.

7

125.1654 Board; appointment, terms, and qualifications of members; vacancy; compensation
and expenses; election of chairperson; oath; conducting business at public meeting;
public notice; special meetings; removal of members; review; expense items and
financial records; availability of writings to public; single board governing all
authorities; member as resident or having interest in property; planning commission
serving as board in certain municipalities.

8

125.1655 Director, acting director, treasurer, secretary, legal counsel, and other personnel. 8

125.1656 Participation of employees in municipal retirement and insurance programs. 9

125.1657 Powers of board. 9

125.1658 Board serving as planning commission; agenda. 9

125.1659 Authority as instrumentality of political subdivision. 10

125.1660 Taking, transfer, and use of private property. 10

125.1661 Financing activities of authority; disposition of money received by authority;
municipal obligations.

10

125.1662 Ad valorem tax; borrowing in anticipation of collection. 11

125.1663 Revenue bonds. 11

125.1663a Borrowing money; issuing revenue bonds or notes; purpose; costs; security; pledge
and lien of pledge valid and binding; filing or recordation not required; tax
exemption; bonds or notes neither liability nor debt of municipality; statement;
investment and deposit of bonds and notes.

11

125.1663b Insufficient tax increment revenues to repay advance or pay obligation; contents,
time, and payment of claim; appropriation and distribution of aggregate amount;
limitations; distribution subject to lien; obligation as debt or liability; certification
of distribution amount; basis for calculation of distributions and claim reports.

13

125.1664 Tax increment financing plan; preparation and contents; limitation; definition;
public hearing; fiscal and economic implications; recommendations; agreements;
modification of plan.

14

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:34 PM Page 21 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 95 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


Table of Contents

125.1665 Transmitting and expending tax increments revenues; reversion of surplus funds;
abolition of tax increment financing plan; conditions; annual report on status of tax
increment financing account; contents; publication.

14

125.1666 General obligation bonds and tax increment bonds; qualified refunding obligation. 15

125.1667 Development plan; preparation; contents; improvements related to qualified
facility.

16

125.1668 Ordinance approving development plan or tax increment financing plan; public
hearing; notice; record.

17

125.1669 Development plan or tax increment financing plan as constituting public purpose;
determination; ordinance; considerations.

17

125.1670 Notice to vacate. 17

125.1671 Development area citizens council; establishment; appointment and qualifications
of members; representative of development area.

17

125.1672 Development area citizens council; advisory body. 18

125.1673 Consultation. 18

125.1674 Development area citizens council; meetings; notice; record; information and
technical assistance; failure to organize, consult, or advise.

18

125.1675 Citizens district council as development area citizens council. 18

125.1676 Notice of findings and recommendations. 18

125.1677 Development area citizens council; dissolution. 19

125.1678 Budget; cost of handling and auditing funds. 19

125.1679 Historic sites. 19

125.1680 Dissolution of authority; disposition of property and assets; reinstatement of
authority; contesting validity of proceedings, findings, and determinations.

20

125.1681 Proceedings to compel enforcement of act; rules. 20

Rendered 6/8/2004 8:32:34 PM Page 22 MCL Complete Through PA 126 of 2004

Courtesy of www.MichiganLegislature.Org© 2004 Legislative Council, State of Michigan
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 96 December 7, 2015

http://www.michiganlegislature.org


 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix D: 
 

List of DDA Parcel  
Numbers and  
Base Values 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 97 December 7, 2015



City of Swartz Creek DDA Taxable Value as of July 16, 2005

address parcel real parcel personal real tax value personal tax value
5279 Morrish 58-01-100-001 $35,350.00
5239 Morrish 58-01-100-005 $84,220.00
5239 Morrish 58-80-389-095 $1,310.00
5239 Morrish 58-80-482-585 $6,110.00
5181 Morrish 58-01-100-007 $36,960.00
5175 Morrish 58-01-100-008 $3,910.00
5167 Morrish 58-01-100-009 $29,840.00
7493 Grove 58-01-100-011 $27,920.00
7503 Grove 58-01-100-012 $22,260.00
5157 Morrish 58-01-100-013 $22,720.00
5151 Morrish 58-01-100-014 $41,950.00
7488 Grove 58-01-100-016 $28,240.00
7494 Grove 58-01-100-017 $41,340.00
7506 Grove 58-01-100-018 $38,860.00
7512 Grove 58-01-100-019 $36,110.00
7512 Grove 58-80-387-591 $970.00
City of SC 58-01-100-020 exempt
5123 Morrish 58-01-100-021 $33,120.00
5073 Morrish 58-01-100-022 $29,620.00
5067 Morrish 58-01-100-023 $16,460.00
5061 Morrish 58-01-100-024 $49,090.00
owner unknown 58-01-100-025 owner unknown
City of SC 58-01-100-026 exempt
City of SC 58-01-100-027 exempt
City of SC 58-01-100-028 exempt
5038 Holland 58-01-100-029 exempt
City of SC 58-01-100-031 exempt
5023 Holland 58-01-100-032 $36,850.00
5023 Holland 58-80-362-585 $9,460.00
City of SC 58-01-100-033 exempt
5017 Holland 58-01-100-034 $37,920.00
5015 Holland 58-01-100-035 $35,460.00
5015 Holland 58-80-433-000 $540.00
5015 Holland 58-80-490-000 $1,500.00
5015 Holland 58-80-717-570 $650.00
8027 Miller 58-01-100-036 $18,040.00
Luea-Miller 58-01-100-037 $5,090.00
8021 Miller 58-01-100-038 $48,320.00
8021 Miller 58-80-437-560 $9,160.00
8015 Miller 58-01-100-039 $13,800.00
8015 Miller 58-80-620-061 $820.00
8013 Miller 58-01-100-040 $42,800.00
8013 Miller 58-80-217-580 $9,730.00
8011 Miller 58-01-100-041 $45,020.00
8011 Miller 58-80-377-561 $14,610.00
8011 Miller 58-80-630-097 $2,110.00
City of SC 58-01-100-042 exempt
owner unknown 58-01-100-044 owner unknown
7589 Miller 58-01-100-045 $51,390.00
5203 Morrish 58-01-100-046 $79,680.00
5203 Morrish 58-80-199-402 $0.00
5203 Morrish 58-80-292-589 $12,350.00
5203 Morrish 58-80-665-072 $16,210.00
5203 Morrish 58-80-745-601 $0.00
7529 Miller 58-01-502-011 $8,060.00
7529 Miller 58-01-502-012 $32,810.00
7543 Miller 58-01-502-013 $32,060.00
7543 Miller 58-80-265-199 $3,560.00
5018 Third 58-01-502-015 $37,690.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 98 December 7, 2015



5018 Third 58-80-242-594 $2,500.00
5036 Third 58-01-502-018 $36,630.00
5036 Third 58-01-502-019 $4,340.00
5036 Third 58-01-502-020 $4,340.00
5021 Second 58-01-502-021 $37,160.00
5021 Second 58-80-657-569 $430.00
5027 Second 58-01-502-022 $34,400.00
5033 Second 58-01-502-023 $53,560.00
7561 Miller 58-01-502-027 $125,110.00
7561 Miller 58-80-687-585 $15,410.00
5020 Second 58-01-502-031 $39,290.00
5028 Second 58-01-502-032 $92,420.00
5036 Second 58-01-502-034 $35,680.00
5044 Second 58-01-502-035 $25,160.00
5044 Second 58-01-502-036 $4,340.00
5027 First 58-01-502-038 $36,110.00
5031 First 58-01-502-039 $45,530.00
5026 First 58-01-502-043 $1,790.00
5036 First 58-01-502-046 $36,630.00
7484 Wade 58-01-502-047 $39,490.00
7484 Wade 58-80-710-083 $6,460.00
7500 Wade 58-01-502-049 $10,080.00
7501 Wade 58-01-502-052 $41,420.00
7501 Wade 58-80-340-088 $530.00
City of SC 58-01-502-059 exempt
5037 Second 58-01-502-081 $36,730.00
Consumers 58-01-502-082 $17,190.00
5019 First 58-01-502-086 $40,670.00
7577 Miller 58-01-502-087 $78,380.00
7577 Miller 58-80-251-596 $2,910.00
7577 Miller 58-80-740-903 $0.00
5026 First 58-01-502-088 $31,100.00
City of SC 58-01-502-089 exempt
5030 First 58-01-502-090 $44,970.00
Waddill 58-01-502-091 $3,910.00
7508 Wade 58-01-502-092 $29,510.00
7479 Wade 58-01-502-093 $33,870.00
7469 Wade 58-01-502-094 $30,690.00
7465 Wade 58-01-502-095 $35,680.00
7459 Wade 58-01-502-096 $34,400.00
7455 Wade 58-01-502-097 $32,070.00
7451 Wade 58-01-502-098 $26,540.00
7445 Wade 58-01-502-099 $48,070.00
7435 Wade 58-01-502-100 $33,000.00
City of SC 58-01-502-101 exempt
5083 Morrish 58-01-502-102 $85,920.00
5083 Morrish 58-80-647-577 $2,300.00
Wade 58-01-502-103 $1,790.00
5099 Morrish 58-01-502-104 $40,240.00
5099 Morrish 58-80-227-585 $24,350.00
O'Brien 58-01-502-105 $7,320.00
5032 Third 58-01-502-112 $58,730.00
7567 Miller 58-01-502-113 $48,210.00
7567 Miller 58-80-363-095 $14,180.00
7485 Wade 58-01-502-116 $57,760.00
5037 First 58-01-502-118 $61,550.00
7474 Wade 58-01-502-119 $44,380.00
7468 Wade 58-01-502-120 $74,560.00
8159 Miller 58-02-200-002 $46,610.00
8132 Ingalls 58-02-200-003 $32,380.00
8126 Ingalls 58-02-200-004 $42,280.00
5086 Morrish 58-02-200-014 $14,860.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 99 December 7, 2015



5116 Morrish 58-02-200-017 $53,200.00
5118 Morrish 58-02-200-018 $30,360.00
5126 Morrish 58-02-200-019 $30,470.00
5130 Morrish 58-02-200-020 $29,840.00
5138 Morrish 58-02-200-021 $50,400.00
5144 Morrish 58-02-200-022 $40,050.00
5152 Morrish 58-02-200-023 $1,177,040.00
5152 Morrish 58-80-587-578 $170.00
5256 Morrish 58-02-200-029 $672,000.00
5256 Morrish 58-80-681-597 $13,840.00
5220 Morrish 58-02-200-030 $42,150.00
5220 Morrish 58-80-765-093 $5,200.00
5208 Morrish 58-02-200-032 $24,310.00
5232 Morrish 58-02-200-033 $114,580.00
5232 Morrish 58-80-530-008 $1,920.00
5232 Morrish 58-80-757-588 $224,510.00
5288 Morrish 58-02-400-002 $123,590.00
5288 Morrish 58-80-681-805 $3,000.00
5280 Morrish 58-02-400-018 $47,760.00
5280 Morrish 58-80-375-087 $4,920.00
8169 Miller 58-02-526-001 $59,170.00
8179 Miller 58-02-526-002 $40,450.00
5021 School 58-02-526-003 $31,320.00
5027 School 58-02-526-004 $44,280.00
5033 School 58-02-526-005 $50,670.00
5039 School 58-02-526-006 $66,650.00
8197 Miller 58-02-526-027 exempt
8127 Miller 58-02-527-001 $25,690.00
8127 Miller 58-80-657-072 $22,500.00
8129 Miller 58-02-527-002 $66,260.00
8129 Miller 58-80-247-578 $14,840.00
8145 Miller 58-02-527-003 $25,590.00
8151 Miller 58-02-527-004 $39,290.00
5020 Brady 58-02-527-005 $40,690.00
5024 Brady 58-02-527-006 $29,090.00
5032 Brady 58-02-527-007 $26,110.00
5038 Brady 58-02-527-008 $25,590.00
5019 Brady 58-02-527-014 $49,480.00
5027 Brady 58-02-527-015 $43,030.00
5031 Brady 58-02-527-016 $33,650.00
8100 Ingalls 58-02-527-022 $25,060.00
8096 Ingalls 58-02-527-023 $19,110.00
8093 Miller 58-02-528-001 $34,610.00
8103 Miller 58-02-528-002 $63,840.00
5021 Ford 58-02-528-003 $27,920.00
Gen Telephone 58-02-528-004 exempt
Gen Telephone 58-02-528-005 exempt
Gen Telephone 58-02-528-006 exempt
5020 Ford 58-02-528-009 $47,200.00
5026 Ford $50,200.00
5006 Ford 58-02-528-011 $34,500.00
5014 Ford 58-02-528-012 $38,440.00
8121 Miller 58-02-528-013 $23,030.00
8121 Miller 58-80-085-000 $240.00
8121 Miller 58-80-008-000 $2,950.00
5032 Ford 58-02-528-014 $37,690.00
8090 Ingalls 58-02-528-015 $44,450.00
5038 Ford 58-02-528-016 $31,100.00
5018 Holland 58-02-529-005 $37,910.00
5019 Hayes 58-02-529-006 $50,980.00
5026 Holland 58-02-529-007 $39,610.00
5026 Holland 58-80-652-587 $7,000.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 100 December 7, 2015



8032 Ingalls 58-02-529-008 $46,410.00
5032 Holland 58-02-529-009 $78,140.00
5044 Morrish 58-02-529-010 $23,680.00
5052 Morrish 58-02-529-011 $45,230.00
5058 Morrish 58-02-529-012 $35,250.00
5018 Hayes 58-02-529-015 $40,350.00
5012 Holland 58-02-529-017 $127,240.00
5012 Holland 58-80-266-000 $25,220.00
8047 Miller 58-02-529-018 $11,460.00
8053 Miller 58-02-529-019 $44,810.00
8053 Miller 58-80-060-078 $2,450.00
8057 Miller 58-02-529-020 $56,810.00
8057 Miller 58-80-687-004 $1,660.00
8067 Miller 58-02-529-021 $45,020.00
8023 Ingalls 58-02-529-022 $24,730.00
8033 Ingalls 58-02-529-023 $29,300.00
City of SC 58-02-529-024 exempt
8077 Miller 58-02-529-025 $65,530.00
8077 Miller 58-80-225-092 $370.00
8083 Miller 58-02-529-026 $37,260.00
8089 Miller 58-02-529-027 $57,760.00
5014 Hayes 58-02-529-028 $31,220.00
5032 Hayes 58-02-529-029 $39,290.00
5038 Hayes 58-02-529-030 $40,990.00
5038 Hayes 58-80-685-093 $270.00
5070 Morrish 58-02-529-031 $32,600.00
5170 Morrish 58-02-530-044 $49,190.00
8012 Maple 58-02-530-045 $67,020.00
8035 Crapo 58-02-530-047 $43,640.00
4062 Morrish 58-35-200-005 $61,830.00
4140 Morrish 58-35-200-007 $462,670.00
4140 Morrish 58-80-007-304 $29,500.00
County Rd Comm 58-35-200-008 exempt
8119 Bristol 58-35-200-009 $151,350.00
8079 Bristol 58-35-200-010 $124,370.00
8065 Bristol 58-35-200-012 $101,440.00
8041 Bristol 58-35-200-013 $89,510.00
8032 Bristol 58-35-200-014 $14,330.00
4048 Morrish 58-35-200-015 $95,350.00
4076 Morrish 58-35-200-016 $11,980.00
4088 Morrish 58-35-200-017 $0.00
4110 Morrish 58-35-200-018 $0.00
4110 Morrish 58-35-200-019 $1,292,280.00
4110 Morrsh 58-80-119-004 $26,355.00
4290 Morrish 58-35-400-001 $3,201,220.00
4290 Morrish 58-80-322-200 $80.00
4290 Morrish 58-80-487-590 $350.00
4290 Morrish 58-80-622-587 $111,850.00
4290 Morrish 58-80-627-587 $23,300.00
4290 Morrish 58-80-747-896 $5,900.00
City of SC 58-35-576-001 exempt
4438 Morrish 58-35-576-002 $35,570.00
4432 Morrish 58-35-576-003 $51,930.00
4426 Morrish 58-35-576-004 $38,970.00
4412 Morrish 58-35-576-005 $47,250.00
4400 Morrish 58-35-576-006 $70,950.00
4394 Morrish 58-35-576-007 $31,220.00
4384 Morrish 58-35-576-008 $32,170.00
4374 Morrish 58-35-576-009 $38,640.00
4366 Morrish 58-35-576-010 $79,880.00
4360 Morrish 58-35-576-011 $38,540.00
4354 Morrish 58-35-576-012 $38,040.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 101 December 7, 2015



4344 Morrish 58-35-576-013 $44,810.00
4336 Morrish 58-35-576-014 $49,270.00
4318 Morrish 58-35-576-015 $58,260.00
4306 Morrish 58-35-576-016 $13,340.00
Morrish 58-35-576-017 $4,860.00
Morrish 58-35-576-018 $5,720.00
4278 Morrish 58-35-576-019 $140,210.00
4278 Morrish 58-80-255-895 $2,990.00
4150 Morrish 58-35-576-020 exempt
4264 Morrish 58-35-576-021 $65,420.00
8118 Miller 58-35-576-023 $72,720.00
8110 Morrish 58-35-576-024 $47,470.00
8104 Miller 58-35-576-025 $40,240.00
8098 Miler 58-35-576-026 $36,110.00
8092 Miller 58-35-576-027 $55,840.00
8084 Miller 58-35-576-028 $35,880.00

58-35-576-029 $102,040.00
8060 Miller 58-80-308-004 $160.00
City of SC 58-35-576-030 exempt
4459 Fortino 58-35-576-031 $241,320.00
Branoff 58-35-576-032 $16,340.00
City of SC 58-35-576-033 exempt
US Post Office 58-35-576-034 exempt
8100 Civic 58-35-576-037 exempt
8056 Miller 58-35-576-038 $53,730.00
8056 Miller 58-80-257-095 $810.00
8048 Miller 58-35-576-039 $115,550.00
8048 Miller 58-80-007-093 $7,500.00
8048 Miller 58-80-335-086 $10,000.00
8048 Miller 58-80-370-091 $25,000.00
8048 Miller 58-80-413-905 $510.00
Groves 58-35-576-040 $32,810.00
Fortino 58-35-576-041 $11,030.00
Fortino 58-35-576-042 $2,630.00
8024 Miller 58-35-576-043 $51,080.00
8024 Miller 58-80-282-560 $40,000.00
Fortino 58-35-576-044 $16,460.00
8014 Miller 58-35-576-045 $21,230.00
8014 Miler 58-80-207-576 $300.00
8012 Miller 58-35-576-046 $49,850.00
8012 Miller 58-80-136-000 $7,500.00
8010 Miller 58-35-576-047 $16,870.00
8010 Miller 58-80-402-562 $520.00
8006 Miller 58-35-576-048 $27,610.00
8006 Miller 58-80-350-065 $7,900.00
8002 Miller 58-35-576-049 $36,630.00
City of SC 58-35-576-050 exempt
4500 Morrish 58-35-576-051 $96,120.00
4500 Morrish 58-80-182-588 $28,480.00
City of SC 58-35-576-052 exempt
Unity Church 58-35-576-053 exempt
Church 58-35-576-054 exempt
City of SC 58-35-576-055 exempt
8138 Miller 58-35-576-057 $338,530.00
8138 Miller 58-80-612-561 $44,490.00
City of SC 58-35-576-058 exempt
City Hall 58-35-576-059 exempt
4013 Morrish 58-36-100-001 $133,080.00
7524 Miller 58-36-300-019 $58,870.00
7530 Miller 58-36-300-020 $50,220.00
7530 Miller 58-80-253-500 $3,980.00
7538 Miller 58-36-300-021 $110,340.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 102 December 7, 2015



7538 Miller 58-80-357-503 $5,000.00
7538 Miller 58-80-347-589 $2,610.00
4485 Frederick 58-36-300-022 $90,070.00
4453 Morrish 58-36-300-023 $31,640.00
4437 Morrish 58-36-300-024 $287,960.00
Church 58-36-300-025 exempt
4379 Morrish 58-36-300-026 $34,610.00
City of SC 58-36-300-027
4345 Morrish 58-36-300-028 $181,360.00
4369 Roundhouse 58-36-300-030 $2,719,460.00
4369 Roundhouse 58-80-047-574 $57,790.00
4463 Morrish 58-36-551-001 $58,410.00
4473 Morrish 58-36-551-002 $48,100.00
Morrish 58-36-551-003 $4,450.00
7579 Mason 58-36-551-004 $35,150.00
7565 Mason 58-36-551-005 $61,700.00
7557 Mason 58-36-551-006 $20,600.00
7553 Mason 58-35-551-007 $17,940.00
7550 Church 58-36-551-008 $38,340.00
7556 Church 58-36-551-009 $29,840.00
7562 Church 58-36-551-010 $19,740.00
7572 Church 58-36-551-011 $36,110.00
7580 Church 58-36-551-012 $57,690.00
7579 Church 58-36-551-013 $27,610.00
7571 Church 58-36-551-014 $36,730.00
7563 Church 58-36-551-015 $30,360.00
7557 Church 58-36-551-016 $29,840.00
7551 Church 58-36-551-017 $32,380.00
4495 Morrish 58-36-552-001 $88,240.00
4495 Morrish 58-80-767-570 $56,310.00
4501 Morrish 58-36-552-002 $24,840.00
4505 Morrish 58-36-552-003 $23,250.00
7594 Miller 58-36-552-004 $72,380.00
7582 Miller 58-36-552-005 $45,230.00
7574 Miller 58-36-552-006 $37,480.00 $1.00
7566 Miller 58-36-552-007 $38,010.00
7562 Miller 58-36-552-008 $32,380.00
7556 Miller 58-36-552-009 $25,490.00
7556 Miller 58-80-385-084 $730.00
7550 Miller 58-36-552-010 $78,380.00
7550 Miller 58-80-538-000 $1,840.00
7550 Miller 58-80-018-001 $3,180.00

Totals $20,548,900.00 $994,156.00

Grand Total $21,543,056.00

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 103 December 7, 2015



 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix E: 
 

Plan Adoption  
Documentation 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 104 December 7, 2015



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 

SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN  
CITY COUNCIL 

 
Notice is hereby given that a Public Hearing of the Swartz Creek City Council 
shall be held on Monday, November 28, 2005, which begins at 7:00 p.m., in the 
City Council Chambers, City Hall, 8083 Civic Drive, Swartz Creek, Michigan, for 
discussion of all aspects concerning the Swartz Creek Downtown Development 
Authority Tax Increment Financing Plan and Development Plan.  These plans are 
available in their entirety for inspection at City Hall, including any and all maps, 
plats, and a description of the development plan. Written comments may be 
submitted prior to or at the public hearing.   See below for details on the 
boundaries of the development district.   
 
      Mary Jo Clark, City Clerk 
      City of Swartz Creek, Michigan 
 

“An Equal Opportunity Employer” 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PUBLISH:  Sunday, November 13, 2005 
PROOF REQUIRED 
THE SWARTZ CREEK NEWS 
 
Please Bill: City of Swartz Creek 
  8083 Civic Dr. 
  Swartz Creek MI 48473 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 105 December 7, 2015



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
SWARTZ CREEK, MICHIGAN 

MINUTES OF THE DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
DATE 10/06/05 

 
The Regular Meeting was called to order at 7:03 by Chairman Asta in the Swartz 
Creek City Council Chambers, 8083 Civic Drive. 
 
 
Board members Present:  Abrams, Asta, Balars, Bueche, Hull, Mardlin, Nemer,  
     Raffaelli, Sharp. 
 
Board members Absent:  None. 
 
Staff Present:  Assistant to the City Manager Zettel 
 
Others Present:  Caryn Wenzara of LSL Planning, Jenny Moench of 
the Development Area Citizens’ Council 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
The minutes for the September 22nd, 2005 meeting were unanimously approved 
after motions by Mr. Abrams and support by Mrs. Balars. 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Mr. Zettel recommended two addendums to the reports and communications 
section of the agenda.  The first was the inclusion of the Veterans’ Memorial Park 
concept plan and the second was the inclusion of a membership solicitation letter 
from the Michigan Downtown Association.   Mr. Hull moved to accept the 
amended agenda, and Mr. Bueche seconded. The agenda was approved 
unanimously. 
 
REPORTS AND COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
DDA Report for the Month of September 
 
Mr. Zettel briefly summarized the report additions for the month of September. 
 
Draft II of the DDA Development and TIF Plan & LSL letter 
 
This document is the culmination of the review of the original draft as delivered on September 
22, 2005. 
 
All LSL billings to the DDA to date (invoice #’s 182-2504-07,182-2504-08,182-2505-08) 
 
Mr. Zettel explained that all current LSL invoices have been attached and are for 
later discussion if the Board so chooses.   

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 106 December 7, 2015



 
Veteran’ Memorial Park Concept Plan 
 
This was included for reference as the park is planned for a location on Paul 
Fortino Drive, across from the Fire Department and north of the bank.   
 
Michigan Downtown Association membership solicitation 
 
This letter and brochure was included for reference in case the Board decides 
that membership in the organization is worth while.   
 
MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
No public comment. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
TIF Plan and Development Plan Review 
 
Caryn Wenzara explained the revisions to the Development and TIF plan page 
by page to the Board.   
 
It was noted that page eight was blank.  Mr. Abrams noted typos on page 
nineteen and twenty of the document.  Caryn noted these for change. 
 
The existing land use map was noted as not reflecting the current use for the 
raceway.  Caryn noted that this zone should be light industrial.   
 
It was noted by Mr. Hull that the parcel on the north-east corner of Ingalls, 
Holland, and Miller was designated for future use as medium residential, but that 
this parcel is parkland.  
 
It was also noted by Sandy Raffaelli that the future land use on the NW corner of 
Miller and Paul Fortino should be investigated for continued residential instead of 
commercial.  As such, it appears that a revisit of the Future Land Use map may 
be order.   
 
At this point, the Board decided that it would be best if the plans were tentatively 
approved by the Board and delivered to the City Council, the DACC, and the 
DDA Board Members received a copy of the finished draft in preparation for a 
public hearing by the City Council in late November.   
 
Resolution 051006-01 (Carried) 
 

Motion by Boardmember Hull, 
Second by Boardmember Mardlin, 

 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 107 December 7, 2015



WHEREAS, the Swartz Creek Downtown Development Authority and the DDA 
Board was established to revitalize the downtown and provide for financing under 
the authority of Act 197 of 1975, as amended; and 
 
WHEREAS, under that authority the Board prepared a development plan and tax 
increment finance plan in accordance with Section 17(1) and Section 14(1); and  
 
WHEREAS, the method of financing is feasible and the Authority has the ability 
to arrange the financing; and  
 
WHEREAS, the proposed development projects are reasonable and necessary 
to carry out the Act; and  
 
WHEREAS, the development plan is in reasonable accord with the master plan 
of the City; and  
 
WHEREAS, public services, such as fire and police protection and utilities, are or 
will be adequate to service the development area; and  
 
WHEREAS, changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities, 
to the extent required by the plan constitutes a public purpose; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the City of Swartz Creek Downtown 
Development Authority recommends to the City Council approval of the 
Development Plan and Tax Increment Finance Plan dated October, 2005 as 
amended.  
 

YES: Abrams, Asta, Balars, Bueche, Hull, Mardlin, Raffaelli, 
Sharp. 
NO: None.  Motion declared carried. 

 
Trip to Mt. Pleasant 
 
Mr. Zettel explained that a Saturday visit to Mt. Pleasant sometime in the next 
month or so was possible.  Mr. Kulick, Director of Planning and Community 
Development in Mt. Pleasant, agreed to guide a tour of the downtown area.  He 
also said that he may be able to get some football tickets to a Central University 
game.  In the mean time, Mr. Kulick is checking his schedule and that of others to 
find potential dates to accommodate the DDA.  The Swartz Creek Board decided 
that the 22nd of October would be good for a meeting in Mt. Pleasant.   
 
At this point, the Board discussed the details of DDA financing and invoices from 
LSL Planning.   
 
Mr. Zettel explained that the City Finance Director recommends that the DDA 
open a separate account and nominate two members of the Board to approve 
and sign invoices.  The Finance Director also stated that a purchasing policy 
should be adopted that would define who writes the DDA’s payable checks, who 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 108 December 7, 2015



signs these checks, and what, if any, thresholds on the amounts that can be 
approved administratively are defined. 
 
Mr. Bueche and Mr. Zettel stated that staff will look into a purchasing policy and 
would also present a resolution to open an account in the DDA’s name at the 
next meeting.  This should assist in making future invoicing and check writing 
more uniform and efficient. 
 
Concerning the LSL bills, Mr. Zettel found it in the best interest of the Board to 
withhold payment till such time that the invoices were resubmitted to reflect more 
detailed and accurate work statements.  Caryn said that this would be done.  She 
also explained to the Board that the invoice amounts are to remain constant, but 
the work description detail would change.   
 
Mr. Asta said that he wanted to see very detailed descriptions concerning the 
work detail and the reimbursement expenses.  Mr. Asta further stated that regular 
activities such as travel to regular meetings should be included in the regular 
work and not included as a reimbursable expense.   
 
Caryn said that this can be accomplished but would have to be defined at the 
beginning of a contract.  She also said that she can handle future invoice 
concerns.  The Board discussed payment of the invoices at this time, and it was 
moved that payment be withheld till new invoices were received. 
 
Resolution No. 050707-02      
 (Carried) 
 

Motion by Boardmember Bueche, 
Second by Boardmember Mardlin, 

 
The Board shall delay payment of the LSL invoices till such time that they were 
resubmitted by LSL and confirmed by the staff.   
 

YES: Abrams, Asta, Balars, Bueche, Hull, Mardlin, Raffaelli, 
Sharp. 
NO: None.  Motion declared carried. 

 
MEETING OPENED TO THE PUBLIC: 
 
No public comment. 
 
REMARKS BY BOARD MEMBERS: 
 
Paul Bueche spoke on the Veterans’ Memorial Park fundraising efforts.   
 
Sandy discussed the idea of a farmers’ market in Swartz Creek.  She said that 
we could use her pavilion during the day.  Paul nominated Mr. Zettel to 
investigate the possibility.   

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 109 December 7, 2015



 
Mr. Sharp apologized to the Board for his previous absences and stated that he 
would be present at future meetings.   
 
Mr. Hull inquired as to when the time for the Mr. Pleasant would be.  There was 
no definitive answer at this time. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chairman Asta declared the meeting adjourned at approximately 8:19 p.m. 
 
 
____________________________ _______________________________ 
Al Asta      Paul D. Bueche 
Chairman      Secretary 
 
 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 110 December 7, 2015



CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK 
ORDINANCE NO.  392 

 
Downtown Development Authority 

Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan No. 1 
 

An ordinance to amend Chapter 6, Article II of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 
Swartz Creek to designate sections 6-21 through 6-25 thereof as “Division 1” and to 
add sections 6-31 through 6-40 designated as “Division 2;” to approve the 
Downtown Development Authority Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan 
No. 1 as prepared and approved by the Downtown Development Authority of the 
City of Swartz Creek. 
 
THE CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK ORDAINS: 
 
Section 1. Amendment of Chapter 6, Article II; Designation of Division 1. 
 
Chapter 6, Article II of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek is hereby 
amended to designate sections 6-21 through 6-25 thereof  as “Division 1.” 
 
Section 2. Amendment of Chapter 6, Article II; Addition of sections 6-31 

through 6-40 approving Downtown Development Authority 
Development and Tax Increment Financing Plan No. 1 

 
Chapter 6, Article II of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Swartz Creek is hereby 
amended to add thereto sections 6-31 through 6-40 to read as follows: 
 

Section  6-31 Definition of Terms 
 
 The terms used in this division and in the Plan shall have the 
meanings assigned to them in the Plan and in section 1 of Public Act 197 of 
the public Acts of 1975, as amended, being MCL 125.1651, et seq (“Act”).   
 
Section  6-32 Public Purposes; Best Interest of the Public 
 
 The city council hereby finds and determines: 
 

(1)  the Plan constitutes a public purpose. 
 

(2) it is in the best interests of the public, in order to halt property 
value deterioration, increase property tax valuation, eliminate 
the cause of property value deterioration and to promote 
economic growth in the development area, to proceed with the 
Plan. 

 
Section  6-32 Review Findings. 
 
 Having determined that the Plan constitutes a public purpose, as 
required by the Act, the city council has considered the various elements of 
the Plan as required by section 19 of the Act and, as a result thereof, the city 
council finds: 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 111 December 7, 2015



 
(1) The Plan meets the requirements set forth in section 17(2) of 

the Act; 
 
(2) The proposed method of financing the development is 

feasible, and the authority has the ability to arrange the 
financing. 

 
(3) The development is reasonable and necessary to carry out the 

purposes of the act. 
 
(4) The amount of captured assessed value estimated to result 

from adoption of the plan is reasonable. 
 
(5) The land included within the development area to be acquired 

(to the extent required by the plan) is reasonably necessary to 
carry out the purposes of the plan and the purposes of the act 
in an efficient and economically satisfactory manner. 

 
(6) The development plan is in reasonable accord with the master 

plan of the village. 
 
(7) Public services such as fire and police protection and utilities, 

are or will be adequate to service the development area. 
 
(8) Changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections and 

utilities (to the extent required by the plan) are reasonably 
necessary for the project and for the village. 

 
Section  6-34 Approval and Adoption of Development and Tax 

Increment Financing Plan 
 
 The Plan is hereby approved and adopted as set forth in Exhibit A 
hereto.  The duration of the Plan shall be thirty (30) years from the effective 
date of the ordinance establishing this division.  A copy of the Plan and any 
amendments thereto shall be maintained on file in the city clerk’s office. 
 
Section  6-35 Boundaries of the Development Area 

 
 The boundaries of the development area, as set forth in the Plan, are 
adopted and confirmed. 
 
Section  6-36 Establishment of Initial Assessed Value 
 
 The initial assessed value for purposes of the Plan shall be the 
assessed value of all real and personal property in the development Area as 
of December 31, 2004, and equalized by the State of Michigan in May, 
2005.  Said initial assessed value is $21,543,055. 
 
Section  6-37 Annual Calculation of Captured Assessed Value 

and Tax Increment Revenues; Payment to the DDA 
 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 112 December 7, 2015



 Each year, within fifteen (15) days following the final equalization of 
property in the development area, the city assessor shall calculate the 
captured assessed value for the development area and report said value to 
the city council and to the DDA.  As real and personal property taxes are 
collected by the city and county treasurers for properties within the 
development area, the tax increment revenue portion of said taxes shall be 
paid to the DDA.  The payments to the DDA shall be made on the date or 
dates on which the city and the county treasurers are required to remit taxes 
to each of the taxing jurisdictions. 
 
Section 6-38  Use of Tax Increment Revenues. 
 
 The DDA shall utilize the tax increment revenues only in accordance 
with the Plan and in the following manner and following order of priority: 
 

(1)  First, if bonds are issued pursuant to the Plan, to pay into the 
debt retirement fund or funds, for all outstanding series of 
bonds issued pursuant to the Plan, an amount equal to the 
interest and principal coming due (in the case of principal, 
whether by maturity or mandatory redemption) prior to the next 
collection of taxes, less any credit for sums on hand in a debt 
retirement fund. 

 
(2) Second, to establish a reserve account for payment of 

principal of an interest on bonds issued pursuant to the Plan to 
the extent required by any resolution authorizing bonds. 

 
(3) Third, to pay the administrative, auditing, legal and operating 

costs of the authority and the City pertaining to the 
development area, including planning and promotion, to the 
extent provided in the annual budget of the DDA. 

 
(4) Fourth, to repay amounts advanced by the City for project 

costs as may be set forth in the Plan, including costs for 
preliminary plans, and fees for other professional services. 

 
(5) Fifth, to pay, to the extent determined desirable by the DDA 

and approved by the City, the cost of completing the public 
improvements as may be set forth in the Plan to the extent 
those costs are not financed from other sources. 

 
(6) Sixth, to pay the cost of any additional amendments to the 

Plan that are determined necessary by the DDA and approved 
by the village council in accordance with the Act. 

 
Section  6-39 Annual report 
 
 Within ninety (90) days after the end of each fiscal year, the DDA 
shall submit to the city council, with copies to each taxing jurisdiction, a 
report on the status of the Plan.  The report shall include the information 

December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 113 December 7, 2015



required by MCL 125.1665(3).  The DDA shall cause a copy of the report to 
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the City. 
 
Section  6-40 Termination of Tax Increment Financing Plan 
 
 As provided in MCL 125.1665(2), the city council may abolish the 
tax increment financing plan when it finds that the purposes for which it 
was established are accomplished.  The tax increment financing plan shall 
not be abolished, however, until the principal of, and interest on, any 
bonds issued pursuant to the Plan have been paid or funds sufficient to 
make the payment have been segregated. 
 

Section 3. Emergency Ordinance; Effective date. 
 
The city council hereby finds that an emergency exists and that it is critical that 
this ordinance become effective as soon as possible in order to meet the public 
purposes of the plan and to timely provide the benefits to be derived by the 
development area.  Therefore, pursuant to section 6.3(a) of the city charter, the 
city council hereby declares this to be an emergency ordinance which shall 
become effective immediately upon publication. 
 
Voting for: 
Voting against: 
Absent: 
 
The ordinance having received the affirmative vote of no less than 5 members of 
the city council, as required by section 6.3 of the city charter, the Mayor declared 
the ordinance adopted as an emergency ordinance. 
 
_________________________________ 
Richard Abrams, Mayor 

 
CERTIFICATION 

 
The foregoing is a true copy of Ordinance #392, an emergency Ordinance, which 
was enacted by the City of Swartz Creek City Council at a regular meeting held 
on Monday the 19th Day of December, 2005 
  
___________________________________ 
Mary Jo Clark, City Clerk 
 

Publish Date:   Dec 25, 
2005 
Swartz Creek News 

 
Effective Date: Dec 25, 
2005 

 
December 3, 2015 DraftCity Council Packet 114 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 115 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 116 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 117 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 118 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 119 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 120 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 121 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 122 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 123 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 124 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 125 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 126 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 127 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 128 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 129 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 130 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 131 December 7, 2015



11/30/2015                            REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK                                      
                                                                                             PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2015                                                      

2015-16 YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE
AMENDED 11/30/2015 BALANCE % BDGT

GL NUMBER  BUDGET NORMAL (ABNORMAL) NORMAL (ABNORMAL) USED

Fund 101 - General Fund 2,259,665.33 1,599,995.64 659,669.69 70.81
TOTAL REVENUES 2,259,665.33 871,490.02 1,388,175.31 38.57
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 202 - Major Street Fund 1,830,486.00 174,733.65 1,655,752.35 9.55
TOTAL REVENUES 2,105,240.00 349,919.01 1,755,320.99 16.62
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (274,754.00)    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 203 - Local Street Fund 159,360.00 93,523.79 65,836.21 58.69
TOTAL REVENUES 159,360.00 32,635.38 126,724.62 20.48
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 226 - Garbage Fund 384,450.00 359,373.02 25,076.98 93.48
TOTAL REVENUES 401,467.00 146,473.69 254,993.31 36.48
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (17,017.00)    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 248 - Downtown Development Fund 45,750.00 30,821.80 14,928.20 67.37
TOTAL REVENUES 36,718.00 5,453.55 31,264.45 14.85
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 9,032.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 265 - Drug Enforcement Fund 7,851.00 0.26 7,850.74 0.00
TOTAL REVENUES 9,251.00 1,962.66 7,288.34 21.22
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (1,400.00)    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 350 - City Hall Debt Fund 103,020.00 102,824.58 195.42 99.81
TOTAL REVENUES 103,020.00 13,315.00 89,705.00 12.92
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 0.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 402 - Fire Equip Replacement Fund 30,060.00 29,980.87 79.13 99.74
TOTAL REVENUES 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 30,060.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

City Council Packet 132 December 7, 2015



11/30/2015                            REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK                                      
                                                                                             PERIOD ENDING 11/30/2015                                                      

2015-16 YTD BALANCE AVAILABLE
AMENDED 11/30/2015 BALANCE % BDGT

GL NUMBER  BUDGET NORMAL (ABNORMAL) NORMAL (ABNORMAL) USED

Fund 590 - Water Supply Fund 1,778,700.00 432,456.02 1,346,243.98 24.31
TOTAL REVENUES 1,804,476.32 641,984.18 1,162,492.14 35.58
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (25,776.32)    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 591 - Sanitary Sewer Fund 1,267,500.00 304,563.30 962,936.70 24.03
TOTAL REVENUES 1,328,869.00 304,146.60 1,024,722.40 22.89
TOTAL EXPENDITURES (61,369.00)    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 661 - Motor Pool Fund 238,120.00 108,667.27 129,452.73 45.64
TOTAL REVENUES 232,013.00 79,363.26 152,649.74 34.21
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 6,107.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 865 - Sidewalks 10,000.00 50.00 9,950.00 0.50
TOTAL REVENUES 9,500.00 0.00 9,500.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 500.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

Fund 866 - Weed Fund 4,000.00 6,490.00 (2,490.00) 162.25
TOTAL REVENUES 1,200.00 890.00 310.00 74.17
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,800.00    
NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

City Council Packet 133 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 134 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 135 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 136 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 137 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 138 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 139 December 7, 2015



12/01/2015                                    CHECK REGISTER FOR CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK                                              
                                                         CHECK DATE FROM 11/01/2015 - 11/30/2015                                              

Check Date Check Vendor Name Description Amount

Bank GEN CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT
11/05/2015 41231 ALDRIDGE TRUCKING CO INC SAND 428.21

11/05/2015 41232 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL MATS, SUPPLIES 32.27
MATS, SUPPLIES 32.12
UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 116.52

180.91

11/05/2015 41233 BELL EQUIPMENT CO REPAIR SWEEPER 939.90
11/05/2015 41234 BRANCHING OUT NURSERY & LANDSCAPING TREES (6) 948.00
11/05/2015 41235 BS & A SOFTWARE ANNUAL SUPPORT MR/TAX 11/1/15-11/1/16 1,573.00
11/05/2015 41236 COMCAST BUSINESS 11/1-11/30/15 PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG 147.80
11/05/2015 41237 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 8011 MILLER RD 22.62
11/05/2015 41238 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 8499 MILLER RD 23.65
11/05/2015 41239 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 8059 FORTINO 67.78
11/05/2015 41240 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 8100 CIVIC DR 858.92
11/05/2015 41241 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/30-10/29/15 A 4510 MORRISH RD 33.73
11/05/2015 41242 CONSUMERS ENERGY 9/30-10/29/15 A 9099 MILLER RD 32.78
11/05/2015 41243 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 8095 CIVIC DR 776.18
11/05/2015 41244 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/30/15 ADJ 5361 WINSHALL DR 22.62
11/05/2015 41245 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 E 8301 CAPPY LN 173.20
11/05/2015 41246 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/30/15 A 5257 WINSHALL DR 22.62
11/05/2015 41247 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/29/15 A 5121 MORRISH RD 751.18
11/05/2015 41248 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/30/15 A WINSHALL RESTROOMS 44.10
11/05/2015 41249 DENNIS MITCHELL TREE REMOVAL (7) 2,400.00
11/05/2015 41250 DONALD KORTH UPDATE COUNCIL LAPTOPS (3) 300.00

11/05/2015 41251 FAMILY FARM AND HOME INC TREE & SHRUB SPIKES 15 PK 11.99
ANTIFREEZE (22) 59.18
ANCHOR (6) 29.94
50:1 OIL 5 GAL (6) 38.28
2 CYCLE OIL (7) 8.33
2 CYCLE OIL (8) 9.52
SLEDGE HAMMER 10.99
RECIP SAW 49.99
RETURN 50:1 OIL (6) (38.28)

179.94

11/05/2015 41252 FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE INSUR/EYEMED NOV 2015 VISION-RETIREES (6)/COBRA (1) 33.19

11/05/2015 41253 GILL ROYS HARDWARE DISINFECTANT WIPES 12.27
CAUTION TAPE 13.99
SCREWDRIVER SET 13.99
NUTS, BOLTS, SCREWS 9.18
WALLPLATE 1.59
YARD WASTE BAGS 1 PK 7.99
SOAP (4)/EARPLUGS (1) DELTA SEAT & SPRIN 30.94
60# MORTAR MIX (2) 11.18
BOWL CLEANER (2)/DISHWASHER GELPACS (1) 11.97
LABOR CUTTING TREADS ON PIPE 5.00
HUMIDIFIER FILTER & TREATMENT/YARD WASTE 75.55
GALV COUPLING 10.99
1 BOX SCREWS 22.99
COPY 400A 3-PACK 16.99
PLASTIC TRAY/RLR COVER 9.58

City Council Packet 140 December 7, 2015



15' LOOP RATCHET TIE-DOWN (2) 15.98
RETURN DRILL BIT (2.59)
COPY 400A 3-PACK RETURN (16.99)
OCT 2015 DISCOUNT (28.39)

222.21

11/05/2015 41254 GILL ROYS HARDWARE 50' CLOTHESLINE 11.98
11/05/2015 41255 GILL ROYS HARDWARE 5 PK TREE SPIKES (5) 44.95
11/05/2015 41256 HYDRO DESIGNS INC WTR CROSS CONN CTRL AND COMPL JULY 2015- 855.00

11/05/2015 41257 JAMS MEDIA LLC HYDRANT FLUSHING 42.30
SIDEWALK NOTICE 42.30
ORDIN #422 143.70
ORDIN #423 42.30
CDBG PUBLIC HEARING 42.30

312.90

11/05/2015 41258 JOHNS TRUCK SERVICE RPLC CNVYR CHAIN & EXST HNGR/REPAIR LIGH 3,388.04
11/05/2015 41259 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES/RESIDENT (1) 830.00
11/05/2015 41260 KCI POSTAGE WINTER 2015 TAX BILLS 663.30
11/05/2015 41261 M & M PAVEMENT MARKING PAVEMENT MARKING 4,557.36

11/05/2015 41262 MICHIGAN METER TECHNOLOGY GRP. INC REGISTER (6) 432.85
FULL FACE OVAL GASKET (6) 15.34

448.19

11/05/2015 41263 MICHIGAN PIPE AND VALVE BREAK STEM CPLG (4) 220.57
PIPE (60) 386.10

606.67

11/05/2015 41264 MUZZALL GRAPHICS A/P LASER CHECKS QTY 2000 232.60
11/05/2015 41265 OHM ADVISORS MILLER-TALMADGE TO DYE THRU 10/10/15 15,448.24
11/05/2015 41266 PURCHASE POWER OCT 2015 POSTAGE/TRANS FEE 1,020.99
11/05/2015 41267 RIETH-RILEY CONSTRUCTION CO INC COLD MILLING/PAVEMENT MARKING MILLER RD 16,642.20
11/05/2015 41268 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO DESIGN ENGINEERING WINSTON DR WATER MAIN 937.50
11/05/2015 41269 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO 2015 MNDR APP-ELMS 1,575.50
11/05/2015 41270 ROWE PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CO INSPECTIONS MORRISH & ELMS BRIDGES 495.00
11/05/2015 41271 SELF SERVE LUMBER CO. TREATED LUMBER/SCREWS/FASTSET PLY 257.06
11/05/2015 41272 SIDNEY CARLISLE UB REFUND FOR 7287 MILLER 93.97
11/05/2015 41273 SW CREEK AREA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE CHAMBER ANNUAL MEMB 2016 159.00

11/05/2015 41274 THOMAS SVRCEK DISH TOWELS AND WASHCLOTHS 9.01
MILEAGE MTG MIDLAND/SVRCEK 80.50

89.51

11/05/2015 41275 VERIZON WIRELESS OCT 2015 MONTHLY INVOICE 416.46
11/12/2015 41276 AMERICAN MESSAGING NOV 2015 8108332563 8108331159 26.02

11/12/2015 41277 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL MATS, SUPPLIES 32.12
UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 102.09

134.21

11/12/2015 41278 CITY OF SWARTZ CREEK REIMB PETTY CASH 187.87
11/12/2015 41279 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/3-11/2/15 A 6425 MILLER PARK & RIDE 111.11
11/12/2015 41280 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/31/15 4524 MORRISH RD 43.09

City Council Packet 141 December 7, 2015



11/12/2015 41281 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/31/15 STREET LIGHTS 8,933.73
11/12/2015 41282 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/31/15 TRAFFIC LIGHTS 399.41
11/12/2015 41283 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/31/15 SIRENS 26.50
11/12/2015 41284 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/1-10/31/15 ELMS PARKING LOT 29.11
11/12/2015 41285 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/3-11/2/15 A 4125 ELMS RD PAVILION 25.71
11/12/2015 41286 CONSUMERS ENERGY 10/3-11/2/15 A 4125 ELMS RD 43.58
11/12/2015 41287 CREEK AUTO SERVICES LLC MONTHLY MAINT/LOF 14-514 34.95
11/12/2015 41288 DAVID KRUEGER SMALL CITIES DINNER/MILEAGE 11/4/15 33.55
11/12/2015 41289 ETNA SUPPLY COMPANY HYD TOP NUT (4) 187.28
11/12/2015 41290 FLINT WELDING SUPPLY FAX/CYLINDER COMPRESSED OXYGEN 5.00
11/12/2015 41291 GEN CNTY ASSOC CHIEFS POLICE MEMBERSHIP DUES 2015-2016 CLOLINGER 50.00
11/12/2015 41292 GEN CTY METROPOLITAN ALLIANCE 2016 MEMB DUES GILBERT/SCHULTZ 150.00
11/12/2015 41293 GEN CTY ROAD COMMISSION SIGN/ELMS PARK 175.93
11/12/2015 41294 GENESEE COUNTY GAIN MEMB DUES 10/1/15-9/30/16 500.00
11/12/2015 41295 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER COMM PUBLIC WATER SUPPLY ANNUAL FEE 2,843.49
11/12/2015 41296 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER MISS DIG MAY-OCT 2015 231.00
11/12/2015 41297 GLS REGION V TRAFFIC COUNTER 210.00
11/12/2015 41298 INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS OFFICE SUPPLIES 158.06
11/12/2015 41299 JEFF PINKSTON PC K-9 DOG FOOD 60.42
11/12/2015 41300 JERRY'S TIRE EML/TIRES (4) REPLACE & BALANCE 755.80
11/12/2015 41301 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 800.00
11/12/2015 41302 KERI KEHLER UB REFUND FOR 9279 CEDAR CREEK 271.10
11/12/2015 41303 L E O R T C FALL 2015 LED FUND 926.82
11/12/2015 41304 LANDMARK APPRAISAL CO NOV 2015 ASSESSOR SERVICES OCT 2015 - JU 2,417.89
11/12/2015 41305 MCLAREN MEDICAL MANAGEMENT INC DOT PHYSICAL SANDFORD/WRIGHT 160.00
11/12/2015 41306 MICHAEL R SHUMAKER SMALL CITIES MEETING 11/4/15 DINNER 15.90
11/12/2015 41307 MICHIGAN METER TECHNOLOGY GRP. INC REGISTER-INSIDE (10)/R900 (10) 1,660.96
11/12/2015 41308 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE CDL DRIVERS FEE (5) 1/1/16-12/31/16 0.00 V

Void Reason: WRONG AMOUNT
11/12/2015 41309 MY-CAN LLC PORTAJON RENTAL ELMS PARK 10/20-11/24/15 165.00
11/12/2015 41310 NYE UNIFORM FALL UNIFORM JACKET RACOSTA 109.57
11/12/2015 41311 RICHARD ABRAMS SMALL CITIES MTG DINNER/MILEAGE 11/4/15 39.72
11/12/2015 41312 SIMEN FIGURA & PARKER PLC OCT 2015 GEN'L/TRAFFIC/ORDIN 2,130.50
11/12/2015 41313 STATE OF MICHIGAN-DEPART. TREA MCAO CERT RENEWAL ZETTEL 2016 175.00
11/12/2015 41314 SUPER FLITE OIL CO INC 10/1-10/31/15 FUEL USAGE - DPW 704.49
11/12/2015 41315 SUPER FLITE OIL CO INC 10/1-10/31/15 FUEL USAGE - POLICE 1,634.49
11/12/2015 41316 SWARTZ CREEK AREA FIRE DEPT. OCT 2015 MONTHLY RUNS 1,880.84
11/12/2015 41317 TASER INTERNATIONAL TASER BATTERY PACK (3) 176.46
11/12/2015 41318 THOMAS SVRCEK REIMB FOR SWITCH AT LIFT STATION 50.06
11/12/2015 41319 TRANSUNION RISK AND ALTERNATIVE TRANS UNION INVESTIGATAIVE 10/1-10/31/15 4.50
11/12/2015 41320 VILLAGE CLEANERS UNIFORM CLEANING OCT 2015 98.50
11/12/2015 41321 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE CDL DRIVERS FEE (5) 1/1/16-12/31/16 350.00
11/16/2015 41322 SAM'S CLUB GENTRON GENERATOR 599.00
11/19/2015 41323 ACE-SAGINAW PAVING COMPANY COLD PATCH 829.54
11/19/2015 41324 ARROW UNIFORM RENTAL UNIFORMS, MATS, SUPPLIES, ENV. 102.09
11/19/2015 41325 BELL EQUIPMENT CO SWEEPER PARTS 48.99
11/19/2015 41326 BIO-SERV CORPORATION PEST CONTROL/PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG 52.00

11/19/2015 41327 BLUE CARE NETWORK-EAST MI DEC 2015 RETIREE MED INS KELLY 778.76
DEC 2015 RETIREE MED INS O'BRIEN 1,361.59
DEC 2015 RETIREE MED INS SHANNON 818.12
DEC 2015 RETIREE MED INS CLOLINGER 1,370.06
DEC 2015 COBRA INS BUECHE 585.11

4,913.64

11/19/2015 41328 BS & A SOFTWARE BLDG DEPT TRAINING/TRAVEL RENTAL INSP 985.00
11/19/2015 41329 CALE LOCHONIC UB REFUND FOR 7133 BRISTOL 283.57
11/19/2015 41330 COOKS DIESEL RV & TRUCK REPAIR ADJ BRAKES/FUEL FILTER/OIL CHANGE 338.06
11/19/2015 41331 DAVID C VANDERKLOK RETAINER PAYMENT 1,000.00
11/19/2015 41332 DELTA DENTAL PLAN DEC 2015 DENTAL-RETIREES (6)/COBRA(1)/ES 430.46
11/19/2015 41333 DONALD KORTH UPDATE WORKSTATIONS CITY HALL/POLICE 300.00
11/19/2015 41334 FIRST ADVANTAGE OCCUP HEALTH SER CO CLINIC COLLECTION 75.00

City Council Packet 142 December 7, 2015



11/19/2015 41335 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER WATER 9/30-10/28/15 1,954,050 CF 104,860.77
11/19/2015 41336 GREGORY R CRUTHERS ANNUAL MAINT 11/3/15-11/3/16 250.00
11/19/2015 41337 INTEGRITY BUSINESS SOLUTIONS PAPER TOWELS/TRASH BAGS 89.88
11/19/2015 41338 JERRY'S TIRE 70R16 TIRES (4)/REPLACE & BALANCE 747.20
11/19/2015 41339 JOSE A MIRELES MOW & TRIM CITY PROPERTIES 800.00
11/19/2015 41340 KNAPHEIDE TRUCK EQUIPMENT SIDE RAIL TOOLBOX 559.35
11/19/2015 41341 MICHIGAN MUNICIPAL LEAGUE POOL ENDORSEMENT PREM/MUNDY/7/1/15-7/1/1 200.00

11/19/2015 41342 MICHIGAN PIPE AND VALVE FLARED END SECTION PIPE 170.99
SOLID PIPE (60) 390.00

560.99

11/19/2015 41343 MID STATES BOLT AND SCREW CO BOLTS FOR WOOD CHIPPER 53.47
FLASHLIGHT 49.99

103.46

11/19/2015 41344 PITNEY BOWES INC. RENTAL CHARGES 8/30-11/30/15 158.34
11/19/2015 41345 SARGENTS TITLE CO UB REFUND FOR 6246 MANSFIELD 170.35

11/19/2015 41346 SUBURBAN AUTO SUPPLY MOTOR TUNE-UP 8.99
ELECTRICAL CONNECTORS 7.99
OIL FILTERS 30.94
FUEL FILTER KIT 5.19
SPARK PLUG (2) 5.98
OIL FILTER (2)/10W30 5Q (2)/10W30 (1) 45.45

104.54

11/19/2015 41347 SWARTZ CREEK ELEVATOR 25# GRASS SEED 45.00
11/19/2015 41348 UNUM LIFE INSURANCE DEC 2015 LIFE INS SHANNON/SNELL 18.63
11/19/2015 41349 VERMEER OF MICHIGAN BLADE SHARPENING/CHIPPER 46.18
11/19/2015 41350 WOODS COLLISION REPLACE LEFT DOOR HANDLE ASSY 94.00
11/23/2015 41351 STATE OF MICHIGAN REG FEE 5012 HOLLAND/UNDRGRND TANKS 400.00
11/23/2015 41352 STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPT TRANS LCL PROGRS BILL MILLER-TALLMADGE TO DYE 7,453.99
11/23/2015 41353 STATE OF MICHIGAN DEPT TRANS LCL PROGRS BILL MILLER-MORRISH TO ELMS 14,683.29
11/24/2015 41354 GENESEE CTY DRAIN COMMISSIONER WATERMAIN CONST PERMIT WINSTON DR 250.00

GEN TOTALS:

(1 Check Voided)
Total of 123 Disbursements: 229,949.90

City Council Packet 143 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 144 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 145 December 7, 2015



City Council Packet 146 December 7, 2015


	2015-12-07, Council Mtg Template
	TO:  Honorable Mayor, Mayor Pro-Tem & Council Members
	ROUTINE BUSINESS – REVISITED ISSUES / PROJECTS

	2015-11-23 November 23 Council Minutes
	Dev-TIF Plan 2015-12-03
	DDA Final 1
	DDA Final 2
	Dev-TIF Plan 2015-09-14
	Draft DDA Plan 2015-07-02
	Draft DDA Plan 2015-07-02
	Appendix C #4 - Act.pdf
	Appendix C #4 - Act.pdf
	Act 197 of 1975
	125.1651
	125.1651a
	125.1652
	125.1653
	125.1653a
	125.1653b
	125.1653c
	125.1653d
	125.1654
	125.1655
	125.1656
	125.1657
	125.1658
	125.1659
	125.1660
	125.1661
	125.1662
	125.1663
	125.1663a
	125.1663b
	125.1664
	125.1665
	125.1666
	125.1667
	125.1668
	125.1669
	125.1670
	125.1671
	125.1672
	125.1673
	125.1674
	125.1675
	125.1676
	125.1677
	125.1678
	125.1679
	125.1680
	125.1681

	Table of Contents


	Appendix D Parcel List.pdf
	Sheet1


	Table 2
	Table 3



	Comcast 1
	Consumers Notice
	Tax Reverted Property Dispostion Dec 2015
	Building Dept Monthly Reports- Nov 15
	Revenue  Expenses November 2015
	RevenueandExpenditureReport

	Nov DPS Reports
	Check Register
	CheckRegister

	FANG Dues
	GC Parks Opt In



